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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of

MTR Corporation Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited habiluy)

We have audited the consolhdated accounts of MTR Corporation Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group™) set out on pages 2 to 94, which compnise the consohdated and
company balance sheets as at 31 December 2011, the consohdated profit and loss account, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes 1n equity and the
consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies
and other explanatory information

Directors’ responsibility for the consolidated accounts

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of consolidated accounts that give a true
and fair view n accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards 1ssued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Hong Kong Compames Ordinance and for such internal
control as the directors determine 1s necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated accounts that are
free from matenial msstatement, whether due to fraud or error

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility 1s to express an opmion on these consohdated accounts based on our audit This
report 1s made solely to vou, as a body, in accordance with section 141 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose ~ We do not assume responsibility towards or accept hiability to any
other person for the contents of this report

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing 1ssued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consohidated accounts are free from material misstatement

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 1n
the consohidated accounts The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated accounts, whether due to fraud or
error In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation of the consolidated accounts that give a true and fair view 1n order to design audit procedures
that are appropnate n the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control ~ An audit also includes evaluating the appropnateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consclidated accounts

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 1s sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opimon

Opinion

In our opmion, the consolidated accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
and of the Group as at 31 December 2011 and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have been properly prepared in
accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

Certified Public Accountants

8th Floor, Prince’s Building
10 Chater Road
Central, Hong Kong

8 March 2012
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MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

Consolidated Profit and Loss Account
Jor the year ended 31 December in HKS mulion

Revenue from Hong Kong transport operations

Revenue from Hong Kong station commercial business
Revenue from property rental and management businesses
Revenue from raillway subsidianies outside of Hong Kong
Revenue from other businesses

Other net income

Expenses relaung to Hong Kong transport operations
- Staff costs and related expenses
- Energy and utulities
- Operational rent and rates
- Stores and spares consumed
- Mantenance and related works
- Railway support services
- General and administration expenses
- Other expenses

Expenses relating to Hong Kong station commercial business

Expenses relating to property rental and management businesses

Expenses relating to railway subsidianies outside of Hong Kong

Expenses relating to other businesses

Project study and business development expenses

Operating expenses before depreciation, amortisation and
variable annual payment

Operating profit before property developments, depreciation,
amortisation and variable annual payment
Profit on property developments

Operating profit before depreciation, amortisation and variable

annual payment
Depreciation and amortisation
Vanable annual payment
Operating profit before interest and finance charges
Interest and finance charges
Investment property revaluation
Share of profits of non-controlled subsidiaries and associates
Profit before taxation
Income tax
Profit for the year

Attributable to:
- Equity shareholders of the Company
- Non-controlling interests

Profit for the year

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of the
Company:
- Ansing from underlying businesses before property
developments
- Ansing from property developments
~ Ansing from underlying businesses
- Ansing from investment property revaluation

Earnings per share:
- Basic
- Diluted

The notes on pages 8 to 94 form part of the accounts
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NOTE

AT=J- - B B SV I

10A

10B

10C

10D, E&F

18A

18B

20

2011 2010
13,509 12,635
3,422 2,853
3,215 2,961
12,279 10,144
998 925
33,423 29,518
(3,673) (3,398)
(1,110) (1,067)
(199) (184)
(466) (421)
(1,048) (912)
(206) (207)
(429) (379)
(223) (253)
(7,354) (6,821)
(358) (294)
(721) (654)
(11,830) (9,865)
(913) (751)
(123) (216)
(21,299) (18,601)
12,124 10,917
4,934 4,034
17,058 14,951
(3,206) (3.120)
(647) 45)
13,205 11,786
921) (1,237)
5,088 4,074
297 139
17,669 14,762
(2,821) (2,590)
14,848 12,172
14,716 12,059
132 113
14,848 12,172
6,243 5,397
4,225 3,260
10,468 8,657
4,248 3,402
14,716 12,059
HK$2.55 HK$2 10
HK$2.54 HKS2 10
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MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Jor the year ended 31 December in HKS mullion

NOTE

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income for the year (after taxation and

reclassification adjustments):
Exchange differences on translation of

- financial statements of overseas subsidianies

- non-controlling interests

22A

Cash flow hedges net movement in hedging reserve 22A&B
Self-occupied land and buildings net movement 1n fixed assets

revaluation reserve 22A&B

Total comprehensive income for the year
Attributable to:
- Equity shareholders of the Company

- Non-controlling interests
Total comprehensive income for the year

The notes or pages 8 to 94 form part of the accounts
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2011 2010

14,848 12,172
146 141
M 16
145 157
a2) (26)
471 285
604 416
15,452 12,588
15,321 12,459
131 129
15,452 12,588
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MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

Consolidated Balance Sheet
at 31 December in HKS muillion

NOTE 2011 2010
Assets
Fixed assets
- Investment properties 23 51,453 45,314
- Other property, plant and equipment 24 76,687 77,276
- Service concession assets 25 23,928 21,467
152,068 144,057
Property management nghts 26 31 31
Railway construction 1n progress 27 3,566 -
Property development 1n progress 29A 11,964 9,128
Deferred expenditure 30 14 1,079
Interests 1n non-controlled subsidiaries 3] 579 541
Interests 1n associates 33 948 836
Deferred tax assets 49B 27 9
Investments in securities 34 2,974 3,912
Properties held for sale 35 3,757 1,936
Denvative financial assets 36 344 375
Stores and spares 37 1,135 1,061
Debtors, deposits and payments in advance 38 3,964 3,061
Loan to a property developer 39 - 1,675
Amounts due from related parties 40 402 330
Cash, bank balances and deposits 41 16,100 13,334
197,873 181,665
Liabilities
Bank overdrafts 42A - 16
Short-term loans 42A - 300
Creditors and accrued charges 43 16,402 15,491
Current taxation 49A 597 1,018
Contract retentions 44 643 404
Amounts due to related parties 45 1,481 892
Loans and other obligations 42A 23,168 20,741
Obligations under service concesston 46 10,724 10,749
Dertvative financial habilities 36 151 148
Loan from holders of non-controlling interests 47 154 154
Deferred income 48 403 605
Deferred tax liabilities 498 15,105 13,854
68,828 64,372
Net assets 129,045 117,293
Capital and reserves
Share capital, share premuum and capital reserve S50A 44,062 43,734
Other reserves 51 84,797 73,416
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 128,859 117,150
Non-controlling interests 186 143
Total equity 129,045 117,293

Approved and authonsed for 1ssu.

the Members of the Board on S'March 2012

Raymond K F Ch'ien (f
Jay H Walder \R‘\ (/\.) C‘/L/-
Lincoln K K Leong

The notes on pages 8 to 94 form part of the accoun
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MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

Balance Sheet
at 31 December in HK3 million

Assets

Fixed assets
- Investment properties
- Other property, plant and equipment
- Service concession assets

Property management rights
Railway ¢onstruction in progress
Property development 1n progress
Deferred expenditure

Investments 1n subsidianes
Investments 1n securties
Properties held for sale
Denvauve financial assets

Stores and spares

Debtors, deposits and payments in advance
Loan to a property developer
Amounts due from related parties
Cash, bank balances and deposits

Liabilities

Bank overdrafts

Short-term loans

Creditors and accrued charges
Current taxation

Contract retentions

Amounts due to related parties
Loans and other obligations
Obligations under service concession
Dernivative financial habilities
Deferred income

Deferred tax liabilities

Net assets

Capital and reserves

Share capital, share premium and capital reserve

Other reserves
Total equity

Approved and authonsed for 1ssu the Members of the Board op 8 March 2012

Raymond K F Ch’ien

Jay H Walder C) J
CL_I —_—

Lincoln K K Leong

The notes on pages 8 to 94 form part of the
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NOTE

23
24

26
27
29A
30
32
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41

42A

42A
43

49A

45
42A
46
36
48
49B

S0A
51

2011 2010
50,287 44,166
76,086 76,845
16,169 15,963

142,542 136,974
31 31
3,566 -
9,521 9,128
14 1,079
1,260 1,256
2,626 3,627
3,757 1,936
344 375
932 874
2,629 1,779

- 1,975

5,035 4,365
13,971 12,273
186,228 175,672
- 16

- 300
11,418 13,308
582 910
423 221
13,244 12,079
7,502 7,700
10,557 10,592
151 148

68 568
15,031 13,840
58,976 59,682
127,252 115,990
44,062 43,734
83,190 72,256
127,252 115,990
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MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
Jfor the year ended 31 December in HKS million

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations

Receipt of government subsidy for Shenzhen Metro Longhua

Line operation
Current tax paid
- Hong Kong Profits Tax paid
- Overseas tax paid
Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditure

- Purchase of assets for Hong Kong transport and related

operations
- West Island Line Project
- South Island Line (East) Project
- Kwun Tong Line Extension Project
- Shenzhen Metro Longhua Line Project
- Property development projects
- Property renovation and fitting out works
- Other capatal projects

Net cash receipt 1n respect of entrustment works of Shatin to

Central Link and Express Rail Link

Fixed annual payment

Variable annual payment

Receipts n respect of property development

Receipt of loan repayment from a property developer

Receipt of government grant for West Island Line Project

Increase 1n bank deposits with more than three months to
maturity when placed

Purchase of investments 1n secunties

Proceeds from sale of investments 1n secunties

Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets

Receipt of loan repayment from an associate

Settlement of loan repayment to an associate

Dividends recerved from non-controlled subsidianes

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from shares 1ssued under share option schemes
Drawdown of loans

Proceeds from 1ssuance of capital market instruments
Repayment of loans

Repayment of capital market instruments

Interest paid

Interest recerved

Finance charges paid

Dividends paid to equity sharehelders of the Company
Dividends paid to holders of non-controlling 1nterests
Net cash used in financing activities

Net decrease 1n cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

The notes on pages 8 10 94 form part of the accounts
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NOTE

52

41

2011 2010
12,489 11,920
638 -
(1,949) (1,007)
(154) 4
11,024 10,909
(2,102) (1,953)
(3,111) (3,218)
(1,467) (347)
(450) (150)
(1,385) (1,846)
(1,075) (4,444)
(255) (173)
(198) (165)
170 84
(750) (750)
(45) -
1,593 5,249
2,000 -
- 12,252
(3,063) (9,610)
(160) (3,844)
1,094 159
5 7
29 -
9 -
144 75
{9,055) (8,714)
34 63
1,392 8,153
2,198 -
(1,111) (5,390)
(500) (5,778)
(603) (861)
194 123
(12) (19)
(3,754) (1,814)
(88) 58
(2,250) (5.581)
281) (3,386)
3,708 7,094
3,427 3,708
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MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

Notes to the Accounts

1 Statement of Compliance

These accounts have been prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and the applicable
disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”) These accounts have also been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations 1ssued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants {“HKICPA”), and accounting principles generally accepted m Hong Kong
The HKFRSs are fully converged with International Financial Reporting Standards 1n all matenal respects A summary
of the principal accounting policies adopted by the Group 1s set cut 1n note 2

The HKICPA has 1ssued certain new and revised HKFRSs that are effective for accounting penods beginung on or after
1 January 2011 Changes n accounting pelicies resulting from the imtial application of these developments to the
extent that they are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting penods reflected 1n these accounts are
disclosed 1in note 2A(111)

2 Principal Accounting Policies
A. Basis of Preparation of the Accounts

(1) The measurement basis used 1n the preparation of the accounts 1s the historical cost basis except that the following
assets and liabilities are stated at therr fair value as explained 1n the accounting policies set out below

= 1nvestment properties (note 2ZF(1)},
=  self-occupied land and buildings (note 2F(n1)},

=  financial mstruments classified as investments 1n securities other than those intended to be held to matunty (note
2M), and

s denvative financial instruments (note 2T)

(1) The preparation of the accounts in conformity with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets, habilities, income and expenditure
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical expenence and various other factors that are believed to
be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making the judgements and estimaticns
about carrying values of assets and liabilies that are not readily apparent from other sources  Actual results may differ
from these estimates

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis Revisions to accounting estimates are
recogmsed 1n the period 1n which the estimate 15 revised if the revasion affects only that period, or 1n the period of the
revision and future penods if the revision affects both current and future pertods

Judgements made by management 1 the applicanon of HKFRSs that have significant effect on the accounts and
estimates are discussed 1n note 59

(111) The HKICPA has 1ssued a number of amendments to HKFRSs and one new Interpretation that are first effective for
the current accounting period of the Group Of these, only HKAS 24 (revised 2009), Related party disclosures 1s
relevant to the Group's accounts

HKAS 24 (revised 2009) introduces modified disclosure requirements for government-related entities  As a result, the
Group has revised the disclosure on matenal related party transactions with the Hong Kong Special Admimstrative
Region (“HKSAR™) Government and entities related to the HKSAR Govermnment for those transactions that are
collectively but not individually significant (note 57) HKAS 24 (revised 2009) also revises the defimtion of a related
party The Group has re-assessed the identification of related parties and concluded that the revised defimtion does not
have any impact on the Group’s related party disclosures 1n the current and previous period

The Group has nct apphed any new and revised standard or mnterpretation that 1s not yet effective for the current
accounting period (note 60)

2011 Accounts and Notes v7 doc Page 8 of 94




MTR CORPORATION LIMI{TED

B. Basis of Consolidation

The consohidated accounts imnclude the accounts of the Company and 1ts subsidiaries (together referred to as the “Group”)
and the Group’s interest 1 non-controlled subsidianes (note 2D) and associates (note 2E) made up to 31 December each
year The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the vear are included 1n the consohdated profit and loss
account from or to the date of their acquisition or disposal, as appropriate

C. Subsidiaries and Non-Controlling Interests

A subsidiary 1n accordance with the Hong Kong Compames Ordinance 15 a company m which the Group, directly or
mdirectly, holds more than half of the 1ssued share capital, or controls more than half of the voting power, or controls the
composition of the board of directors Subsidianes are considered to be controlled 1f the Company has the power,
directly or mdirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies, 50 as to obtain benefits from their activities

An investment 1 a subsidiary is consolhidated 1nto the consolidated accounts from the date that control commences until
the date that control ceases  Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised profits ansing from intra-group
transactions, are eliminated 1n full n preparing the consolidated accounts  Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are ehmmated 1n the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there 1s no evidence of
impairmernt

Non-controlling mterests represent the equity 1n a subsidiary not attrnibutable directly or indirectly to the Company, and m
respect of which the Group has not agreed any addinonal terms with the holders of those nterests which would result in
the Group as a whole having a contractual obligation 1n respect of those nterests that meets the defimtion of a financial
Lability Non-controlling interests are presented 1n the consohdated balance sheet withun equity, separately from equity
attributable to equity shareholders of the Company Non-controlling mterests mn the results of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated profit and loss account and the consohdated statement of comprehensive income as an
allocation of the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-controlling nterests and
the equity sharcholders of the Company lLoans from holders of non-controlling nterests and other contractual
obhgations towards these holders are presented as financial habilities 1n the consolidated balance sheet depending on the
nature of the liability

Invesiments 1n subsicharies are carried m the Company’s balance sheet at cost less any impairment losses (note 2H{(11))

D. Non-controlled Subsidiaries

Nen-controlled substdianes are not consohdated 1n the accounts as the Group does not have effective control over therr
Boards The investments in non-controlled subsidiaries are accounted for in the consohidated accounts of the Company
using the equity method and are imtially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post acqusition change 1n the
Group’s share of their net assets The conschdated profit and loss account reflects the Group’s share of the results of
those non-controlled subsidianies for the year

Unreahised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and the non-controlled subsidianes are
ehminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in those subsidianies, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of

an imparment of the asset transferred, 1n which case they are recogmsed immediately 1n the profit and loss account

In the Company’s balance sheet, 1ts investments in non-controlled subsidianies are stated at cost less imparrment losses
(note 2H(n))

E. Associates and Jointly Controlled Entities

An assocrate 1s an entity over which the Group or the Company has significant influence, but not control or joint control,
over its management, mcluding participation 1n the financial and operating policy decisions

A jomtly controlled entity 1s an enuty which operates under a contractual arrangement between the Group or the

Company and other parties, where the contractual arrangement establishes that the Group or the Company and one or
more of the other parties share joint control over the economic activity of the entity

2011 Accounts and Notes v7 doc Page 9 of 94




MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

An mvestment 1n an associate or a jomntly controlled entity s accounted for m the consolidated accounts of the Company
using the equity method and 1s mmtially recorded at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post acquisition change n the
Group’s share of the investees’ net assets  The Group's share of the post-acquisition results of the investees for the year
1s recognised 1n the consohdated profit and loss account, whereas the Group’s share of the post-acquisition items of the
mvestees’ other comprehensive income 15 recogmsed 1 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

When the Group’s share of losses equals or exceeds 1ts nterest in the associate or the jomtly controlled entity, the
Group’s nterest 1s reduced to ml and recogmtion of further losses 1s discontinued except to the extent that the Group has
mcurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behaif of the mvestee  For this purpose, the Group’s
interest 1 the investee 1s the carrying amount of the mvestment under the equity method together with the Group's
long-term 1nterests that 1n substance form part of the Group’s net investment m the associate or the jomntly controlled
enfity

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between the Group and 1ts associates and jomntly controlled
entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee, except where unrealised losses provide
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in which case they are recogmsed mmediately 1n the profit and loss
account

In the Company’s balance sheet, mvesiments in associates and jomtly controlled entities are stated at cost less
mmpairment losses (note 2H{(11))

F. Fixed Assets

(1) Investment properties are land and/or butldings which are owned or held under a leaschold mterest to camn rental
income and/or for capital appreciation  These include property that 15 being constructed or developed for future use as
investment property

Investment properties are stated on the balance sheet at far value as determined semu-annually by independent
professionally qualified valuers Gains or losses ansing from changes n the farr value are recognised 1 the
consohdated profit and loss account in the year m which they anse

(11) Leasehold land registered and located m the HKSAR 1s accounted for as being held under a finance lease and 1s
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (note 2H(11))  Land held for own use under operating
leases and buildings thereon, where the fair value of the leasehold imterest 1n the land and buildings cannot be measured
separately at mception of the lease are accounted for as bemng held under a finance lease, unless the buildings are also
clearly held under an operating lease  For these purposes, inception of the lease 1s the time that the lease was first
entered 1nto by the Group, or taken over from the previous lessee, or at the date of construction of those buildings, 1f later
The self-occupied land and buildings are stated on the balance sheet at their fair value on the basis of their existing use at
the date of revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation Revaluations are performed by independent
qualified valuers semi-annually, with changes n the fair value anising on revaluauons recorded as movements 1n the
fixed assets revaluation reserve, except

(a) where the balance of the fixed assets revaluation reserve relating to a self-occupied land and building 15 msufficient
to cover a revaluation deficit of that property, the excess of the deficit 1s charged to the profit and loss account, and

(b) where a revaluation deficit had previously been charged to the profit and loss account and a revaluation surplus
subsequently arises, this surplus 1s firstly credited to the profit and loss account to the extent of the deficit previously
charged to the profit and loss account, and thereafter taken to the fixed assets revaluation reserve

(111} Civil works and plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (note
2H(11))

(1v) Assets under construction are stated at cost less impairment losses (note 2H(u))  Cost comprises direct costs of
construction, such as materials, staff costs and overheads, together with interest expense capitalised during the period of
construction or installation and testing  Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the asset concerned 1s transferred to the
appropriate fixed assets category when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use
are completed

(v) Leased Assets

2011 Accounts and Notes v7 doc Page 10 of 94
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MTR CORPORATION LIMITED -

(a) Leases of assets under which the lessee assumes substantially all the nisks and rewards of ownership are classified as
finance leases  Where the Group acquires the use of assets under finance leases, the amounts representing the fair value
of the leased asset, or, 1f lower, the present value of the mmmmum lease payments (computed using the rate of interest
mmplicit 1n the lease), of such assets are ncluded n fixed assets and the corresponding liabihities, net of finance charges,
are recorded as obligations under finance leases Depreciation and impairment losses are accounted for 1 accordance
with the accounting policy as set out 1n notes 21(1v} and 2H(n) respectively Fimance charges imphcit in the lease
payments are charged to the profit and loss account over the period of the leases so as to produce an approxunately
constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations for each accounting period

(b) Leases of assets, other than that mentioned 1n note 2F(11), under which the lessor has not transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as operating leases ~ Where the Group leases out assets under operating
leases, the assets are included in the balance sheet according to thewr nature and, where applicable, are depreciated m
accordance with the Group’s depreciation policies Impairment losses are accounted for in accordance with the
accounting policies on impairment of assets (note 2H(u1)) Revenue ansing from operating leases 15 recognised
accordance with the Group’s revenue recognition policies as set out i note 2Z(1)

(vi) Subsequent expenditure relating to the replacement of certamn parts of an existing fixed asset 1s recognised 1n the
carrying amount of the asset 1f 1t 1s probable that future economic benefit will flow to the Group and the cost of the item
can be measured reliably ~ The carrying amount of those parts that are replaced 1s derecogmsed, with gain or loss ansing
therefrom dealt with 1n the profit and loss account

Expenditure on repairs or maintenance of an existing fixed asset to restore or maintain the onginally assessed standard of
performance of that asset 1s charged as an expense when incurred

Gans or losses ansing from the retirement or disposal of a fixed asset or an investment property are determined as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset  Such gains or losses are recognised
as income or expense 1n the profit and loss account on the date of retirement or disposal Any related revaluation
surplus 1s transferred from the fixed assets revaluation reserve to retamned profits and 1s not re-classified to profit and loss
account

(vi) Service Concession Assets

Where the Group enters into service concession arrangements under which the Group acquires the right to access, use
and operate certain assets for the provision of public services, upfront payments and expenditure directly attributable to
the acquisition of the service concession up to mception of the service concession are capitahsed as service concessien
assets and amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of the service concession  Annual payments over the period
of the service concession with the amounts fixed at inception are capitalised at their present value, calculated using the
mcremental long term borrowing rate determuined at inception as the discount rate, as service concession assets and
amortised on a straight-line basis over the penod of the service concession, with a corresponding liability recogmsed as
obhgations under service concession  Annual payments for the service concession which are not fixed or determunable
at mception and are contingent on future revenues are charged to the profit and loss account in the period when incurred

Where the Group enters into service concession arrangements under which the Group constructs, uses and operates
certamn assets for the provision of public services, construction revenues and costs are recognised in the profit and loss
account by reference to the stage of completion at the balance sheet date while the far value of construction service 1s
capitalised mitially as service concession assets in the balance sheet and amortised on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the assets’ useful hives and the peried in which the service concession asseis are expected to be available for
use by the Group

Expenditure for the replacement and/or upgrade of the assets subject to service concession 1s capitalised and amortised on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the assets’ useful lives and the remaining period of the service concession

Service concession assets are carried on the balance sheet as an intangible asset at cost less accumulated amortisation and
impairment losses, 1f any (note 2H(u))

Income and expenditure and assets and habihities n relation to the operation of the service concessions are accounted for
m the Group’s and the Company’s profit and loss accounts and balance sheets

G. Property Management Rights

Where the Group makes payments for the acquisition of property management rights, the amounts paid are capitahised as
intangible assets and stated on the balance sheet at cost less accumulated amortisation and 1mpairment losses (note
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2H(m)) Property management rights are amortised to the profit and loss account on a straight-line basis over the terms
of the management rights

H. Impairment of Assets

(1) Impairment of Debtors and Other Receivables

Debtors and other current and non-current receivables are reviewed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there
1s objective evidence of impairment If any such evidence exists, the impairment loss 1s measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (1 ¢ the effective interest rate computed at mmitial recogmition of these assets) where
the effect of discounting 1s matenal

If 1n a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss decreases, the impairment loss 1s reversed through the profit
and loss account

(n) Impairment of Other Assets

Internal and external sources of mformation are reviewed at each balance sheet date to identify indications that the
following assets may be impaired or an impairment loss previously recogmsed no longer exists or may have decreased

= fixed assets (including service concession assets but other than assets carned at revalued amounts),
=  property management rights,

= railway construction in progress,

=  property development 1n progress,

=  deferred expenditure,

= mvestments 1 held-to-matunty securities, and

* nvestments 1n subsidiaries, non-controlled subsidianes, associates and jointly controlled entities
If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount 1s estimated

The recoverable amount of an asset 1s the greater of 1ts fair value less costs to sell and value in use  In assessing value
n use, the estumated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of ime value of money and the nisks specific to the asset  Where an asset does not generate
cash inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the recoverable amount 18 determined for the smallest group
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (1 ¢ a cash-generatng umt}

An 1mmpairment loss 1s recognised 1n the profit and loss account whenever the carrying amount of an asset, or the
cash-generating unit to whach 1t belongs, exceeds 1ts recoverable amount

An impairment loss 1s reversed 1f there has been a favourable change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of the asset

A reversal of impairment losses 1s hmited to the asset’s carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recogmsed mn pnior years Reversals of impairment losses are credited to the profit and loss
account 1n the year in which the reversals are recogmsed

I. Depreciation and Amortisation
(1) Investment properties are not depreciated

(u) Fixed assets other than investment properties, assets under construcuon and service concession assets which are
amortised over the entre or remaining period of the service concession (note 2F(vii)) are depreciated or amortised on a
straight-line basis at rates sufficient to wnte off their cost or valuation, less their estunated residual value, 1f any, over
their estimated useful lives as follows

Land and Buildings

Self-occupied land and buildings the shorter of 50 years and the unexpired term of the lease

Leasehold land the unexpired term of the lease
Civil Works
Excavation and boring . Indefimte
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Tunnel limngs, underground civil structures, overhead structures and immersed tubes 100 years
Station building structures 100 years
Depot structures 80 years
Kiosk structures 20 years
Cableway station tower and theme village structures 27 years
Plant and Equipment
Rolling stock and components 4 - 50 years
Platform screen doors 25- 35 years
Rail track 7 - 30 years
Environmental control systems, lifts and escalators, fire protection and drainage system 7 - 30 years
Power supply systems 7 - 40 years
Aenal ropeway and cabin 5- 27 years
Automatic fare collection systems, metal station kiosks, and other mechanical equipment 20 -25 years
Tramn control and signalling equipment, station announcement systems, telecommunication

systems and advertising panels 5 - 25 years
Station architectural fimishes 20 - 30 years
Fixtures and fittings 10 - 25 years
Marntenance equipment 4 - 25 years
Office furmiture and equipment 2 - 15 years
Computer software licences and applications 2- 10 years
Computer equipment 3 -5 years
Cleaning equipment and tools 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 - 5 years

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, each part 1s depreciated or amortised
separately The useful ives of the vanous categories of fixed assets are reviewed annually in the light of actual asset
condition, usage expenience and the current asset replacement programme

(m) No depreciation or amortisation 18 provided on assets under construction until construction 1s completed and the
assets are ready for their intended use

(1v) Depreciation on assets held under finance leases 1s provided at rates designed to wnte off the cost of the asset
equal annual amounts over the shorter of the lease term or the anucipated useful hfe of the asset as set out above, except
m cases where title to the asset will be acquired by the Group at the end of the lease where depreciation 1s provided at
rates designed to write off the cost of the asset 1n equal amounts cver the anticipated useful life of the asset

J. Construction Costs

(1) Costs incurred by the Group m respect of feasibility studies on proposed raillway related construction projects
(sncluding consultancy fees, in-house staff costs and overheads) are dealt with as follows

*  where the proposed projects are at a prelimunary review stage with no certamty of matenahsing, the costs concerned
are charged to the profit and loss account, and

=  where the proposed projects are at a detailed study stage, having been agreed m principle by the Members of the
Board based on a feasible financial plan, the costs concerned are recorded as deferred expenditure until such time as
a project agreement 1s reached, whereupon the costs are transferred to railway construction n progress

(u) After entering 1nto a project agreement, all costs incurred 1n the construction of the raillway are dealt with as rallway
construction 1n progress until commissioning of the raillway line, whereupon the relevant construction costs are
transferred to fixed assets

K. Property Development

(1) Costs mcurred by the Group 1n respect of site preparation, land costs and acquisition of developrnent rights as well as

notional terest tn connection with interest-free loans to property developers are dealt with as property development 1n
progress
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(u) Payments received from developers in respect of property developments are offset against the amounts 1n property
development 1n progress atiributable to that development  Any surplus amounts of payments received from developers
n excess of the balance 1n property development 1n progress are transferred to deferred income  In these cases, further
costs subsequently incurred by the Group 1n respect of that development are charged aganst deferred income

(111) Where an interest-free loan 1s provided to a developer as one of the terms of the development contract, such loan 1s
mtially stated at fair value which 1s 1ts face value discounted at the prevailing market rates of interest at inception
When the repayment schedule of the loan 1s altered, the fair value 1s re-calculated and the carrying amount of the loan 1s
adjusted The difference between the fair value and the face value of the loan 1s dealt with as property development 1n
progress during construction and transferred to the profit and loss account upon completion of the development
Notional interest income 18 credited to the profit and loss account and debited to the loan over the peniod of the loan so
that the fair value of the loan at maturity equates 11s face value

(v) Profits ansing from the development of properties undertaken mn cemjunction with property developers are
recogmised in the profit and loss account as follows

=  where the Group receives payments from developers, profits ansing from such payments are recogmsed when the
- foundation and site enabling works are complete and acceptable for development, and after taking nto account the
outstanding risks and obligations, if any, retaimned by the Group 1n connection with the development,

=  where the Group receives a right to a share of the net surplus from sale of the development and interests in any
unsold units, income 1s 1mtially recognised by the Group upon the 1ssue of occupation permits provided the amounts
of revenue and costs can be estimated reliably  The interest 1in any unsold properties 1s subsequently remeasured on
a basis consistent with the policy set out 1n note 2K(v), and

= where the Group receives a distribution of the assets of the development, profit 1s recognised based on the fair value
of such assets at the time of receipt and after taking 1nto account any outstanding risks and obligations retamed by
the Group 1n connection with the development

Upon recognition of profit, the balance of deferred income or property development m progress relating to that
development 1s credited or charged to the profit and loss account, as the case may be

(v)  Where properties are received as a profit distribution upon completion of development and are held for sale, those
properties are stated at fairr value upon receipt and subsequently carried at their estimated net realisable value Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in selling the properties  When properties
are sold, the carrying amount of those properties 1s recogmsed as cost of properties sold i the period m wiiuch the related
revenue 1s recogmsed The amount of any write~down of properties to net realisable value 1s recogmised as an expense
mn the period the write-down occurs  The amount of any reversal of any wnte-down of properties ansing from an
increase 1n net realisable value 1s recogmsed as a reduction 1n the cost of properties sold in the period in which the
reversal occurs

(v1) Where properties under construction are received from a development for investment purpose, these properties are
recogmsed as investment properties at farr value Further costs incurred i the construction of those assets are
capitalised 1n investment propertics

L. Jointly Controlled Operations

The arrangements entered mto by the Group with developers for property developments without estabhishing separate
entities are considered to be jointly controlled operations pursuant to HKAS 31, Interests in joint ventures  Under the
development arrangements, the Group 1s normally responsible for its own costs, including in-house staff costs and the
costs of enabling works, and the developers normally undertake to pay for all other project costs such as land premium
(or such remaining portion as not already paid by the Group), construction costs, professional fees, etc  Such costs are
deductible from the proceeds of sale before surplus proceeds are shared In respect of its interests 1n such operations,
the Group accounts for the purchase consideration of development nghts, costs of enabling works (including any interest
accrued) and land costs (including any land premiums) paid net of payments received as property development in
progress In cases where payments received from developers exceed the related expenditures incurred by the Group,
such excess 1s recorded as deferred income  Expenses mcurred by the Group on staff, overhead and consultancy fees 1n
respect of these developments are also capitahised as property development 1n progress  The Group’s share of income
earned from such operations 1s recognised 1n the profit and loss account on the basis of note 2K(1v) after netting off any
related balance in property development i progress at that time
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M. Investments in Securities

The Group’s policies for investments 1n securities (other than investments 1n 1ts substdianes, non-controlled subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities) are as follows

(1) Investments in securities held for trading purpose are imtally stated at fair value At each balance sheet date the
fair value 1s remeasured, with any resultant unrealised gain or loss being recogmsed 1n the profit and loss account

(u) Investments in debt securities and bank medium term notes on which the Group has the ability and intention to hold

to matunity are classified as held-to-matunity secunties, which are stated at amortised cost less impairment losses (note
2Hu))

(1) Investments are recogrused / derecognised on the date the Group commits to purchase/sell the mvestments
(1v) Interest mcome 1n relation to investment 1n securities 1s recogmsed as 1t accrues using the effective interest method

(v) Profit or loss on disposal of investments 1n securities are determined as the difference between the estimated net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the investments and are accounted for in the profit and loss account as they
arise

N. Stores and Spares

Stores and spares used for railway and business operation are categorised as either revenue or capital Revenue spares
are stated 1n the balance sheet at cost, using the weighted average cost method and are recogused 1n the year in which the
consumption occurred  Provisien 15 made for obsolescence where appropnate  Capital items are included m fixed
assets and stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (note 2H(11)) Depreciation 18 charged at
the rates applcable to the relevant fixed assets against which the capital spares are held 1n reserve

O. Long-term Contracts

The accounting policy for contract revenue 15 set out 1n note 2Z{1iu) When the outcome of a fixed-price long-term
contract can be estimated rehably, contract costs are recognised as expenses by reference to the stage of completion of
the contract activity at the balance sheet date  When it 1s probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract
revenue, the expected loss 1s recognised as an expense immediately When the outcome of a long-term contract cannot
be estimated rehably, contract costs are recogmised as expenses 1n the peniod 1n which they are incurred

Long-term contracts 1n progress at the balance sheet date are recorded 1n the balance sheet at the net amount of costs
mcurred plus recogmised profits less recogmsed losses and progress bithngs, and are presented in the balance sheet as the
“Gross amount due from customers for contract work” (as an asset) or the “Gross amount due to customers for contract
work” (as a liability), as applicable  Progress billings not yet paid by the customer are included 1n the balance sheet
under “Debtors, deposits and payments 1n advance” Amounts received before the related work 1s performed are
mcluded n the balance sheet as a hability under “Creditors and accrued charges”

P. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks and on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
msttutions, and short-term hughly liguid mvestments that are readily convertible mnto known amounts of cash and subject
to an msignificant nisk of changes in value with a maturity at acquisition within three months  Bank overdrafts that are
repayable on demand and form an ntegral part of the Group’s cash management are also included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consohidated cash flow statement

Q. Debtors, Deposits and Payments in Advance
Debtors, deposits and payments in advance are imtially recogrused at far value and thereafter stated at amortised cost

using the effective mterest method less impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts (note 2H(1)), except where the effect
of discounting would be immatenal or the discount 15 not measurable as the receivables are interesi-free loans made to
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related parties without any fixed repayment terms In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less impairment
losses for bad and doubtful debts

R. Interest-bearing Borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised mmitially at fair value net of transaction costs incurred  The unhedged portion
of interest-bearing borrowings 1s subsequently stated at amortised costs  Any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value 1s recogmised 1n the profit and loss account over the pened of the borrowings
using the effective mterest method

Subsequent to imtial recogmtion, the carrymng amount of the hedged portion of interest-bearing borrowings 1s remeasured
and the change 1n fair value attnbutable to the nsk bemng hedged 1s recogused 1n the profit and loss account to offset the
effect of the gain or loss on the related hedging instrument

S. Creditors and Accrued Charges

Creditors and accrued charges are stated at amortised cost if the effect of discounting would be matenal, otherwise they
are stated at cost

T. Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and currency swaps 1o manage its interest rate
and foreign exchange exposure Based on the Group’s policies, these mstruments are used solely for reducing or
elimnating financial risks associated with the Group’s mvestments and habilines and not for trading or speculation
purposes

Denvatives are imitially recogmsed at fair value and are subsequently remeasured at their fair value at each balance sheet
date The method of recogmsing the resulting gain or loss depends on whether the denivative 1s designated as a hedging
mstrument and the nature of the 1tem being hedged

Where hedge accounting applies, the Group designates denvatives employed as either (1) a fair value hedge to hedge
the fair value of recognised lhabilities, or (2) a cash flow hedge to hedge the vanability in cash flows of a recognised
liability or the foreign currency risk of a firm commitment

(1) Fair Value Hedge

Changes 1n the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualified as fair value hedges are recorded in the profit
and loss account, together with any changes 1n the fair value of the hedged assets or habilities that are attributable to the
hedged nsk

(1) Cash Flow Hedge

The effective portion of changes 1n the fair value of denvatives that are designated and quahified as cash flow hedges 1s
recognised 1n other comprehensive income which 1s accumnulated separately in equity 1n the hedging reserve  The gan
or loss relaung to the meffective portion 1s recognised immediately m the profit and loss account

Amounts previously recogmsed 1n other comprehensive income and accumulated 1n equity are transferred to the profit
and less account 1 the penods when the hedged item 1s recogmised 1n the profit and loss account However, when the
transaction 1n respect of the hedged 1tem results i the recogmtion of a non-financial asset or lability, the associated
gamns and losses that were previcusly recognised in other comprehensive mcome and accumulated m equity are
transferred from equity and included in the 1tial cost or carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability

When a hedging instrument expires or 1s sold, terminated or exercised, or the Group revokes designation of the hedge
relationship but the transaction n tespect of the hedged item 15 still expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss
existing 1n equity at that time remains n equity until the transaction occurs and 1t 1s recogmsed 1n accordance with the
above policy However, 1f the transaction in respect of the hedged 1tem 1s no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss
accumulated 1n equity 18 immediately transferred to the profit and loss account

{1m1) Denvatives That Do Not Qualify for Hedge Accounting
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Changes 1n the farr value of any denvative instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recogmsed
immediately in the profit and loss account

U. Employee Benefits

(1) Salanes, annual leave, leave passage allowance, contnbutions to defined contribution retirement plans, including
contributions to Mandatory Provident Funds (“MPF”) as required under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, and other costs of non-monetary benefits are accrued 1n the year mn which the associated services are
rendered by employees of the Group Where these benefits are incurred for staff relating to construction projects,
capital works and property developments, they are capitalised as part of the cost of the quahifying assets  In other cases,
they are recognised as expenses 1n the profit and loss account as incurred

(1) The Group’s net obligation m respect of defined benefit retirement plans 1s calculated separately for each plan by
estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned 1n return for their service n the current and prior
years, that benefit 1s discounted to determine the present value, and the fair value of any plan assets 1s deducted The
discount rate is the yield at balance sheet date on high quality corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating the
terms of the Group’s obligations  If there 1s no deep market 1n such bonds, the market yield on government bonds
would be used  The calculation 1s performed annually by a qualified actuary using the Projected Umit Credii Method

When the benefits of a plan are improved, the portion of the increased benefit relating to past service by employees 15
recognised either as an expense in the profit and loss account, or capitahised as part of the cost of the relevant
construction projects, capital works or property developments, as the case may be, on a straight-line basis over the
average penod until the benefits become vested To the extent that the benefits vest immediately, the expense 15
recogmsed immedately 1n a ssmilar manner

In caleulating the Group’s obligation 1n respect of a plan, to the extent that any cumulative unrecognised actuanal gain or
loss exceeds ten percent of the greater of the present value of the defined benefit obhigation and the fair value of plan
assets, that portion 1s recogmsed 1n the profit and loss account over the expected average remaining working lives of the
employees participating in the plan  Otherwise, the actuanal gain or loss 1s not recogmsed

Where the calculation of the Group’s net obligation results 1n a negative amount, the asset recogmsed 18 limited to the net
total of any cumulative unrecognised net actuanal losses and past service costs and the present value of any future
refunds from the plan or reductions 1n future contributions to the plan

() Equity-settied share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant The fair value determined at
the grant date 1s recogmsed as a staff cost, unless the relevant employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, on a
straight-iine basis over the vesting period and taking nto account the probability that the options will vest, with a
corresponding ncrease 1n the employee share-based capital reserve within equity  Fair value 1s measured by use of a
Black-Scheles model, taking 1nto account the terms and conditions upon which the options are granted The expected
life used 1n the model 1s adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise
restrictions, and behavioural considerations

During the vesung peniod, the number of share opuions that 15 expected to vest 1s reviewed  Any adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised 1n prior years 1s charged/credited 1o the profit and loss account for the year of the review,
unless the original employee expenses quahfy for recognition as an asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the capatal
reserve  On vesting date, the amount recogmised as an expense 15 adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options
that vest (with a corresponding adjustment 1o the capital reserve) The equity amount 1s recognised n the capital
reserve until either the option 1s exercised (when 1t 1s transferred to the share premium account) or the option expires
(when 1t 1s released direcily to retained profits)

For cash-settled share-based payments, a hability equal to the portion of the services received 1s recognised ai the fair
value of the shares determined at each balance sheet date

(1v) Termunation benefits are recognised when, and only when, the Group demonstrably commits wself to terminate
employment or to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having a detailed formal plan which 15 without
realistic possibility of withdrawal

V. Retirement Schemes

The Group operates both defined contribution and defined benefit retirement schemes
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Employer’s contributions to defined contribution retirement schemes including MPF Schemes are recogmsed m the
accounts 1 accordance with the policy set out 1n note 2U(1)

Employer’s contributions paid and payable in respect of employees of defined benefit retirement schemes as calculated
annually by independent actuaries 1n accordance with the Retirement Scheme Rules and provisions of the Occupational
Retirement Schemes Ordinance are used to satisfy the pension expenses recogmised 1n the accounts accerding to note
2U(u)  Any deficit or surplus thereof will be dealt with in the balance sheet as accrued or prepaid benefit expenses, as
the case may be

W. Income Tax

(1) Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and lhiabilities  Income tax 1s
recogmsed 1n the profit and loss account except to the extent that 1t relates to items recognised i other comprehensive
mcome or directly 1n equity, m which case 1t 15 recogmsed in other comprehensive mcome or directly i equity
respectively

(1) Current tax 1s the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable n respect of previous years

(in) Deferred tax assets and labiliues anse from deductible and taxable temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabihities for financial reporting purposes and theur tax bases  Deferred tax assets also anse from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits

Apart from certamn limited exceptions, all deferred tax hiabilities and deferred tax assets to the extent that 1t 15 probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utihsed, are recognised ~ Future taxable profits
that may support the recogmnion of deferred tax assets ansing from deducuble temporary differences include those that
will anse from the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided those differences relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either 1n the same period as the expected
reversal of the deductible temporary difference or in periods into which a tax loss ansing from the deferred tax asset can
be carried back or forward The same cntena are adopted when determiming whether existing taxable temporary
differences support the recogmtion of deferred tax assets ansing from unused tax losses and credits, that 1s, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation authonty and the same taxable entity, and are
expected 10 reverse m a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised

The Iimited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and hiabilities are those temporary differences arising from
the 1mtial recogmtion of assets or habilines that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided they are not part of
a business combination) and investments 1n subsidiaries to the extent that, 1n the case of taxable differences, the Group
controls the ttming of the reversal and 1t 1s probable that the differences will not reverse mn the foreseeable future, or m
the case of deductible differences, unless 1t 1s probable that they will reverse in the future

The amount of deferred tax recognised 1s measured based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the
carrying amount of the assets and lLiabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date
Deferred tax assets and habihities are not discounted

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset 1s reviewed at each balance sheet date and 15 reduced tc the extent that 1t 15 no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utthsed ~ Any such
reduction 1s reversed to the extent that 1t becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available

(1v) Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are presented separately from each other and
are not offset  Current tax assets are offset aganst current tax liabihiies, and deferred tax assets against deferred tax
lhiabilities 1f, and only 1f, the Company or the Group has the legally enforceable nght to set off current tax assets against
current tax hiabilities and the following additional conditions are met

= 1n the case of current tax assets and habilities, the Company or the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously, or

= 1n the case of deferred tax assets and habilities, 1f they relate to mcome taxes levied by the same taxation authority
on either
- the same taxable entity, or
- different taxable entities, which, in each future penod in which sigmificant amounts of deferred tax habilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered, mtend to realise the current tax assets and seftle the current tax
labilities on a net basts or realise and settle simultaneously
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X. Financial Guarantee Contracts

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the 1ssuer to make specified payments to reimburse the holder of the
guarantee for a loss 1t mncurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment to the holder when due 1n accordance with
the oniginal or modified terms of a debt mstrument

When the Group 1ssues a financial guarantee, where the effect 1s matenal, the fair value of the guarantee (being the
transaction price, unless the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) after netting off any consideration recerved or
receivable at incept:on 1s minally debited to the profit and loss account and recogmsed as deferred income within
creditors and accrued charges

The amount of the guarantee 1mtially recogmsed as deferred income 1s amortised 1n the profit and loss account over the
term of the guarantee as income from financial guarantees 1ssued  In addition, provisions are recogmsed 1n accordance
with note 2Y 1f and when (1) 1t becomes probable that the holder of the guarantee will call upon the Group under the
guarantee, and (n) the amount of that claim on the Group 1s expected to exceed the amount currently camed 1n creditors
and accried charges in respect of that guarantee, 1 e the amount imtally recogmsed less accumulated amortisation.

Y. Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

Provisions are recogmsed for habilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Company or Group has a legal or
constructive obligation anising as a result of a past event, 1t 1s probable that an outflow of economuc benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable esimate can be made Where the tme value of money 1s matenal,
provisions are stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle the obligation

Where 1t 15 not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation 1s disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits s remote
Possible obhigations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the occwrrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent hiabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits 1s remote

Z. Revenue Recognition

Revenue 15 measured at the fair value of the consideration recetved or receivable Provided 1t 1s probable that the
economc benefits associated with the transactions wall flow to the Group and the amount of revenue can be measured
rehably, revenue 1s recogmised 1 the profit and loss account as follows

(1) Fare revenue 1s recogmsed when the journey 1s provided

(1) Rental income from investment properties, station kiosks and other raillway prermses under operating leases 1is
accounted for 1n accordance with the terms of the leases  Lease mncenuves granted are recognised in the profit and loss
account as an integral part of the aggregate net iease payments recetvable  Contingent rentals are recognised as income
1n the accounting period in which they are earned

(m) Contract revenue 1s recogrsed when the outcome of a consultancy, construction or service contract can be estimated
rehably Contract revenue 1s recognised using the percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
percentage of contract costs incurred to date to the estimated total contract costs for the contract  'When the outcome of
a consultancy, construction or service contract cannot be estimated reliably, revenue 1s recogmised onty to the extent of
contract costs incurred that it 1s probable to be recovered

(1v) Incomes from other station commercial businesses, property management and franchise revenue from service
concessions are recogmsed when the services are provided

AA. Operating Lease Charges
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease to the profit and
loss account, except for rentals pavable in respect of raillway construction, property development in progress and

proposed capital projects which are capitalised as part of raillway construction i progress, property development 1n
progress and deferred expenditure respectively
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BB. Interestand Finance Charges

Interest mcome and expense directly attributable to the financing of capital projects prior to their completion or
commissiomng are capitalised  Exchange differences ansing from foreign currency borrowimngs relating to the
acquisition of assets are capitalised 1o the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to capitalised interest costs
Interest expense attributable to other purposes 18 charged to the profit and loss account

Finance charges implicit 1n the lease payments on assets held under finance leases are charged to the profit and loss
account over the peniod of the lease so as to produce an approximately constant periodic rate of charge on the remaming
balance of the obligations for each accounting period

CC. Foreign Currency Translation

Foreign currency transactions dunng the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars and recorded at exchange rates ruling
at the transaction dates  Foreign currency monetary assets and liabihties are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date  Exchange gains and losses are recogrsed in the profit and loss account

The results of foreign enterprises are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average exchange rates for the year
Balance sheet items are translated into Hong Xong dollars at the closing exchange rates at the balance sheet date  The
resulting exchange differences are recognised 1n other comprehensive income and accumulated separately in equity 1n the
exchange reserve

DD. Segment Reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment 1tem reported 1n the financial statements, are 1dentified from the
financial information provided regularly to the Group’s most semor executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of business and geographical locations

Indrvidually matenal operating segments are not aggregated for financial reporting purposes unless the segments have
similar economic charactenistics and are sumilar n respect of the nature of services and products, the type or class of
customers, the methods used to prowvide the services or distnbute the products, and the nature of the regulatory
environment Operating segments which are not individually material may be aggregated if they share a majonty of
these criteria

EE. Related Parties

For the purposes of these accounts, a person, or a close member of that person’s famuly, 18 related to the Group if that
person 1s a member of the key management personnel of the Group  An entity 1s related to the Group 1f the entity and
the Group are members of the same group, or the entity is an associate or joint venture of the Group, or post-employment
benefit plans which are for the benefit of employees of the Group or of any entity that 1s a related party of the Group, or
an ndividual who 1s a related party of the Group has control, jontly control, sigmficant influence over that entity or 1s a
member of the key management personnel of that entity

FF. Government Grants

Government grants are assistance by governments n the form of wansfer of resources m return for the Group’s
comphance to the conditions attached thereto  Government grants which represent compensation for the cost of an asset
are deducted from the cost of the asset 1n armving at its carrying value to the extent of the amounts received and
receivable as at the date of the balance sheet Government grants which represent compensation for expenses or losses
are deducted from the related expenses  Any excess of the amount of grant received or recervable over the cost of the
asset or the expenses or losses at the balance sheet date are carned forward as advance receipts or deferred income to set
off against the future cost of the asset or future expenses or losses

3 Rail Merger with Kowloon-Canton Railway Corporation (“KCRC”)
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On 2 December 2007 (the “Appointed Day”), the Company’s operations merged with those of KCRC (“Rail Merger”)
The structure and key terms of the Rail Merger were set out 1n a senies of transaction agreements entered 1nto between,
mnter alia, HKSAR Government, KCRC and the Company mcluding the Service Concession Agreement, Property
Package Agreements and Merger Framework Agreement  Key elements of the Rail Merger included the following

4

The expansicn of the Company’s exisung franchise under the Mass Transit Raillway Ordinance (“MTR Ordinance’)
to cover the construction, operation and regulation of rallways 1n addition to the MTRC railway for an initial period
of 50 years from the Appointed Day (“Franchise Period™), which may be extended pursuant to the provisions of the
MTR Ordinance (note 57C),

The Service Concession Agreement (*SCA”) pursuant to which KCRC granted the Company the nght to access, use
and operate the KCRC system for an imtial term of 50 years (the “Concession Period”), which will be extended if the
Franchise Penod (as 1t relates to the KCRC railway) 1s extended The SCA also sets out the basis on which the
KCRC system will be returned at the end of the Concession Pernod  In accordance with the terms of the SCA, the
Company paid an upfront lump sum to KCRC on the Appointed Day and 1s obliged to pay an annual fixed payment
to KCRC for the duration of the Concession Period Additionally, commencing after three years from the
Appomted Day, the Company 1s obliged to pay a vanable annuat payment to KCRC based on the revenue generated
from the KCRC system above certamn thresholds,

Under the SCA, the Company 1s responsible for the expenditure incurred 1n relation to the maintenance, reparr,
replacement and upgrade of the KCRC system (with any new assets acquired bemng classified as “additional
concession property”)  To the extent that such expenditure exceeds an agreed threshold (““‘Capex Threshold™), the
Company will be rexmbursed for any above threshold expenditure at the end of the Concession Period with such
reimbursement to be on the basis of depreciated book value,

In the event that the Concession Pentod 1s extended, the fixed annual payment and the vanable annual payment will
continue to be payable by the Company  On such extension, the Capex Threshold may also be adjusted, and

Property Package Agreements and Merger Framework agreement setting out the acquisition of certain properties,
property management rights and property development nghts by the Company as well as the framework for the Rail
Merger including the implementation of the Fare Adjustment Mechanism

Revenue from Hong Kong Transport Operations

Revenue from Hong Kong transport operations comprises

tn HK8 million 2011 2010
Fare Revenue
- Domestic Service 9,300 8,668
- Cross-boundary Service 2,633 2,487
- Aurport Express 751 694
- Light Rail, Bus and Intercity 673 610
13,357 12,459
Other rail-related income 152 176
13,509 12,635

The Domestic Service compnses the Kwun Tong, Tsuen Wan, Island, Tung Chung, Tseung Kwan O, Disneyland Resort,
East Rail (excluding Cross-boundary Service), West Rail and Ma On Shan lines Other rail-related mcome mcludes
mainly ancillary service income from Intercity, by-law infringement surcharge and Octopus load agent fees

5 Revenue from Hong Kong Station Commercial Business

Revenue from Hong Kong station commercial business compnses

in HK$ milion 2011 2010

Duty free shops and kiosk rental 1,905 1,716
Adverusing 893 734
Telecommunication income 500 290
Other station commercial income 124 113
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3,422 2,853
6 Revenue from Property Rental and Management Businesses
Revenue from property rental and management businesses comprises
i HK3 million 2011 2010
Property rental income from
- Telford Plaza 672 614
- Elements 634 509
- Mantume Square 389 377
- Luk Yeung Galleria 161 153
- Paradise Mall 124 118
- Citylink Plaza 120 112
- International Finance Centre 410 390
- Ginza Mall - Beying 123 105
- Other properties 383 380
3,016 2,758
Property management income 199 203
3,215 2,961

7 Revenue and Expenses of Railway Subsidiaries outside of Hong Kong

On 16 June 2011, Shenzhen Metro Longhua Line (**Shenzhen Longhua Line’) Phase 2 commenced revenue operation
Revenue and expenses relating to rallway subsidianes outside of Hong Kong compnse

Stockholm Shenzhen
in HK$ mullion Metro Melbourne Train Longhua Line Total
2011
Revenue
- Railway operations related 3,166 6,177 185 9,528
- Project related - 2,748 3 2,751
3,166 8,925 188 12,279
Expenses
- Railway operations related 3,111 5,967 254 9,332
- Project related - 2,558 2 2,560
- Uulisation of government grant - - (62) (62)
3,111 8,525 194 11,830
2010
Revenue
- Railway operations related 2,858 5,226 20 8,104
- Project related - 2,013 27 2,040
2,858 7,239 47 10,144
Expenses
- Railway operations related 2,864 5,043 62 7,969
- Project related - 1,870 26 1,896
2,864 6,913 88 9,865

8 Revenue from Other Businesses
Revenue from other businesses comprises incomes from

tn HK$ million 2011 2010
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Ngong Ping 360 270 239
Consultancy business 105 113
Project management for KCRC and HKSAR Government 588 540
Miscellaneous businesses 35 33

998 925

9 Other Net Income

Other net income relates to the construction of Shenzhen Longhua Line Phase 2 and comprises

in HK$ milhion 2011 2010
Construction revenue 1,933 1,719
Construction cost (1,933) (1,719)

Construction revenue 1s recogmsed by reference to the total construction cost incurred since signing of the Project
Concession Agreement on 18 March 2009 up to the date of operation commencement on 16 June 2011  As of 31
December 2011, such cost amounted to HK$5,541 mullion (31 December 2010 HK$3,608 million) There was no
cumulative net profit or loss recognised in respect of the construction as at 31 December 2011 and 2010

10 Operating Expenses

A, Total staff costs include

in HK3 miliron 2011 2010
Amount charged to profit and loss account under
- staff costs and related expenses for Hong Kong transport operations 3,673 3,398
- maintenance and related works for Hong Kong transport operations 70 78
- other expense line 1tems for Hong Kong transport operations 50 59
- expenses relatng to Hong Kong station commercial business 53 47
- expenses relating to property rental and management businesses 88 73
- expenses relating to rallway subsidhianes outside of Hong Kong 4,837 3,843
- expenses relating to other businesses 690 561
- project study and business development expenses 96 142
Amount capitalised under
- railway construction in progress before offset by government grant 452 183
- property development n progress 93 90
- assets under construction and other projects 242 399
- Service comncession assets 284 251
Amount recoverable 591 542
Total staff costs 11,219 9,671

Amount recoverable relates to property management, entrustment works and other agreements

The following expenditures are included in total staff costs

in HK$ milhon 2011 2010
Share-based payments 113 61
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans and Mandatory Provident Fund 409 362
Expenses recogmsed 1n respect of defined benefit retirement plans 144 173
666 596

B. The costs of mamntenance and related works for Hong Kong transport operations relate mamly to contracted
maintenance and revenue works  Other routine repairs and mantenance works are performed by in-house operations
and the costs of which are included under staff costs and related expenses as well as stores and spares consumed

-~
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C. Project study and business development expenses comprise

in HK$ million 2011 2010

Business development expenses 114 192

Miscellaneous project study expenses and project cost wntten off 9 24
123 216

Business development expenses relate mamnly to new business opportunities in the Mainland of China, Europe and

Austraha

D. Auditors’ remuneration charged to the profit and loss account include

w HKS million 2011 2010
Audit services 10 10
Tax services 1 1
Other audit related services 3 3
14 14
E. The following charges/(credits) are included in operating expenses
in HKS million 2011 2010
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 32 50
Derwvative financial instruments
- foreign exchange contracts - meffective portion of cash flow hedges - (1)
- transfer from hedging reserve (note 22B} 5) (1)
Unrealised loss on revaluation of imnvestments 1n securities 4 2
F. Operating lease expenses charged to the profit and loss account compnse
in HKS million 2011 2010
Shopping centre, office building, staff quarters and bus depot 78 84
Rolling stock, stations, office buildings, depots, depot equipment and other munor
assets for railway subsidianes 1,066 935
Amount capitalised 4) {20)
1,140 959
11 Remuneration of Members of the Board and the Executive Directorate
A. Remuneration of Members of the Board and the Executive Directorate
(1) The emoluments of Members of the Board and the Executive Directorate of the Company were as follows
Base pay,
allowances Vanable
and Retirement remuneration
benefits in scheme related to
in HK$ mullion Fees kind contmbution performance Total
2011
Members of the Board
- Raymond Ch'ien Kuo-fung 1.2 - - - 1.2
- Vincent Cheng Hoi-chuen 0.3 - - - 03
- Chnstine Fang Meng-sang 0.3 - - - 0.3
- Edward Ho Sing-tin 0.4 - - - 0.4
- Alasdair George Morrison 03 - - - 0.3
- Ng Leung-sing 0.3 - - - 0.3
- Abraham Shek Lai-him 0.3 - - - 0.3
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- T Bnan Stevenson 04 - - - 0.4
- Ceager Chan Ka-keung 0.3 - - - 0.3
- Eva Cheng 03 - - - 0.3
- Joseph La1 Yee-tak 0.3 - - - 0.3
Members of the Executive Directorate
- Chow Chung-kong (retired on 31 December 2011) - 7.8 - * 7.0 14.8
- Willilam Chan Fu-keung - 4.6 0.2 1.9 6.7
- Chew Tai-chong - 4.3 -* 1.8 6.1
- Thomas Ho Hang-kwong (retired on 30 September

2011) - 4.5 0.2 1.5 6.2
- Jacob Kam Chak-pu1 (appomted on 1 January 2011) - 3.7 0.6 1.5 5.8
- Lincoln Leong Kwok-kuen - 5.1 0.8 21 8.0
- Gilhan Elizabeth Meller (appointed on 1 September

2011)** - 11 0.2 0.3 1.6
- David Tang Chi-fa1 (appomted on 1 October 2011)** - 0.8 0.2 0.3 1.3
- Leonard Bryan Turk (retired on 31 August 2011) - 39 0.1 1.5 5.5
- Jeny Yeung Mei-chun (appointed on 1 September

2011)** - 1.1 02 03 1.6

4.4 36.9 25 18.2 62.0

*  Dunng the year ended 31 December 2011, the total contributions paid by the Company for C K Chow and T C Chew, who
participated in the MTR MPF Scheme, were HK$12,000 each

**  Gilhan E Meller and Jeny M C Yeung were appointed as Members of the Executive Directorate since 1 September 2011 while

Dawvid C F Tang was appointed as Member of the Executive Directorate since 1 October 2011 The amount of therr emoluments
shown in the above table covered the period from the date of their appointment to 31 December 201 1

Base pay, Vanable
allowances Retirement  remuneration
and benefits scheme related o
in HK$ miilion Fees in kind _contribution performance Total
2010
Members of the Board
- Raymond Ch'ien Kuo-fung 12 - - - 12
- Vincent Cheng Hoi-chuen 03 - - - 03
- Chnstne Fang Meng-sang 03 - - - 03
- Edward Ho Sing-uin 04 - - - 04
- Alasdair George Mormison (appointed on 9 July 2010) 01 - - - 01
- Ng Leung-sing 03 - - - 03
- Abraham Shek Lai-hum 03 - - - 03
- T Bnan Stevenson 04 - - - 04
- Ceajer Chan Ka-keung 03 - - - 03
- Eva Cheng 03 - - - 03
- Joseph Lai Yee-tak 03 - - - 03
Members of the Executive Directorate
- Chow Chung-kong - 68 - * 71 139
- Russell John Black (retired on 31 January 2010) - 08 - 01 09
- Wilham Chan Fu-keung - 47 02 19 68
- Chew Tai-chong {appointed on 1 February 2010)** - 38 -* 16 54
- Thomas Ho Hang-kwong - 45 02 19 66
- Lincoln Leong Kwok-kuen - 50 08 20 78
- Andrew McCusker (retired on 31 December 2010) - 46 02 18 66
- Leonard Bryan Turk - 44 02 19 65
42 346 16 183 587
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*  Dunng the year ended 31 December 2010, the total contnbunions paid by the Company for C K Chow and T C Chew, who
participated m the MTR MPF Scheme, were HK$12,000 and HK$7,000 respectively  The contribution paid by the Company for
Russell J Black, who participated in the MTR Retirement Scheme, was HK$17.484

** T C Chew was appointed as Member of the Executive Directorate since 1 February 2010 The amount of the emoluments shown
1n the above table covered the penod from the date of his appomntment to 31 December 2010

Russell J Black, Andrew McCusker, Thomas H K Ho and Leonard B Turk received a lump sum benefit payment of
HK$20 8 mullion, HK$20 7 million, HK$24 3 million and HK$24 3 milhon respectively from the MTR Retirement
Scheme upon their retirements 1n January 2010 for Russell J Black, December 2010 for Andrew McCusker, August 2011
for Leonard B Turk and September 2011 for Thomas H K Ho

Andrew McCusker, who retired on 31 December 2010, received a pro-rated discretionary award of HK$153,510 m July
2011 1n respect of his service from 1 July 2010 to 31 December 2010

On 12 Apnl 2010, Lincoln K K Leong was paid HK$4 6 mullion, represeniing the derivative interest granted to hum on 12
Apnl 2007 to receive an equivalent value 1n cash of 160,000 shares (note 53B(i1))  On 4 January 2012, C K Chow was
paid HK$5 6 nmullion, representing his entitlement to receive an equivalent value in cash of 222,161 shares on completion
of his two-year contract ended on 31 December 2011 (note 53B(1))

The above emoluments do not include the fair value of share options, as estimated at the date of grant which 1s defined as
the date of acceptance of the offer to grant the option

Share options were granted to Members of the Executive Directorate under the Company’s 2007 Option Scheme, which
were offered to them on 10 December 2007, 8 December 2008, 12 June 2009, 8 December 2009, 28 June 2010 and 16
December 2010  The entitlements of each of the Members are as follows

= C K Chow was granted options 1n respect of 720,000 shares on 13 December 2007 and 470,000 shares each on 9
December 2008, 9 December 2009 and 17 December 2010, of which 470,000 options were vested n 2011 (2010
554,000), and the respective fair value of the share-based payments recognised for the year ended 31 December 2011
was HK$3 4 mullion (2010 HK$2 5 nullion),

=  Russell J Black was granted options 1n respect of 170,000 shares each on 12 December 2007 and 9 December 2008
and 42,500 shares on 10 December 2009, of which 127,500 options were vested in 2010, and the respective far
value of the share-based payments recognised for the year ended 31 December 2010 was HK$0 5 mullion,

=  Wilham F K Chan was granted options m respect of 170,000 shares each on 13 December 2007, 9 December 2008,
10 December 2009 and 17 December 2010, of which 170,000 options were vested 1n 2011 (2010 170,000), and the
respective fair value of the share-based payments recogmsed for the year ended 31 December 2011 was HK$12
million (2010 HKS$0 8 million),

= T C Chew was granted options in respect of 85,000 shares on 18 June 2009 and 170,000 shares each on 10
December 2009 and 17 December 2010, of which 142,500 options were vested mn 2011 {2010 85,500), and the
respective fair value of the share-based payments recognised for the year ended 31 December 2011 was HKS1 3
million (2010 HK$0 5 mlhon),

= Thomas H K Ho was granted options 1n respect of 170,000 shares each on 12 December 2007, 11 December 2008
and 14 December 2009 and 127,500 shares on 17 December 2010, of which 155,500 options were vested 1n 2011
(2010 170,000), and the respective farr value of the share-based payments recogmsed for the year ended 31
December 2011 was HK$1 1 million (2010 HK$0 8 million),

s Jacob C P Kam was granted options mn respect of 75,000 shares on 13 December 2007, 65,000 shares each on 8
December 2008 and 14 December 2009, 50,000 shares on 21 July 2010 and 170,000 shares on 17 December 2010,
of which 117,000 options were vested m 2011 (2010 69,000), and the respective fair value of the share-based
payments recogmsed for the year ended 31 December 2011 was HK$1 ¢ mullion (2010 HK$0 3 mullicn),

» Lincoln K K Leong was granted options in respect of 170,000 shares each on 12 December 2007, 9 December 2008,
10 December 2009 and 17 December 2010, of which 170,000 options were vested 1n 2011 (2010 170,000), and the
respective fair value of the share-based payments recogmsed for the year ended 31 December 2011 was HKS$1 2
mulhon (2010 HK$C 7 milhion),
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=  Andrew McCusker was granted options m respect of 170,000 shares each on 12 December 2007, 12 December 2008
and 10 December 2009, of which 170,000 options were vested in 2010, and the respective fair value of the
share-based payments recogmsed for the year ended 31 December 2010 was HK$0 7 mullion,

= Giulhan E Meller was granted options m respect of 55,000 shares on 12 December 2007, 70,000 shares on 11
December 2008, 65,000 shares on 10 December 2009 and 90,000 shares on 17 December 2010, of which 75,000
options were vested 1n 2011 (2010 63,500), and the respective fair value of the share-based payments recogmsed for
the year ended 31 December 2011 was HK3$0 6 militon (2010 HK$0 3 malhon),

» David CF Tang was granted options 1n respect of 65,000 shares each on 13 December 2007, 12 December 2008, 15
December 2009 and 17 December 2010, of which 65,000 options were vested mn 2011 (2010 65,000), and the
respective fair value of the share-based payments recogmised for the year ended 31 December 2011 was HK$0 5
million (2010 HK$0 3 mullion),

= Leonard B Turk was granted options 1n respect of 170,000 shares each on 12 December 2007, 9 December 2008 and
10 December 2009 and 127,500 shares on 17 December 2010, of which 155,500 options were vested 1n 2011 (2010
170,000), and the respective fair value of the share-based payments recogmsed for the year ended 31 December 2011
was HK$1 1 nullion (2010 HK$0 7 rmulhion), and

s Jeny M C Yeung was granted options m respect of 75,000 shares on 12 December 2007 and 65,000 shares each on
10 December 2008, 10 December 2009 and 17 December 2010, of which 65,000 options were vested m 2011 (2010
69,000), and the respective fair value of the share-based payments recognised for the year ended 31 December 2011
was HK$0 5 mullion (2010 HK$0 3 million)

Jay H Walder replaced C K Chow, who retired from the Company on 31 December 2011, as a Member of the Executive
Directorate with effect from 1 January 2012 As a transitional arrangement, Jay H Walder was appomnted Chief
Executive Officer (Designate) during 1 November 2011 to 31 December 2011 The emolument of Jay H Walder during
the year ended 31 December 2011 was HK$2 1 milion  Jay H Walder was granted a denvative mterest 1n respect of
300,000 shares m the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the Secunties and Futures Ordinance  The derivative
mterest represents Jay H Walder’s entitlement to be paid an equavalent value 1 cash of 300,000 shares 1n the Company
following 30 June 2014, bemg the date on which hus 1mtial term of office 1s expected to expire (35% of which shall be
deemed to be eamned at 31 October 2013 subject to certamn conditions specified in his employment contract)

The details of Board Members’ and Executive Directorate’s mterest i the Company’s shares are disclosed in the Report
of the Members of the Board and note 53

{11) The aggregate emoluments of Members of the Board and the Executive Directorate for the year pursuant to section
161 of the Hong Kong Compames Ordinance was HK$79 5 million (2010 HK$70 5 mullion)

(1) Non-executive directors of the Company are not appomted for a specific term but are subject (save for those
appowmted pursuant to Section 8 of the Mass Transit Raillway Ordinance (Chapter 556 of the Laws of Hong Kong)) to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual general meetings 1n accordance with Articles 87 and 88 of
the Company’s Articles of Association Dr Raymond Ch’ten Kue-fung, a Member of the Board and the non-executive
Chairman of the Company since 1998 and 2003 respectively, was re-appointed by the HKSAR Government as the
non-executive Chairman of the Company with effect from 2 December 2009 untit 31 December 2012

All of the five individuals with the lighest emoluments are Members of the Executive Directorate whose emoluments are
disclosed above

B Share Options

Options exercised and outstanding 1n respect of each Member of the Executive Directorate as at 31 December 2011 are
set out 1n the Report of the Members of the Board Details of the options granted to Members of the Executive
Directorate are as follows

(1) New Jomers Share Option Scheme

Under the New Jowners Share Option Scheme (the “New Option Scheme™) as described m note 53A(1), Lincoln K K
Leong and David C F Tang, Members of the Executive Directorate, were granted options to acquire 1,066,000 shares on
1 August 2003 and 213,000 shares on 15 May 2006 respectively

Under the vesting terms of the New Option Scheme, Lincoln K K Leong must continue to beneficially own (1) at all
tumes on and after 4 August 2004, at least 23,000 shares, and (1) at all times on and after 4 August 2005, at least 46,000
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shares, up to and including the date en which he has exercised his option n full or the date on which hus option lapses
(whichever 1s earlier)

(11) 2007 Share Option Scheme

Under the 2007 Share Option Scheme (the “2007 Opuon Scheme™) as described i note 53A(n), all Members of the
Executive Directorate were granted options to acquire shares n each year from 2007 to 2010 C K Chow was granted
options to acquire 720,000 shares 1n 2007 and 470,000 shares each mn 2008, 2009 and 2010 Russell J Black was
granted options to acquire 170,000 shares in both 2007 and 2008 and 42,500 shares in 2009 Willham F K Chan and
Lincoln K K Leong were each granted options to acquire 170,000 shares 1n each year from 2007 to 2010 T C Chew
was granted options to acquire 85,000 shares in June 2009 and 170,000 shares each in December 2009 and 2010
Thomas H K Ho and Leonard B Turk were each granted options to acquire 170,000 shares m each of 2007, 2008 and
2009 and 127,500 shares 1n 2010  Andrew McCusker was granted options to acquire 170,000 shares n each of 2007,
2008 and 2009 Jacob C P Kam was granted options to acquire 75,000 shares i December 2007, 65,000 shares each in
December 2008 and 2009, 50,000 shares m July 2010 and 170,000 shares in December 2010 Gillian E Meller was
granted options to acquire 55,000 shares in 2007, 70,000 shares 1n 2008, 65,000 shares i 2009 and 90,000 shares 1n 2010
David C F Tang was granted options to acquire 65,000 shares each year from 2007 to 2010 Jeny M C Yeung was
granted options to acquire 75,000 shares 1n 2007 and 65,000 shares each year from 2008 to 2010

Under the vesting terms of the options granted each year from 2007 to 2010, options granted will be evenly vested m
respect of therr underlying shares over a peniod of three years from the date of offer to grant such options (note 11A(1))

12 Profit on Property Developments

Profit on property developments comprises

i HK3 million 2011 2010
Transfer from deferred income on
~ payments received from developers (note 48) 468 -
- sharng in kind (note 29B} - 17
Share of surplus from development 3,889 990
Income recognised from shanng in kind 572 3,026
Miscellaneous income net of other overhead costs 5 1
4,934 4,034
13 Depreciation and Amortisation
Depreciation and amortisation comprise
tn HK 8 midiion 2011 2010
Depreciation charge on assets relating to
Hong Kong transport operations 2,517 2,517
Hong Kong stabon commercial busiess 121 93
Property rental and management businesses 11 9
Railway subsidianies outside of Hong Kong 46 24
Other businesses 62 63
2,757 2,706
Amortisation charge on service concession assets relating to
KCRC Rail Merger 434 400
Railway subsidianes outside of Hong Kong 169 14
603 414
Uulisation of government subsidy for Shenzhen Metro Longhua Line operation (154) -
449 414
3,206 3,120
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14 Variable Annual Payment

Commencing after the third year from the Appointed Day of the Rail Merger, 1¢ 2 December 2010, the Company 1s
obliged to pay vaniable annual payments to KCRC, calculated on a tiered basis by reference to the revenue generated
from the operation of the KCRC service concession over certain thresholds For the year ended 31 December 2011,
the vanable annual payment amounted to HK$647 million (2010 HK$45 million)

15 Interest and Finance Charges

i HK$ mullion 2011 2010
Interest expenses i respect of
Bank loans, overdrafts and capital market instruments wholly

repayable within 5 years 315 560
Bank loans and capital market mstruments not wholly repayable
within 5 years 268 206
Obligations under service concession 723 721
Other obligations (note 24E) 16 15
Finance charges 18 27
Exchange loss/(gain) 32 [EX))
1,372 1,492
Utlisaticn of government subsidy for Shenzhen Metro Longhua
Line operation (133) -
Denvative financial instruments
Farr value hedges (15) -
Cash flow hedges
- transfer from hedging reserve 63 86
- neffective portion - 1§))
48 85
Interest expenses capitalised (176) (178)
1,1 1,399
Interest income 1n respect of
Deposits with banks and other financial institutions (199) (114)
Investment 1n bank medium term notes (45) (34)
Loans to associates (1) -
(245) (148)
Interest income capitalised 80 78
946 1,325
Accreted mterest on loan to a property developer (25) (92)
921 1,237
e —

Dunng the year ended 31 December 2011, interest expenses capitalised were calculated on a monthly basis at the
pre-determuned cost of borrowings and/or the relevant group company’s net borrowing cost which varied from 0 8% to
5 8% per annum (2010 0 6% to 5 3% per annum), while interest income capitalised was calculated on a monthly basis at
the average return from deposits and investments 1n bank medium term notes which varied from 1 1% to 1 6% per annum
(2010 0 8% to 1 2% per annum)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, interest and finance charges net of mterest expenses capitahised 1n relation to
the Shenzhen Metro Longhua Line was HK$133 mullion (201¢ HK$3 milhon) This amount was fully offset by the
subsidy received from the Shenzhen Municipal Government 1 2011

Dunng the same year, the gain resulting from fair value changes of the underlying financial assets and habilities being
hedged was HK$24 nullion (2010 HKS$119 mulhion of loss) and the loss resulting from fair value changes of hedging

mstruments comprsing interest rate and cross currency swaps was HK$9 nulhon (2010 HK$119 nullion of gain),
resulting 1n a net gamn of HK$15 million (2010 ml)

16 Share of Profits of Non-controlled Subsidiaries and Associates
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Share of profits of non-controlled subsidianes and associates comprises

m HKE million 2011 2010
Share of profit before taxation of non-controlled subsidianies (note 31) 208 148
Share of profit before taxation of associates (note 33) 152 22
360 170
Share of income tax of non-controlled subsidiaries (note 31) (26) 22)
Share of income tax of associates (note 33) 37 (9)
297 139
17 Income Tax
A. Income tax n the censolidated profit and loss account represents
in HK§ mullion 2011 2010
Current tax
- Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax at 16 5% (2010 16 5%) for the year 1,619 1,495
- Owverseas tax for the year 56 93
1,675 1,588
Deferred tax
- Ongnation and reversal of temporary differences on
- nvestment property revaluation 840 672
- (provision)/utilisation of tax losses 4] 10
- depreciation allowances 1n excess of related depreciation 316 287
- provision and others 1) 33
1,146 1,002
2,821 2,590

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended 31 December 2011 15 calculated at 16 5% (2010 16 5%) on
the estumated assessable profits for the year after deducting accumulated tax losses brought forward, if any ~ Current tax
for the Mamland of China and overseas subsidiaries 1s charged at the appropriate current rates of taxation ruling n the

relevant countries

Provision for deferred tax on temporary differences arising in Hong Kong 1s calculated at the Hong Kong Prefits Tax rate
at 16 5% (2010 16 5%) while that ansing 1n the Mainland of China and overseas 1s calculated at the appropriate current

rates of taxation ruling 1n the relevant countries
B. Reconcilianon between tax expense and accounting profit at apphicable tax rates

2011

2010

HK$ mithon %

HK$ million %

Profit before taxation 17,669 14,762
Notional tax on profit before taxation, calculated at the rates applicable

to profits in the tax junsdictions concerned 2,957 16.7 2451 166
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 106 0.6 200 14
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue 215 (1.2) 90 (©6
Tax effect of unused tax losses not recogmsed 27 (0.2) 29 02
Actual tax expenses 2,821 159 2,590 176

18 Profit Attributable to Equity Shareholders
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A The consohdated profit attnbutable to equity shareholders includes a profit of HK$14,415 million (2010 HK$11,878
million) which has been dealt with 1n the accounts of the Company Details of dividend paid and payable to equity
sharcholders of the Company are set out 1n note 19

B Profit attnbutable to equity sharcholders of the Company ansing from underlying businesses represents profits
excluding impact of investment property revaluatuion net of related deferred tax, calculated as follows

in HKS millron 2011 2010

Profit attributable to equaty shareholders 14,716 12,059

Investment property revaluation (5,08%) (4,074)

Deferred tax on investment property revaluation (note 17A) 840 672
10,468 8,657

Within the profit anising from underlying businesses, the amount attnibutable to property development has taken into
account the effect of related income tax expense of HK$720 mallion (2010 HK$785 mullion) and net interest income of
HK3$11 miihon (2010 HKS$11 mullion) in relation to the loan to a property developer

19 Dividends
During the year, dividends paid and proposed to equity shareholders of the Company compnsed
in HK3 miihion 2011 2010

Dividends paid/payable attributable to the year
- Interim dividend of 25 cents (2010 14 cents) per share approved and paid

duning the year 1,446 807

- Final dividend proposed afier the balance sheet date of 51 cents (2010 45
cents) per share 2,950 2,598
! 4,396 3,405

Dividends paid attributable to the previous year
- Final dividend of 45 cents (2009 38 cents) per share approved and paid
durning the year 2,598 2,177

The final dividend proposed after the balance sheet date has not been recognised as a liability at the balance sheet date

For the dividends attributable to the year ended 31 December 2010, scrip dividend elections were offered 1o all
shareholders except shareholders with registered addresses in the United States of Amernica or any of its terntones or
possessions  No scnp dividend election was offered for the dividends attnbutable to the year ended 31 December 2011

Details of dividends paid to the Company’s majonty shareholder, The Fmancial Secretary Incorporated, are disclosed in
note 57N

20 Earnings Per Share
A. Basic Earnings Per Share
The calculation of basic earnings per share 1s based on the profit for the vear attributable to equuty shareholders of

HK3$14,716 mithon (2010 HK$12,059 million) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 5,780,030,171 m
1ssue duning the year (2010 5,751,035,100), calculated as follows

2011 2010
Issued ordinary shares at 1 January 5,772,563,031 5,727.,833,692
Effect of scrip dividends 1ssued 6,461,157 20,911,122
Effect of share options exercised 1,005,983 2,290,286
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 5,780,030,171 5,751,035,100
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B. Dailuted Earmmings Per Share

The calculation of diluted earnings per share 1s based on the profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders of
HK$14,716 muilhon (2010 HK$12,059 million) and the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 5,783,905,064 1in
1ssue dunng the year (2010 5,756,548,816) after adjusting for the number of dilutive potential ordinary shares under the
employee share option schemes, calculated as follows

2011 2010
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 31 December 5,780,030,171 5,751,035,100
Effect of dilutive potential shares under the Company’s share option schemes 3,874,893 5,513,716
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) at 31 December 5,783,905,064 5,756,548,816

C. Both basic and diluted earnings per share would have been HKS$1 81 (2010 HKS$1 51) if the calculauion 1s based on

profit attnibutable to equity shareholders ansing from underlying businesses of HK$10,468 million (2010 HK$8,657
milhion) (note 18B)

21 Segmental Information

The Group manages its businesses by the varous business executive committees  In a manner consistent with the way
m which information 1s reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive management for the purposes of
resource allocation and performance assessment, the Group has 1dentified the following six reportable segments

(1) Homng Kong transport operations The provision of passenger operation and related services on the urban mass
transit railway system in Hong Kong, the Awrport Express serving both the Hong Kong International Airport and the
AsiaWorld-Expo at Chek Lap Kok, cross-boundary railway connection with the border of Mamland of China at Lo Wu
and Lok Ma Chau, light rail and bus feeder with railway system in the north-west New Termtonies and intercity rallway
transport with certain cities 1n the Mainland of China

(1) Hong Kong station commercial business Commercial activities including the letung of advertising, retail and car
parking space at raillway stations, the provision of telecommumcation and bandwidth services 1n rallway premises and
other commercial activities wathin the Hong Kong transport operations network

(1) Property rental and management businesses The letting of retatl, office and car parking space and the provision of
estate management services in Hong Kong and the Mainland of China

(1v) Railway subsidianes outside of Hong Kong The operation and mantenance of mass transit rallway systems
including station commercial activities outside of Hong Kong

(v} Other businesses Busmesses not directly relating to transport operations or properties such as Ngong Ping 360,
which comprises cable car operations 1in Tung Chung and related businesses at the Ngong Ping Theme Village, rallway
consultancy business and the provision of project management services to HKSAR Government and KCRC

(v1) Property developments Property development activities at locations relating to the raillway systems

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group re-categonised certain business activities not directly relating to
transport operations or properties including Ngong Ping 360, raillway consultancy business and the provision of project
management services to the HKSAR Government and KCRC under a new business segment “Other Businesses” The
re-categonsation amounted to HK$925 rmullion in revenue and HK$751 mullion in expenses for the year ended 31
December 2010  Accordingly, the comparatives of the consolidated profit and loss account and segmental information
are reclassified

The results of the reportable segments and reconciliation to the corresponding consohdated totals 1n the accounts are
shown below
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Property
Hong Hong Kong  rental and Railway
Koeng station manage- subsidianes Property
transport commercial ment  outside of Other develop-
in HKS mullion operations business businesses Hong Kong businesses ments Total
2011
Revenue 13,509 3,422 3,215 12,279 998 - 33,423
Operating expenses before
depreciation, amortisation and
vanable annual payment (7,354) (358) (721)  (11,830) (913) - (21,176)
6,155 3,064 2,494 449 85 - 12,247
Profit on property developments - - - - - 4934 4,934
Operating profit before depreciation,
amortisation and variable annual
payment 6,155 3,064 2,494 449 85 4,934 17,181
Depreciation and amortisation (2,934) (138) (1 (61) (62) - (3,206)
Variable annual payment (520) a2 - - - - (647)
2,701 2,799 2,483 388 23 4,934 13,328
Project studies and business
development expenses (123)
Operating profit before interest and
finance charges 13,205
Interest and finance charpes (921)
Investment property revaluation 5,088 5,088
Share of profits of non-controlled
subsidiaries and associates 115 182 297
Income tax (2,821)
Profit for the year ended 31
December 2011 14,848
Assets
Operational assets * 73,588 1,726 52,332 3,714 1,124 1,211 133,695
Assets under construction 2,030 18 - - - - 2,048
Service concession assets 16,169 - - 7,759 - - 23,928
Property management rights - - 31 - - - 31
Railway construction in progress 3,566 - - - - - 3,566
Property development 1n progress - - - - - 11,904 11,964
Deferred expenditure - - 14 - - - 14
Deferred tax assets - 19 3 5 - - 27
Investments 1n securities - - - - 348 - 348
Properties held for sale - - - - - 3,757 3,757
Interests 1n non-controlled subsidiaries - - - - 579 - 579
Interests 1n associates - - - 9438 - - 948
95,353 1,763 52,380 12,426 2,051 16,932 180,905
Unallocated assets 16,968
Total assets 197,873
Liabilities
Segment habilihes 9,080 988 1,422 2,987 928 3,351 18,756
Obligations under service concession 10,557 - - 167 - - 10,724
Deferred income - 47 - 288 - 68 403
19,637 1,035 1,422 3,442 928 3.419 29,883
Unallocated habilities 38,945
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Total lhabilities

Other Information
Capital expenditure on
Operational assets
Assets under construction
Investment properties
Service concession assets
Railway construction in progress
Property development 1n progress
Non-cash expenses other than
depreciation and amortisation

57
1,296

630
5,585

28

11

1,040

90 14
110 -
2,122 -
. 2

68,828

1 189
- 1,489
- 1,040
- 2,752
- 5,585
3,045

- 32

* Operational assets include property, plant and equipment and

other assets employed 1n the operations

of individual business

segments
Property
Hong Hong Kong  rental and Railway
Kong station manage- subsidianes Property
transport commercial ment  outside of Other develop-
tn HK$ mulhon operations business _ businesses Hong Kong businesses ments Total
2010
Revenue 12,635 2,853 2,961 10,144 925 - 29,518
Operating expenses before
depreciation, amortisation and
vanable annual payment (6,821) (294) (654) (9,865) (751) - (18,385
5.814 2,559 2,307 279 174 - 11,133
Profit on property developments - - - - - 4,034 4,034
Operating profit before depreciation,
amortisation and vanable annual
payment 5,814 2,559 2,307 279 174 4,034 15,167
Depreciation and amortisation {2,901) (169) (E)] (38) (63) - (3,120)
Vanable annual payment (36) ) - - - - (45)
2,877 2,441 2,298 241 111 4,034 12,002
Project studies and business
development expenses (216)
Operating profit before interest and
finance charges 11,786
Interest and finance charges (1,237)
Investment property revaluation 4,074 4,074
Share of profits of non-controlled
subsidiaries and associates 13 126 139
Income tax (2,590)
Profit for the year ended 31 December
2010 12,172
Assets
Operational assets * 73,920 1,557 46,093 2411 1,255 652 125,888
Assets under construction 2,161 10 - 26 - - 2,197
Service concession assets 15,963 - - 5,504 - - 21,467
Property management rights - - 31 - - - 31
Property development 1in progress - - - - - 9,128 9,128
Deferred expenditure 1,021 - 21 - - 37 1,079
Deferred tax assets - 1 5 3 - - 9
Investments 1n securities - - - - 285 - 285
Properties held for sale - - - - - 1,936 1,936
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Loan to a property developer - - - - - 1,975 1,975
Interests 1n non-controtled subsidianes - - - - 541 - 541
Interests 1n associates - - - 836 - - 336
93,065 1,568 46,150 8,780 2,081 13728 165,372
Unallocated assets 16,293
Total assets 181,665
Liabilities
Segment Liabilities 10,578 921 1,241 2,206 745 1,357 17,048
Obligattons under servtce concession 10,592 - - 157 - - 10,749
Deferred income - 37 - - - 568 605
21,170 958 1,241 2,363 745 1,925 28,402
Unallocated liabilities 35,970
Total habilities 64,372
Other Information
Capital expenditure on
Operational assets 65 3 14 95 9 1 187
Assets under construction 1,561 142 - 24 2 - 1,729
Investment properties - - 247 - - - 247
Service concession assets 366 - - 1,757 - - 2,323
Railway construction mn progress 3,462 - - - - - 3,462
Property development 1n progress - - - - - 4,372 4,372
Non-cash expenses other than
depreciation and amortisation 44 2 - 4 - - 50

* Operational assets include property, plant and equipment and other assets employed n the operations of individual business
segments

Unallocated assets and liabihties mamnly comprise cash, bank balances and deposits, investments 1n securities, derivative
financial assets and habilinies, interest-bearing loans and borrowings and deferred tax habihties

The following table sets out information about the geographical location of the Group’s revenue from external customers
and the Group’s fixed assets, property management rights, railway construction m progress, property development 1n
progress, deferred expenditure and interests 1n non-controlled subsichanes and associates (“specified non-current assets™)
The geographical location of customers 1s based on the location at which the services were provided or goods were
delivered  The geographical location of the specified non-current assets 1s based on the physical location of the asset,
the case of property, plant and equipment, rallway construction 1 progress and property development 1n progress, the
location of the proposed capital project, in the case of deferred expenditure, the location of the operation to which they
are related, n the case of service concession assets and property management rights, and the location of operation, 1n the
case of interests 1n non-controlled subsidiaries and associates

Revenue from external Specified non-current
customers assets

in HK§ mulhon 2011 2010 2011 2010
Hong Kong (place of domcile) 20,951 19,177 157,615 149,073
Australia 8,927 7,239 265 123
Manland of China 328 175 11,065 6,268
Sweden 3,166 2,858 145 151
Other countres 51 69 80 57

12,472 10,341 11,555 6,599

33,423 29,518 169,170 155,672

2011 Accounts and Notes v7 doc Page 35 of 94




MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

22 Other Comprehensive Income

A Tax effects relating to each component of other comprehensive income of the Group are shown below

2011 2010
Tax Tax
Before-tax  benefit/ Net-of-tax Before-tax benefit/ Net-of-tax
in HK$ million amount (expense) amount amount _(expense} amount
Exchange differences on translation of
- Financial statements of overseas
subsidiaries 146 - 146 141 - 141
- Non-controlling interests (1) - (1) 16 - 16
145 - 145 157 - 157
Cash flow hedges net movement 1n hedging
reserve (14) 2 (12 (31) 5 (26}
Self-occupied land and building net movement
1n fixed assets revaluation reserve 564 {93) 471 341 (56) 285
Other comprehensive income 695 91) 604 467 (51) 416

B  The changes in each component of equity ansing from transactions recognised 1n other comprehensive mcome of the
Group are as follows

in HK$ nullion 2011 2010

Exchange reserve
Exchange differences on translation of financiai statements of overseas
substdianes 146 141

Hedging reserve
Effective portion of changes in fair value of hedging instruments recogmsed

during the year (64) (104)
Amounts transferred to mmitial carrying amount of hedged items 8 (12)
Transferred to profit or loss

- Interest and finance charges (note 15) 63 86

- Other expenses (note 10E) (5) )]
Net deferred tax credited/(debited) to other comprehensive mcome resulting

from

- Changes m fair value of hedging instruments recogmsed duning the year 11 17

- Amounts transferred to imutial carrying amount of hedged 1tems 1 2

- Transferred to profit or loss 10 (14)
Net movement during the year recogmsed in other comprehensive income (12) (26}

Fixed assets revaluation reserve

Changes 1n fair value recognmised during the year 564 341
Net deferred tax debited to other comprehensive income resulting from changes

n fair value recognised during the year (93) {56)
Net movement during the year recogmsed n other comprehensive income 471 285

23 Investment Properties

Movements and analysis of the Group’s and the Company’s investment properties, all of which being held in Hong Kong
and carned at fair value, are as follows

in HK$ nullion The Group The Company
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2011 2010 2011 2010

Cost or valuation
At 1 January 45314 40,993 44,166 39,879
Addttions 1,040 247 1,033 229
Change m fair value 5,088 4,074 5,077 4,058
Transfer from deferred expenditure (note 30) 11 - 11 -
At 31 December 51,453 45,314 50,287 44,166
Long leases 74 1,589 74 1,589
Medium-term leases 51,379 43,725 50,213 42,577
51,453 45,314 50,287 44,166

All investment properties of the Group were revalued at open market value at 31 December 2011 by an independent firm
of surveyors, Jones Lang LaSalle Limited, who have among therr staff Members of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors
The valuations are based on a “term and reversion basis”, which capitalises the existing and reversionary net rental
mcome having regard to market valuation checks on comparable sales and yields The net mcrease i fair value of
HK$5,088 nullion (2010 HK$4,074 mlhon) ansing from the revaluation has been credited to the consohdated profit and
loss account

The Group’s future mimmum lease receipts 1n respect of mvestment properties under nen-cancellable operating leases
are disclosed together with those 1n respect of other properties under note 24D

24 Other Property, Plant and Equipment

The Group
Self-
occupied Assets
Leaschold land and Civil Plant and under
m HK§ mullion land buildmgs works equipment _construction Total
2011
Cost or Valuation
At 1 January 2011 732 2,403 46,642 61,534 2,197 113,508
Additions - - 3 186 1,489 1,678
Capitalisation adjustments * - - 2) (4) - ©)
Disposals / write-offs - - 1 207) 3) (211)
Surplus on revaluation {note 22B) - 491 - - - 49
Reclassification within other property, plant
and equipment - - 5 ® 1 -
Transfer to additional concession property
(note 25) - - - 5) (10) (15)
Other assets commmssioned - - 4 1,623 (1.627) -
Exchange differences - - - (5) 1 (4)
At 31 December 2011 732 2,394 46,651 63,116 2,048 115,441
At Cost 732 - 46,651 63,116 2,048 112,547
At 31 December 2011 Valuation - 2,894 - - - 2,894
Aggregate depreciation
At 1 January 2011 191 - 5,410 30,631 - 36,232
Charge for the year 13 73 403 2,268 - 2,757
Written back on disposal - - 9} (161) - (162)
Written back on revaluation (note 22B) - (73) - - - 73
At 31 December 2011 204 - 5,812 32,738 - 38,754
Net book value at 31 December 2011 528 2,894 40,839 30,378 2,048 76,687
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2010
Cost or Valuation
At 1 January 2010 732 2,120 46,507 61,026 1,366 111,751
Additions - - - 187 1,729 1,516
Capitalisation adjustments * - - 9 ()] - an
Disposals / write-offs - - 4] (360) (19) (380)
Surplus on revaluation (note 22B) - 283 - - - 283
Reclassification within other property, plant
and equipment - - 12 31) 19 -
Transfer to additional concession property
(note 25} - - - (6) (68) (74)
Other assets commussioned - - 133 699 (832) -
Exchange differences - - - 21 2 23
At 31 December 2010 732 2,403 46,642 61,534 2,197 113,508
At Cost 732 - 46,642 61,534 2,197 111,105
At 31 December 2010 Valuation - 2,403 - - - 2,403
Aggregate depreciation
At 1 January 2010 178 - 5,008 28,721 - 33,907
Charge for the year 13 58 403 2,232 - 2,706
Wnitten back on disposal - - )] (324) - (325)
‘Wnitten back on revaluation (note 22B) - (58) - - - (58)
Exchange differences - - - 2 - 2
At 31 December 2010 191 - 5,410 30,631 - 36,232
Net book value at 31 December 2010 541 2,403 41,232 30,903 2,197 77,276

* Capitahisation adjustments relate to adjustments on the cost of assets to ther final contract values after finahsation of contract

claims with contractors

Depreciation charge for the year ended 31 December 2011 was HK$2,757 mullion (2010 HK32,706 million), compnsing
depreciation for the year of HK$2,757 mullion (2010 HK$2,707 muillion) less ml (2010 HK$ mullion) capitalisaton

adjustment

The Company

Self-
occupied Assets
Leasehold land and Cwvil  Plant and under
m HK3 million land buildings works equipment construction Total
2011
Cost or Valuation
At 1 January 2011 732 2,403 40,642 60,529 2,161 112,467
Additions - - 3 76 1,345 1,424
Capitalisation adjustments * - - (2) 4) - (6)
Disposals / write-offs - - 1) (205) 3) (209)
Surplus on revaluation (note 22B} - 491 - - - 491
Reclassification within other property, plant
and equipment - - 5 (6) 1 -
Transfer to additional concession property
(note 25) - - - ) (10} (15)
Other assets commuissioned - - 4 1,460 (1,464) -
At 31 December 2011 732 2,894 46,651 61,845 2,030 114,152
At Cost 732 - 46,651 61,845 2,030 111,258
At 31 December 2011 Valuation - 2,894 - - - 2,894
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Aggregate depreciation

At | January 2011 191 - 5,410 30,021 - 35,622
Charge for the year 14 73 403 2,189 - 2,679
Written back on disposai - - a (161) - (162)
Wnitten back on revaluation (note 22B) - (73) - - - (73)
At 3] December 2011 205 - 5,812 32,049 - 38,066
Net book value at 31 December 2011 527 2,894 40,839 29,796 2,030 76,086
2010
Cost or Valuation
At 1 January 2010 732 2,120 46,507 60,177 1,350 110,886
Additions - - - 89 1,678 1,767
Capitalisation adjustments * - - ) (2) - (11
Disposals / write-offs - - (1) (364) (19) (384)
Surplus on revaluation (note 22B) - 283 - - - 283
Reclassification within other property, plant
and equipment - - 12 G 19 -
Transfer to additional concession property
{note 25) - - - (6) (68) (74)
Other assets commussioned - - 133 666 (799) -
A1 31 December 2010 732 2,403 46,642 60,529 2,161 112,467
At Cost 732 - 46,642 60,529 2,161 110,064
At 31 December 2010 Valuation - 2,403 - - - 2,403
Aggregate depreciation
At 1 January 2010 178 - 5,008 28,167 - 33,353
Charge for the year 13 58 403 2,177 - 2,651
Wnitten back on disposal - - e} (323) - (324)
Wnitten back on revaluation (note 22B) - (58) - - - (58)
At 31 December 2010 191 - 5,410 30,021 - 35,622
Net book value at 31 December 2010 541 2,403 41,232 30,508 2,161 76,845

* Capitahisation adjustments relate to adjustments of the cost of assets to their final contract values afier finalisation of contract claims
with contractors

Depreciation charge for the year ended 31 December 2011 was HK$2,679 million (2010 HK$2,651 million), compnising
depreciation for the year of HK$2,679 nuilion (2010 HK$2,652 mullion) less mul (2010 HK$1 mullion) of capitalisation
adjustment

A. The lease term of the Group’s and the Company’s leasehold land 15 analysed as follows

The Group and the Company

in HKS million 2011 2010

At net book value
- long leases 142 146
- medum-term leases 385 395

527 541

The lease of the land on which civil works as well as plant and equipment are situated for Hong Kong transport
operations was granted to the Company under a running line lease which s coterminous with the Company’s franchse to
operate the mass transit railway under the Operating Agreement (notes 57A, 57B and 57C)
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Under the terms of the lease, the Company undertakes to keep and maintain all the leased areas, including underground
and overhead structures, at its own cost With respect to parts of the raillway sitwated 1n structures where access 1s
shared with other users, such as the Lantau Fixed Crossing, the Company’s obligation for maintenance 1s limited to the
railway only  All mamtenance costs mcurred under the terms of the lease have been dealt with as expenses relating to
Hong Kong transport operations 1n the consolidated profit and loss account

B. Al of the Group’s self-occupied land and buildings are held 1n Hong Kong under medium-term leases and carried at
fair value  All self-occupied land and buildings were revalued at open market value on an existing use bas:s at 31
December 2011 by an independent firm of surveyors, Jones Lang LaSalle Limited, who have among their staff Members
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors The valuation resulted 1n a revaluation surplus of HK$564 mullion (2010
HK$341 milhion), which, net of deferred tax provision of HK$93 nullion (2010 HKS$56 mullion) (note 22B), has been
recognised 1n other comprehensive income and accumulated 1n fixed assets revaluation reserve account (note 51)

The carrying amount of the self-occupied land and buildings at 31 December 2011 would have been HK$874 million
(2010 HK$899 million) had the land and buildings been stated at cost less accumulated depreciation

C. Assets under construction include capital works on operating raillway

D. The Group leases out investment properties and station kiosks, mncluding duty free shops, under operating leases
The leases typically run for an imtial penod of one to ten years, with an option to renew the lease after that date, at which
time all terms will be renegotiated Lease payments are usually adjusted annually to reflect market rentals  Certain
leases above carry additional rental based on turnover, some of which are with reference to thresholds  Lease incentives
granted are amortised 1 the consolidated profit and loss account as an 1ntegral part of the net lease payment receivable

The gross carrying amounts of investment properties of the Group and the Company held for use 1n operating leases were
HK$51.453 mullion (2010 HK$45,314 milhon) and HK$50,287 mllion (2010 HK$44,166 milhon) respectively The
gross carrying amounts of station kiosks of the Group and the Company held for use 1 operating leases were HK$585
mullion (2010 HK$551 million) and the related accumulated depreciation charges were HK$221 mullion (2010 HK$190
milhion)

Total future mmimum lease receipts under non-cancellable operating leases are recervable as follows

The Group The Company
i HKE million 2011 2010 2011 2010
Within 1 year 4,101 3,846 3,311 3,592
After 1 year but within 5 years 5,777 5,486 4,963 4,664
Later than 5 years 336 391 239 74
10,214 9,723 9,013 8,330

E. In March 2003, the Group entered into a series of structured transactions with unrelated third parties to lease out and
lease back certain of 1ts passenger cars (“Lease Transaction”) mnvolving a total original cost of HK$2,562 million and a
total net book value of HK$1,674 million as at 31 March 2003  Under the Lease Transaction, the Group has leased the
assets to institutional investers m the Unmited States (the “Investors”™), who have prepaid all the rentals 1n relation to the
lease agreement  Simultaneously, the Group has leased the assets back from the Investors based on terms ranging from
21 to 29 years with an obligation to pay rentals 1n accordance with a pre-determined payment schedule  The Group has
an option to purchase the Investors’ leaschold mterest in the assets at the expiry of the lease term for fixed amounts
Part of the rental prepayments recerved from the Investors has been invested 1n debt securities to meet the Group's rental
obligations and the amount payable for exercising the purchase option under the Lease Transaction  The Group has an
obligation to replace these debt securities with other debt securities 1n the event those securities do not meet certamn credit
ratings requirements  In addition, the Group has provided standby letters of credit to the Investors to cover additional
amounts payable by the Group 1n the event the transactions are terminated prior io the expiry of the lease terms

The Group retans legal title to the assets and there are no restrictions on the Group’s ability to utilise these assets in the
operation of the raillway business

As a result of the Lease Transaction, an amount of approximately HK$3,688 mullion was received 1n an mvestment

account and was used to purchase debt secunities (“Defeasance Securities™) to be used to settle the long-term lease
payments with an estimated net present value 1n March 2003 of approximately HK$3,533 mullion  Thus resulted in the
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Group having received 1n 2003 an amount of HK$141 million net of costs  As the Group 1s not able to control the
mvestment account 1 pursuit of 1ts own objectives and 1ts obligations to pay the lease payments are funded by the
proceeds of the above investments, those obligations and mvestments m the Defeasance Secunties were not recognised m
March 2003 as hiabilities and assets of the Group The net amount of cash recerved was accounted for as deferred
wmcome by the Group

Dunng 2008, credit ratings of some of these Defeasance Secunities were downgraded and subsequently these securities
were replaced by standby letters of credit issued to the relevant Investors to support the corresponding payment
obhigations

25 Service Concession Assets

Movements and analysis of the Group and the Company’s service concession assets are as follows

The Group
KCRC Rail Merger
Imtial Additional Shenzhen
CONCESSION  CONCESSI0N Longhua Stockholm
in HKS milhon property property Line Metro Total
2011
Cost
At 1 January 2011 15,226 1,818 5,429 91 22,564
Net additions dunng the year - 630 2,122 - 2,752
Disposal - (5) - - )]
Transfer from other property, plant and
equipment (note 24) - 15 - - 15
Exchange differences - - 304 3) 301
At 31 December 2011 15,226 2,458 7,855 88 25,627
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2011 939 142 2 14 1,097
Charge for the year 304 130 156 13 603
Written-off on disposal - - - - -
Exchange differences - - 1 (2) (1)
At 3] December 2011 1,243 272 159 25 1,699
Net book value at 31 December 2011 13,983 2,186 7,696 63 23,928
2010
Cost
At | Jannary 2010 15,226 1,183 3,539 88 20,036
Net additions duning the year - 566 1,757 - 2,323
Disposal - () - - ()
Transfer from other property, plant and
equipment (note 24) - 74 - - 74
Exchange differences - - 133 3 136
At 31 December 2010 15,226 1,818 5,429 91 22,564
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2010 634 50 - 1 685
Charge for the year 305 95 2 12 414
Written-off on disposal - 3 - - 3)
Exchange differences - - - 1 1
At 3] December 2010 939 142 2 14 1,097
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Net book value at 31 December 2010 14,287 1,676 5,427 77 21,467
The Company
Imitial Additional
concession concession
in HKS million property property Total
2011
Cost
At 1 January 2011 15,226 1,818 17,044
Net additiens during the year - 630 630
Disposal - (5) (5)
Transfer from other property, plant and equipment (note 24) - 15 15
At 31 December 2011 ) 15,226 2,458 17,684
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2011 939 142 1,081
Charge for the year 304 130 434
Written-off on disposal - - -
At 31 December 2011 1,243 272 1,515
Net book value at 31 December 2011 13,983 2,186 16,169
2010
Cost
At 1 January 2010 15,226 1,183 16,409
Net additions during the year - 566 566
Dhasposal - (5) )
Transfer from other property, plant and equipment (note 24) - 74 74
At 31 December 2010 15,226 1,818 17,044
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 January 2010 634 50 684
Charge for the year 305 95 400
Written-off on disposal - 3 3)
At 31 December 2010 Q39 142 1,081
Net book value at 31 December 2010 14,287 1,676 15,963

Imitial concession property relates to the payments recogmsed at inception of the Rail Merger with KCRC while
additional concession property relates to the expenditures for the replacement and/or upgrade of the imtial concession
property after inception of the Rail Merger
26 Property Management Rights

Property management rights relate to the rights acquired by the Company from KCRC n the Rail Merger 1n respect of
existing and future managed propertes on the Appointed Day

The Group and The Company

it HK§ million 2011 2010

Cost at 1 January and 31 December 40 40
Accumulated amortisation at 1 January and 31 December 9 9
Net book value at 31 December 31 31
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27 Railway Construction in Progress
The Group and The Company

Transfer from

deferred
Balance at expenditure Balance at

in HK$ mithon 1 January (note 30) Expenditure 31 December
2011
West Island Line Project
Construction costs 3,955 - 2,682 6,637
Consultancy fees 430 - 50 480
Staff costs and other expenses 750 - 308 1,058
Interest income 58 - (78) (136)
Uulisation of government grant (5,077} - (2,962) (8,039)
South Island Line (East) Project
Construction costs - 41 1,653 1,694
Consultancy fees - 394 37 431
Staff costs and other expenses - 277 165 442
Finance costs - 23 22 45

- 735 1,877 2,612
Kwun Tong Line Extension Project
Construction costs - 18 500 518
Consultancy fees - 137 39 176
Staff costs and other expenses - 123 121 244
Finance costs - 8 8 16

- 286 668 954
Total - 1,021 2,545 3,566
2010
West Island Line Project
Construction costs 891 - 3,064 3,955
Consultancy fees 364 - 66 430
Staff costs and other expenses 418 - 332 750
Fmance costs/(interest income) 12 - (70) (58)
Utilisation of government grant (1,685) - (3.392) (5.077)
Total - - - -

A. West Istand Line (“WIL”) Project

On 13 July 2009, the Company entered nto a Project Agreement with HKSAR Government for the financing, design,
construction and operation of the WIL and related services and faciliies

Pursuant to the agreement, HKS AR Government provided a grant of HK$12,252 rmllion to the Company 1n March 2010
(having already made HK$400 mullion available i February 2008 under a prehimanary project agreement)  This grant 1s
subject 10 a repayment mechanism whereby, withuin 24 months of commercial operations commencing on the WIL, the
Company will pay to HKSAR Government amounts to reflect the excess of the onginal estimation over actual costs
ncurred on certain capital expenditure, price escalation costs, land costs and the amount of contingency in relation to the
raillway and related works (together with 1nterest)

The project 1s targeted to complete in 2014 Total capital cost for the project based on the defined scope of works and

programme 1s estimated at HK$17,117 malhon As at 31 December 2011, the Company has incurred cumulative
expenditure of HK$8,039 mullion (2010 HK$5,077 million), which was wholly offset by the government grant, and has
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authonsed outstanding commitments on contracts totalling HK$5,324 mullion (2010 HK$7,042 mullion) and estimated
future project costs of HK$3,754 miliion 1n relation to the project (note 58)

B. South Island Line (East) (“SIL{E)”) Project

On 17 May 2011, the Company entered intc a Project Agreement with HKSAR Government for the financing, design,
construction and operation of the SIL{(E)

The project 1s targeted to complete 1n 2015 Total capital cost for the project based on the defined scope of works and
programme 1s estimated at HK$15,273 nulhon As at 31 December 2011, the Company has incurred cumulative
expenditure of HK$2,612 mullion and has authorised cutstanding commitments on contracts totalling HK$5,326 mullion
and estimated future project costs of HK$7,335 mullion n relation to the project (note 58)

C. Kwun Tong Line Extension (“KTE”) Project

On 17 May 2011, the Company entered 1nto a Project Agreement with HKSAR Government for the financing, design,
construction and operation of the KTE

The project 1s targeted to complete in 2015 Total capatal cost for the project based on the defined scope of works and
programme 1s estimated at HK$6,511 millhion As at 31 December 2011, the Company has incurred cumulative
expenditure of HK$954 mullion and has authorised outstanding commitments on contracts totaliing HK$2,449 mlhon
and esttmated future project costs of HK$3,108 million mn relation to the project (note 58)

28 Other Railway Construction in Progress under Entrustment by Kowloon-Canton Railway
Corporation or HKSAR Government

A. Kowloon Southern Link (“KSL™) Project

Pursuant to the KSL Project Management Agreement, which was the one of the principal agreements of the Rail Merger,
the Company acted as a project management agent to KCRC i respect of the construction of the KSL, which was
completed and commenced operation on 16 August 2009  Duning the year ended 31 December 2011, HK$3 mulhion of
project management fee (2010 HK$52 mullion of project management fee and HK3$55 mullion of incentive payment) was
recognised as income tn the conschdated profit and loss account

B. Hong Kong Section of the Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link (*XRL”} Project

On 24 November 2008, HKSAR Government and the Company entered into an entrustment agreement for the design of
and site investigation and procurement activities in relation to the XRL (“Prelimmary Entrustment Agreement”)
Pursuant to the Prelimimnary Entrustment Agreement, the Company shall carry out or procure the carrying out of the
design, site investigation and procurement activities and HKSAR Government shall fund directly the total cost of such
activities and pay to the Company a maximum amount of HK$1 5 billion 1n respect of certain costs incurred by the
Company, including the Company’s 1mn-house design costs and certain on-costs and prehminary costs

On 26 January 2010, HKSAR Government and the Company entered mto another entrustment agreement for the
construction, testing and commussioning of the XRL (“Entrustment Agreement”) Pursuant to the Entrustment
Agreement, the Company shall be responsibie for the construction, testing and commissioning of the XRL and HKSAR
Government 1s responsible as the owner of XRL to fund directly the total cost of such activities and pay to the Company
HK$4,590 million 1n respect of the Company’s management of the project  Such sum may be vanied 1n accordance with
the terms of the Entrustment Agreement but 1s subject to a maximum annual limit of HK$2,000 million and a total limat
of HK$10 billion In addition, HKSAR Government has agreed that the Company will be invited to undertake the
operanon of the XRL under the service concession approach

DPuring the year ended 31 December 2011, project management revenue of HK$585 mullion (2010 HK$433 million) was
recognised in the consohidated profit and loss account

C. Shatin to Central Link (“SCL™) Project
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On 24 November 2008, HKSAR Government and the Company entered into an entrustment agreement for the design of
and site mvestigation and procurement activities in relation to the SCL (“Preliminary Entrustment Agreement™)

Pursuant to the Preluminary Entrustment Agreement, the Company shall carry out or procure the carrving out of the
design, site mvestigation and procurement activities and HKSAR Government shall fund directly the total cost of such
actrvities and pay to the Company a maximum amount of HK$1 5 billion 1n respect of certamn costs mcurred by the
Company, mcluding the Company’s m-house design costs and certain on-costs and preliminary costs

On 17 May 2011, the Company entered 1nto another entrustment agreement with HKSAR Government for the financing,
construction, procurement of services and equipment and other matiers associated with certain enabling works on the
expanded Admtralty Station and the to be constructed Ho Man Tin Station, the reprovisioming of the International Mail
Centre from Hung Hom to Kowloon Bay and other ancillary works mn relation to the SCL (“Entrustment Agreement™)
Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement, the Company shall carry out or procure the carrying out of the agreed works and
tecerve from HKSAR Government a project management fee while HKSAR Government shall bear and pay to the
Company all the work costs The maximum aggregate amount payable by HKSAR Government to the Company 1s
hnuted to HK$3,000 mulhion per annum and HK$15 billion n total

29 Property Development in Progress

Pursuant to the project agreements 1n respect of the construction of raillway extensions and the Property Package
Agreements 1n respect of the Rail Merger, HKSAR Government has granted the Company development rights on the
lands over the stations along railway lmes ~ As at 31 December 2011, the outstanding property developments include the
Tseung Kwan O Extension Property Projects at depot sites along the Tsueng Kwan O Line, the East Rail Line/Kowloon
Southern Link/Light Rail Property Projects at five development sites along the East Rail Line, Kowloon Scuthern Link
and Light Rail, South Island Line (East) Property Project at a site tn Wong Chuk Hang and Kwun Tong Line Extension
Property Project at a site m Ho Man Tim

Costs mcurred by the Company for the acqusition of property development nights and preparation of the sites for
development including land premium are capitalised as property development in progress and offset by payments
recerved from developers in respect of the same development In cases where payments received from developers
exceed the related expenditure mcurred by the Company, such excess 1s recorded as deferred income (note 29B) In
these cases, any subsequent expenditure incurred by the Company 1n respect of that development will be charged against
deferred mcome  The remaining deferred mcome 18 to be recogmised as profits of the Company at the appropnate tume
after taking into account the outstanding nsks and obligations retained by the Company relating to each development
Until such time as deferred income 1s recognised as profit, 1t 1s recorded as a ltability of the Company 1n recogmtion of
the Company's obligations under the grant of the development nghts

Duning the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company’s two wholly owned subsidiaries, MTR Corporation (Shenzhen)
Limited and MTR Property (Shenzhen) Company Limited, won the bad for Lot 1 of the Shenzhen Metro Longhua Line
Depot Site The two subsidianes will incorporate a project company in the Mamland of China te undertake residential
and commercial development of the site (“Shenzhen Property Project”™) Part of the net profits generated from this
property development will be shared with the Shenzhen Municipal Government

A. Property Development in Progress

The Group
Offset
Transfer against
from payments
deferred received  Transfer out
Balance at  expenditure from on project Balance at
tn HKS muilion 1 January (note 30) Expenditure  developers  completion 31 December
2011
Auarport Railway Property Projects - - 4 “ - -
Tseung Kwan O Extension Property
Projects 1,151 - 159 (4] (213) 1,088
East Rail Line/Kowloon Southem 7.977 - 123 v - 8,081
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Link/Light Rail Property Projects
South Island Line {East) Property Project
Kwun Tong Line Extension Property

Project
Shenzhen Property Project

2010

Aarport Railway Property Projects

Tseung Kwan O Extension Property
Projects

East Rail Line/Kowloon Southern
Link/Light Rail Property Projects

The Company

tn HKS8 million

2011

Aarport Raillway Property Projects

Tseung Kwan O Extension Property
Projects

East Rail Line/Kowloon Southern
Link/Light Rail Property Projects

South Island Line (East) Property Project

Kwun Tong Line Extension Property
Project

Shenzhen Property Project

2010

Aarport Railway Property Projects

Tseung Kwan O Extension Property
Projects

East Raill Line/Kowloon Southern
Link/Light Rail Property Projects

- 32 253 - - 285
- 4 61 - - 65
- - 2,445 - - 2,445
9,128 36 3,045 (32) (213) 11,964
- - 14 (14) - -
2,245 - 331 (12) (1,413) 1,151
4,473 - 4,027 (523) - 1,977
6,718 - 4,372 (549) (1,413) 9,128

Offset

Transfer agamnst

from payments

deferred received Transfer out

Balance at  expenditure from on praoject Balance at
| January (note 30) Expenditure  devclopers completion 31 December
- - 4 ey - -
1,151 - 159 (&) (213) 1,088
7,977 - 123 a9 - 8,081
- 32 253 - - 285
- 4 61 - - 65
- - 2 - - 2
9,128 36 602 (32) (213) 9,521
- - 14 (14) - -
2,245 - 331 (12) (1,413) 1,151
4,473 - 4,027 (523) - 7.977
6,718 - 4,372 (549) (1,413) 9,128

East Rail Line/Kowloon Southern Link/Light Rail Property Projects include the acqusition cost for the property
development nghts on the development sites from KCRC and mandatory payments in respect of enabling works carmed
out by KCRC for such sites  As at 31 December 2011, cutstanding mandatory payments including interest accrued
Expenditure during the year ended 31 December 2010 included

amounted to HK$720 mliton (2010 HK$699 million)
HK$3,900 million of land premium 1n respect of the property development of Austin Station Sites C and D

Shenzhen Property Project includes the price for Lot 1 of the Shenzhen Metro Longhua Line Depot Site of RMB1,977
milhen (HK$2,438 mullion) In this regard, HK$493 mllion, representng an equivalent amount of RMB400 mullion,
has been deposited into the foreign currency bank account of the Shenzhen Land Exchange Centre

B. Deferred Income on Property Development

The Group and The Company
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Payments Offsct against Amount
received  development recognised as
Balance at from in progress profit Balance at
i HKS miltion | January developers {note 29A) (note 12} 31 December
201%
Aarport Railway Property Projects 38 - G)] - 34
Tseung Kwan O Extension Property Projects 43 - &) - 34
East Rail Line/Kowloon Southern Link/Light
Rail Property Projects 487 - (19 (468) -
568 - (32) (468) 08
2010
Airport Railway Property Projects 69 - (14) (17 38
Tseung Kwan O Extension Property Projects 55 - (12) - 43
East Rail Line/Kowloon Southern Link/Light
Rail Property Projects - 1,010 (523) - 487
124 1,010 (549) (17 568

C. Stakeholding Funds

Being the stakeholder under certain Awport Railway, Tseung Kwan O Extension and East Rail Line Property Projects,
the Company receives and manages deposit momes and sales proceeds n respect of sales of properties under those
developments These monues are placed 1n separate designated bank accounts and, together with any interest earned, are
to be released to the developers for the reimbursement of costs of the respective developments in accordance with the
terms and conditions of the Government Consent Schemes and development agreements  Any balance remaimng 1s to
be released for distmbution only after all obligations relating to the developments have been met  Accordingly, the
balances of the stakeholding funds and the corresponding bank balances have not been mncluded 1n the Group’s and the
Company’s balance sheets Movements 1n stakeholding funds during the year are as follows

The Group and The Company

tn HKS mullion 2011 2010
Balance as at 1 January 3,708 6,455
Stakeholding funds received 25,039 43,110
Add Interest earned thereon 15 18
28,762 49,583
Disbursements during the year (23,926) (45,875)
Balance as at 31 December 4,836 3,708
Represented by
Balances 1n designated bank accounts as at 31 December 4,834 3,706
Retention receivable 2 2
4,836 3,708

In addition to the above, there are certain deposit momes and sales proceeds in respect of an East Rail Line property
development site, amountung to HK$2,410 mullion at 31 December 2011 (2010 HK$1,225 mulhion) that are under the
custody of the solicitors and managed by the Company on behalf of KCRC as KCRC’s agent

D. West Rail Property Developments

As part of the Rail Merger, the Company was appointed to act as the agent of KCRC and certain KCRC subsidiary
companies (“West Rail Subsidianies™) in the development of specified development sites along the West Rail  The
Company will receive an agency fee of 0 75% of the gross sale proceeds n respect of the developments except for the
Tuen Mun development on which the Company will receive 10% of the net profits accrued under the development
agreement  The Company will also recover from the West Rail Subsidianes all the costs incurred 1n respect of the West
Rail development sites plus 16 5% on-cost, together with interest accrued thereon  Durning the year ended 31 December
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2011, the retmbursable costs incurred by the Company including on-cost and interest accrued were HK$96 million (2010

HK$60 miilion)

30 Deferred Expenditure

The Group and the Company

i HKS million 2011 2010

Balance at 1 January 1,079 558
Expenditure during the year 3 521
Transfer to investment properties (note 23) (11} -
Transfer to rallway construction in progress (note 27) (1,021) -
Transfer to property development 1n progress {note 29) (36) -
Balance at 31 December 14 1,079

Upon sigming of the Project Agreements n relaton to the South Island Line (East) (“SIL(E)”) and Kwun Tong Line
Extension (“KTE”) on 17 May 2011, expenditures previously incurred for the SIL{(E) (HK$735 mulion on railway
construction and HK$32 nullion on property development) and KTE (HK$286 million on railway construction and HK$4
milhon on property development) were transferred to raillway construction m progress (note 27) and property
development 1n progress (note 29) Deferred expenditure as at 31 December 2011 mainly related to property
development project studies

31 Interests in Non-controlled Subsidiaries

The Group The Company
wn HKE milhon 2011 2010 2011 2010
Unlisted shares, at cost - - 24 24
Share of net assets 579 541 - -
579 541 24 24

The following list contams the particulars of all major non-controlled subsidianes of the Group
Proportion of ownership interest

Issued and paid  Group’s Held by Place of
up ordinary  effective the Held by 1incorporation
Name of company share capital mnterest Company subsidiary and operation Principal activities
Octopus Holdings Limited HK$42,000,000 574% 57 4% - Hong Kong Investment holding
Octopus Cards Limited HK$42,000,000 574% - 100% Hong Kong Qperate a contactless
smartcard common
payment system in
Hong Kong
Octopus China Investments HK$1 574% - 100% Hong Kong Investment holding
Limated
Octopus Connect Linmited HK$2 57 4% - 100% Hong Kong Dormant
Octopus International Projects HK3$1 57 4% - 100% Hong Kong Investment holding
Lirmited
Octopus Investments Limited HK$2 57 4% - 100% Hong Kong Invesiment holding
Octopus Knowledge Limited HK$2 574% - 100% Hong Keng  Consultancy services on

ntreducing a smartcard
system 1n Dubai
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Octopus Netherlands Limited HKS$1 57 4% - 100% Hong Kong  Consultancy services on
ntroducing a smartcard
systern in the

Netherlands

Octopus Payments Limited HK$2 57 4% - 100% Hong Kong Project management
Octopus Rewards Limited HK$1 57 4% - 100% Hong Kong Develop and operate a
common loyalty scheme

Octopus Solutions Limited HK$2 57 4% - 100% Hong Kong Consultancy services
n Auckland

Octopus Systems Limited HK$2 57 4% - 100% Hong Kong Consultancy services
in Hong Kong

Octopus Transactions Limited HK$2 57 4% - 100% Hong Kong Project management
Octopus Cards Macau Limited MQOP25,000 57 4% - 100% Macau  Promote the contactless

smartcard common
payment system n
Macau

Octopus Cards Limited (“OCL”) was formed i 1994 by the Company and four other local transport compames to
undertake the development and operation of the "Octopus”" contactless smart card ticketing system  In 2000, the Hong
Kong Monetary Authonty ("HKMA") approved OCL to become a deposit-taking company ("DTC") and extend the use
of Octopus cards to non-transport related services  In 2001, the Company disposed 10 4% of the shareholding 1nterest
of OCL to certan other shareholders of OCL for a considerauon of HK$16 mullion, together with a deferred
consideration to be received in the event of OCL subsequently becoming a stock exchange histed company  In 2005,
OCL undertook a company re-structuring to separate OCL's regulated payment businesses and non-payment businesses
by setting up a new holding company, Octopus Holdings Limited ("OHL"), to hold the entire 1ssued share capital of OCL
as well as other companies established for the non-payment businesses The Company’s effective interest in OHL and
CHL’s subsidianies remains unchanged at 57 4% and the Company’s appointees to the OHL’s Board of Directors are
hmited to 49% of the voting nghts at board meetungs

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Company mcurred HK$116 million (2010 HK$109 mullion) of expenses
for the central clearing services provided by OCL  OCL mcurred HK$29 nullion (2010 HK$48 million) of expenses
for the load agent and Octopus card 1ssuance and refund services, computer equipment and relating services, staff
secondment, project administration services as well as warehouse storage space provided by the Company During the
year, OHL distnibuted dividends of HK$144 million (2010 HK$75 milhion) to the Company

The condensed consolidated profit and loss account and the balance sheet for OHL are shown below

Consolidated Profit and Loss Acconnt

Year ended 31 December 2011 2010
in HK$ mullion (Audited) (Audited)
Turmnover 704 662
Other operating 1ncome 8 6
712 668
Staff costs (126) (119}
Load agent fees and bank charges for add value services (38) (80)
Other expenses (148) {(222)
Operating profit before depreciation 350 247
Depreciation (38) (43)
Operating profit before interest and finance charges 312 204
Net interest income 54 56
Share of ioss from a jointly controlled entity (4 (2)
Profit before taxation 362 258
Income tax 45) (39)
Profit for the year 317 219
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Group's share of profit before taxation (note 16)

Group's share of income tax {note 16)

Consolidated Balance Sheet

at 31 December
in HKS nullhion

Assets

Fixed assets

Investments

Other assets

Cash at banks and on hand

Liabilities

Card floats and card deposits due to cardholders
Amounts due to related parties

Other habilities

Net assets

Equity

Share capital
Exchange reserve
Retained profits

Group's share of net assets

32 Investments in Subsidiaries
The Company

in HKE mullion
Unlisted shares, at cost

208 148
(26) (22)

2011 2010

(Audited) (Audited)

216 189
2,641 2,195
358 277
517 671
3,732 3,332
(2,244) (2,004)
(55) 24)
(423) (362)
2,722) (2,390)
1,010 942
42 42
1 -
967 900
1,010 942
579 541

2011 2010
1,260 1,256

Investments 1n subsidianies include HK$24 mallion (2010 HK$24 mulhion) 1n respect of investments in non-controlled

subsidianes, the relevant details of which are disclosed n note 31

The following list contains details of controlled

subsidianes as defined under note 2C as at 31 December 2011, which have been consolidated into the Group's accounts

Proportion of ownership interest

Issued and paid up  Group's Held by Place of
ordinary/ registered  effective the Held by  incorporaticn
Name of company share capital  1nterest Company subsidiary  and operation Principal activities
Subsidianes held throughout 2611
Glory Goal Limited HK$10,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong  Investment holding
Hanford Garden Property HK$10,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong Property
Management Company Limited management
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Name of company
MTR (Estates Management)
Limited

MTR. (Shanghai Project
Management} Limated

MTR Beijing Line 4 Investment
Company Limited

MTR Building Works Company
Lumited
(previcusly Rail Sourcing
Solutions (International)
Limited)

MTR China Commercial
Management No 1 Holdings
Limated

MTR China Consultancy Company
Limited

MTR China Property Holdings
Limited
{previously Extensive Growth
Limited)y

MTR China Property Limited

MTR Engineering Services
Limited

MTR Hangzhou Line | Investment
Company Limited

MTR Informauon Solutions
Company Limited

MTR Property Agency Co
Limited

MTR Property (Beying) No 1
Company Limited

MTR Property (Shenzhen)
Company Limited

MTR Rail Transport Traimng
(International) Company
Limited

MTR Shenyang Holdings Lumuited

MTR Shenyang Investment
Holdings Limited

2011 Accounts and Notes v7 doc

Proportion of ownership interest

Issued and paid up  Group's Held by Place of
ordinary/ registered  effective the Held by  incorporation
share capital  interest Company subsidiary and operation  Principal activities
HK$1,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong Investment heolding
and property
management
HK$1,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong Railway
consultancy
services, property
investment and
development
HK$1 100% 100% - Hong Kong Investment holding
HKS$2 100% 100% - Hong Kong  General building,
maintenance and
engineering works
HK$1,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong Investment holding
HK$1,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong Railway
consultancy
services
HKS$I1 100% 100% - Hong Kong Investment holding
HK$1,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong Property
management
HK$1,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong Engineering
services
HK$1,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong Investment holding
HK$1,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong License MTR
software to MTR’s
subsidianes and
associates
HK$2 100% 100% - Hong Kong Property agency
HK$1 100% - 100% Heng Kong Property
development,
mmvestment and
management
HKS1 100% 100% - Hong Kong Property
development,
investment and
management
HK$2,800,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong Provide rail
transport training mn
Maintand China
HKE§1,000 100% 100% - Hong Kong Investment holding
HK$1 100% 100% - Hong Kong I[nvestment holding
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Name of company
MTR Shenyang Property No 1
Linuted

MTR Shenzhen Investment
Holding Lirmted

MTR Telecommumcation
Company Limited

MTR Travel Limited

Ngong Ping 360 Limited

Pierhead Garden Management
Company Limited

Royal Ascot Management
Company Limited

Sun Tuen Mun Centre
Management Company Limited

TraxComm Limited

V-Connect Limited

360 Hohdays Limited

Metro Trains Melbourne Pty
Ltd *

Fasttrack Insurance Ltd
Candiman Limited *

MTR Corporation (C I ) Lim:ited

MTR Finance Lease (001) Limuted

MTR Stockholm AB

Chongqing Premier Property
Management Company
Limted *

2011 Accounts and Notes v7 doc

Issued and paid up
ordinary/ registered

share capital
HK$!

HK$400,000

HK$100,000,000

HK$2,500,000
HK$2

HK$50,000

HK$50,000

HK$50,000

HK$15,000,000

HK$1,000

HK$500,000

AUD16,250,000

HK$77,500,000

US$1

US$1,000

US$1

SEK40,000,000

US$150,000

Proportion of ownership interest

Group's Held by Place of
effective the Heldby  incorporation
interest Company subsidiary  and operation
100% - 100% Hong Kong
100% 100% - Hong Kong
1060% 100% - Hong Kong
100% 100% - Hong Kong
100% 100% - Hong Kong
100% 1060% - Hong Kong
100% 100% - Hong Kong
100% 100% - Hong Kong
100% 1H00% - Hong Kong
100% 100% - Hong Kong
100% - 100% Hong Kong
60% on 60% on - Australia
ordinary  ordinary
shares, shares,
30% on  30% on
Class A Class A
shares shares
1060% 100% - Bermuda
100% 100% - Bntish Virgin
[slands
100% 100% - Cayman
Istands / Hong
Kong
100% 100% - Cayman
Islands / Hong
Kong
100% - 100% Sweden
70% - 70% The People's
Republic of
China

Brncipal activities
Property
development,
investment and
management

Investment holding

Mobile
telecommumcation
services

Travel services

Operate the Tung
Chung to Ngong
Ping cable car
sysiem and Theme
Village in Ngong
Ping

Property

management

Property
management

Property
management

Fixed
telecommunication
network services

Mobile
telecommunication
network services

Guided tour
services

Railway operations
and
maintenance

Insurance
underwriting

Investment holding

Finance

Finance

Railway operations
and
maintenance

Property
management
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Name of company

MTR (Beijing) Commercial
Facilies Management Co ,
Lid

MTR (Beijing) Property Services
Company Lymited *

MTR Commercial Management
(Beying) Company Limited *

MTR Consultancy (Beijing) Co
Limiated (Incorporated)

MTR Consulting {(Shenzhen) Co
Lid (Incorporated)

MTR Corporation (Shenzhen)
Limited (Incorporated)

MTR Corporation (Shenzhen)
Traiming Centre *
{Incorporated)

Shanghai Hong Kong Metro
Construction Management Co
Lid (Incorporated)

MTR Corporation {Silverlink)
Limted

MTR Corporation {UK) Limited

Subsidiaries established during
2011

MTR Property (Tianjin) No 1
Company Limited

MTR Property (Tianjin} No 2
Company Limited

* Subsidiaries not audited by KPMG

Proportion of ownership interest

Issued and paidup  Group's Held by
ordmary/ registered  effective the Held by
share capital  nterest Company subsidiary
HK $93,000,000 100% - 100%
RMB3,000,000 100% 100% -
HK$120,000 100% - 100%
HK$4,200,000 100% 100% -
HK$1,000,000 100% 100% -
HK$2,636,000,000 100% - 100%
RMB2,000,000 100% - 100%
HK$15,000,000 60% - 60%
GBPI 100% - 100%
GBP29 100% 100% -
HK$I1 100% - 100%
HKS$1 100% - 100%

Place of
incorporation
and operation

The People's
Republic of
China

The People's
Republic of
China

The People's
Republic of
China

The People's
Republic of
China

The People's
Repubhic of
China

The People's
Republic of
China

The People’s
Republic of
China

The People's
Repubhc of
China

Umited
Kingdom

United
Kingdom

Hong Kong

Hong Kong

Pnncipal activities
Property leasing
and management

Property
management

Business
management,
business
consultancy,
commercial
facilihes strategy
and consultancy
services, and
corporate training
management

Railway
consultancy
services, marketing
and promotion

Railway
consultancy
SErvices

Railway
construction,
operation and
management

Provide rail
transport training

Railway
construction
management and
development

Investment holding

[nvestment holding

Property
development,

investment and
management

Property
development,
investment and
management

During the year ended 31 December 2011, MTR (Macau) Property Management Company Limited was wound up and
resolution was passed to disselve Shanghair Hong Kong Metro Construction Management Co Lid
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33 Interests in Associates
The Group

wn HKS million 2011 2010
Share of net assets 948 836

The Group and the Company had interests 1n the following associates as at 31 December 2011

Proportion of ownership interest

Issued and paid up Group's Place of
ordinary/registered effective Held by  incorporation Principal
Name of company share capital interest subsidiary  and operation activities
Beiying MTR Corporation Limited RMB1,380,000,000 49% 49% The People's Railway
(Incorporated) Republic of construction,
China operation,
management and
development
Shenyang M TR Corporation Limited RMB 100,000,000 49% 49%  The People's Railway
Republic of operation and
China management
Tunnelbanan Teknik Stockholm AB SEK30,000,000 50% 50% Sweden Railway
maintenance
Londen Overground Rail Operations GBP2 50% 50% United Railway
Ltd (“LOROL™) * Kingdom management

* Companies not audited by KPMG

The Company has reached agreement with the other parent company of Shenyang MTR Corporation Limited (“Shenyang
MTR™) to wind up Shenyang MTR  The request for approval has been submitted to the Shenyang Municipal
Government and the process for liquidation has started

During the year ended 31 December 2011, Tunnelbanan Teknik Stockholm AB provided rolling stock maintenance and
other supporting services to MTR Stockholm AB at an amount of SEK520 million (HK$629 mullion) (2010 SEKS5I11
million or HK$550 million) MTR Stockholm AB leased depots, depot equpment and provided other supporting
services to Tunnelbanan Tekmk Stockholm AB at a total amount of SEK108 rulhon (HK$131 mullion) (2010 SEK114
million or HK§$122 milhon)

Durning the same year, the Company provided staff secondment, information technology and other support services to
Beymg MTR Corporation Limited at a total amount of HK$19 million (2010 HK$32 million) Dunng the year ended
31 December 2010, the Company provided staff secondment and consultancy service to LOROL at an amount of HK$1
mulhon

The summary financial information of the Group's effective mterests 1n associates 1s as follows

i HK'$ mithon 2011 2010

Non-current assets 2,319 2,435
Current assets 793 747
Non-current habilities (860) (972)
Current habilities (1,304) (1,374)
Net assets 948 836
Income 1,760 1,612
Expenses (1,608) (1,590)
Profit before taxation 152 22
Income tax 37) )
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Net profit for the year 115 13

34 Investments in Securities

Investments 1n secunties, representing bank medium term notes held by the Company and debt secunities held by the
overseas mnsurance underwntng subsidiary, compnse

The Group
1in HK3 miliron 2011 2010
Held-to-matunity securities, at amortised cost
- maturing within 1 year 2,626 1,000
- maturing after 1 year - 2,627
2,626 3,627
Trading secunties Listed overseas, at fair vaiue (Level 1, see note 36 for
definition)
- maturing within 1 year 126 67
- matunng after 1 year 222 218
348 285
2,974 3,912
The Company
tn HK$ mullion 2011 2010
Held-to-maturity securities, at amortised cost
- matunng within 1 year 2,626 1,000
- maturing after 1 year - 2,627
2,626 3,627
35 Properties Held for Sale
The Group and The Company
in HK$ million 2011 2010
Properues held for sale
- atcost 3,718 1,829
- at net realisable value 39 107
3,757 1,936

Properties held for sale at 31 December 2011 comprised mainly residential umits and car parking spaces at Festival City
at Tar Wa1 Mamtenance Centre and The Palazzo at Fo Tan Station along the East Rail Line and Lake Silver at Wu Kay
Sha Station along the Ma On Shan Line  They represent either properties received by the Company as shanng in kind
or as part of the profit distribution vpon completnon of the development  The properuies are stated on the balance sheet
at the Jower of cost, which 1s deemed to be thewr far value upon 1mtial recogmtion as determmed by reference to an
mdependent open market valuation at the date of receipt (notes 2K(1v) and (v)), and their net realisable value at the
balance sheet date  Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price less costs to be mncurred 1n selling the
properties  The net realisable values as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 were determined by reference to an open market
valuation of the properties as at those dates, undertaken by an independent firm of surveyors, Jones Lang LaSalle Limited,
who have among their staff Members of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors

Properties held for sale at net realisable value are stated net of provision of HK$18 nullion (2010 HK$12 muillion), made
in order to state these properties at the lower of their cost and estimated net realisable value
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36 Derivative Financial Assets and Liabilities
A. Fair Value

The contracted notional amounts, fair values and maturities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows of denvative
financtal instruments outstanding are as follows

The Group and The Company

Notional Fair
amount value Level* Contractual undiscounted cash flow matunng in
Less than Qver 5
tn HK$ million Iyear 1-2years 2-5 years years Total
2011
Derivative Financial Assets
Gross settled
Foreign exchange forwards
- cash flow hedges 86 3 2
- nflow 29 26 34 - 89
- outflow ) (26) (33 - (86)
- not qualified for hedge
accounting 6 - 2
- mflow 5 - - - 5
- outflow (&3] - - - {5)
Cross currency swaps
- fair value hedges 1,245 54 2
- inflow 37 811 6 470 1,324
- outflow (6) (785) - (465) (1,256)
Net settled
Interest rate swaps
- fair value hedges 2,833 287 2 134 95 78 34 341
- cash flow hedges 300 - 2 (1) ) 2 - -
- not qualified for hedge
accounting 388 - 2 - - - - -
4,858 344 166 12¢ 87 39 412
Derivative Financial Liabilities
Gross settled
Foreign exchange forwards
- cash flow hedges 83 4 2
- inflow 59 16 4 - 79
- outflow (62) a7 ) - (83)
- not qualified for hedge
accounting 174 7 2
- nflow 132 27 7 - 166
- outflow (138) 28) @) - 173)
Cross currency swaps
- fair value hedges 4,663 28 2
- mnflow 12 13 6,593 - 6,618
- outflow (18) 21 (6,609) - (6,648)
Net settled
Interest rate swaps
- cash flow hedges 1,912 112 2 (59) (48) (16) 3) (126)
6,832 151 (74) (58) (32) (3) (167)
Total 11,690
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in HKS mullion
2010
Dernivative Financial Assets
Gross settled
Foreign exchange forwards
- cash flow hedges
- mflow
- outflow
- not qualified for hedge
accounting
- mflow
- outflow
Cross currency swaps
- fair value hedges
- mflow
- outflow
Net settled
Interest rate swaps
- fair value hedges
- cash flow hedges

Derivative Financial Liabilities
Gross settled
Foreign exchange forwards
- cash flow hedges
- nflow
- outflow
- not quahfied for hedge
accounting
- mflow
- outflow
Cross currency swaps
- fair value hedges
- nflow
- outflow
Net settled
Interest rate swaps
- fair value hedges
- cash flow hedges

Total

* The levels are defined in HKFRS 7 as follows
Level 1 Fair values measured using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 1dentical financial mstruments

Level 2 Fair values measured using quoted prices wn active markets for similar financial wmstruments, or using valuation
techmques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly based on observable market data

Notional Fair
amount value Level® Contractual undiscounted cash flow maturing 1n
Less than Over 5

1year 1-2 years 2-5 years years Total

147 11 2
121 27 12 - 160
(112} (25) (12) - (149)

11 2 2
13 - - - 13
(1n - - - an

1,255 75 2
46 37 817 467 1,367
(15) (16) (792) (464)  (1,281)
2,834 280 2 102 123 91 18 334
350 7 2 N (5) 5 11 4
4,597 375 137 147 121 32 437

82 4 2
49 1% 8 - 76
(52) 20) (8) - (80)

126 - 2
108 17 4 - 129
(108) (17) @) - (129)

4,663 32 2
9 15 5,092 - 5,116
(15) (26} (5,1006) - (5,147)
- - ) - - - - -
1,312 112 2 {49) {42) (29) - (120)
6,186 148 {58) (54) (43) - (155)

10,783

Level 3 Fair values measured using valuation techmques in which any significant input 1s not based on observable market data

The discounted cash flow method, which discounts the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest and
foreign exchange rates that are available to the Group for simular financial mnstruments, 1s the main valuation techmque
used to determine the fair value of the Group's borrowings and denvauve financial instruments such as interest rate

swaps and cross currency swaps  The farr value of forward foreign exchange contracts 1s deterrmned using forward

exchange market rates at the balance sheet date
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The Group’s denvative financial mstruments consist predommantly of nterest rate and cross currency swaps, and the
relevant mnterest rate swap curves as of 31 December 2011 and 2010 were used to discount the cash flows of financial
mstruments  Interest rates used ranged from 0 250% to 1 877% (2010 0 045% to 3 407%) for Hong Kong dollars,
0 208% to 2 027% (2010 0 392% to 3 509%) for U S dollars and 0 677% to 2 381% (2010 0 379% to 3 393%) for Euro

The table above details the remaining contractual maturnties at the balance sheet date of the Group’s and the Company’s
denvative financial habilities and assets, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, 1f floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the earliest
date the Group and the Company can be required to pay

B. Financial Risks

The Group’s operating activities and financing activities expose 1t to four mamn types of financial risks, namely hquidity
nisk, mnterest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and credit nsk  The Group's overall nisk management policy focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and secks to mimnmuse potential adverse effects of these financial nsks on the
Group's financial performance

The Board of Directors provides principles for overall risk management and approves policies covering specific areas,
such as hiquidity risk, interest rate nisk, foreign exchange nisk, credit nisk, concentration nsk, use of derivative financial
mstruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess hquidity The Group’s Preferred
Fmancing Model (the “Model’} 1s an ntegral part of 1ts risk management policies  The Model specifies, amongst other
things, the preferred mix of fixed and floating rate debits, the permitted level of foreign currency debts and an adequate
length of financing honzon for coverage of forward funding requirements, agamnst which the Group’s financing related
hiquidity, interest rate and currency nisk exposures are measured, momtored and controlled The Board regularly
reviews its risk management polices and authorises changes 1f necessary based on operating and market conditions and
other relevant factors The Board also reviews on an annual basis as part of the budgeting process and authonses
changes 1f necessary to the Model 1n accordance with changes in market conditions and practical requirements

The use of denvative financial instruments to control and hedge against interest rate and foreign exchange nsk exposures
18 an ntegral part of the Group’s nsk management strategy  In accordance with Board policy, these instruments shall
only be used for controling or hedging nsk exposures, and cannot be used for speculation purposes All of the
derivative instruments used by the Group are over-the-counter derivatives compnsing principally interest rate swaps,
cross currency swaps and foreign exchange forward contracts

(1) Liquidity Rask

Liquidity nisk refers to the risk that funds are not available to meet hiabilities as they fall due, and 1t may result from
uming and amount mismatches of cash inflow and outflow

The Group employs projected cash flow analysis to manage liqudity nsk by forecasting the amount of cash required,
including working caprital, debt repayments, dividend payments, capital expenditures and new investments, and by
maintaimng sufficient cash balance and/or undrawn commutted banking facilihes to ensure these requirements are met
It adopts a prudent approach and will mamntain sufficient cash balance and committed banking facilities to provide
forward coverage of at least 6 to 15 months of projected cash requirements as specified in the Model The Group also
conducts stress testing of 1ts projected cash flow to analyse hquidity risk, and would arrange additional banking facilities
or debt 1ssuance or otherwise take approprate actions 1if such siress tests reveal sigmificant risk of matenal cash flow
shortfall

The following table details the remaimng contractual maturities at the balance sheet date of the Group's and the
Company's non-derivative financial liabiliies, which are based on contractual undiscounted cash flows (including
interest payments computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on rates current at the balance sheet date) and the
earhiest date the Group and the Company can be required to pay

The Group

2011 2010
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Captal Bank Caputal Bank
market loans and market loans and
in HKS million instruments overdrafts  Others Total nstruments overdrafts Others Total

Loans and other obligations
Amounts repayable beyond 5

years 2,876 4,305 592 7,773 3,218 2,315 598 6,131
Amounts repayable within a

peniod of between 2 and 5

years 7,498 840 1 8,339 8,717 1,318 1 10,036
Amounts repayable within a

peniod of between 1 and 2

years 3,883 387 2 4,272 603 6,569 1 7,173
Amounts repayable within 1
year 632 6,426 2 7,060 1,013 480 1 1,494
14,889 11,958 597 27,444 13,551 10,682 601 24,834
The Company
2011 2010
Capital Bank Caputal Bank
market loans and market loans and
in HKS mullion instruments overdrafts  Others Total nstruments overdrafts Others Total

Loans and other obligations
Amounts repayable beyond 5

years 543 - 592 1,135 577 - 598 1,175
Amounts repayable within a

penod of between 2 and 5

years 117 326 - 443 117 531 - 648
Amounts repayable within a

penod of between 1 and 2

years 39 194 - 233 39 6,457 - 6,496

Amounts repayable within 1
year 39 6,229 - 6,268 39 376 - 415
738 6,749 592 8,079 772 7,364 598 8,734

Others represent obligations under lease out/lease back transaction (note 24E)

(1) Interest Rate Rusk

The Group's interest rate rsk anses principally from its borrowing activities  Borrowings based on fixed and floating
rates expose the Group to fair value and cash flow interest rate nsk respectively due to fluctuations in market interest
rates  The Group manages and controls its interest rate nsk exposure by maintaining a level of fixed rate debt between
40% and 70% of total debt outstanding as specified by the Model Should the actual fixed rate debt level deviate
substantially from the Model, denvative financial mstruments such as interest rate swaps would be procured to align the
fixed and floating mux with the Model As at 31 December 2011, 51% of the Group’s total debt outstanding was
denominated erther 1n or convered to fixed interest rate after taking 1nto account cutstanding cross currency and interest
rate swaps

The Group’s exposure due to 1ts floating rate borrowings 1s offset by the floating rate interest income 1t earns from its
cash balances, bank deposits and other investment instruments  As at 31 December 2011, the Group had total cash
balances and bank deposits of HK$7,156 million from which 1t denived floating rate interest mncome, compared wath total
floating rate borrowings of HK$11,031 million

As at 31 December 2011, 1t 15 estimated that a 100 basts pownts increase / 25 basis points decrease n nterest rates, with
all other vanables held constant, would increase/decrease the Group's profit after tax and retained profits by
approximately HKS$31/HK$8 mlhion  Other components of consolidated equity would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$46/HK$16 nulhon
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The sensativity analysis above has been determined assuming that the change 1n interest rates had occurred at the balance
sheet date and had been applied to the exposure to interest rate risk for both denvatve and non-derivative financial
mstruments 1n existence at that date  The interest rate assumptions represent management's assessment of a reasonable
possible change n interest rates over the penod until the next annual balance sheet date 1n the light of the current low
absolute levels of interest rates and the greater scope for rate increase than decrease in the future

In 2010, a simular analysis was performed based on the assumption of a general increase/decrease of 100/50 basis points
n interest rates, which would mcrease/decrease the Group’s profit after tax and retaned profits by approximately
HKS$85/HK$24 million Other components of consolidated equity would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$49/HK$26 million

(m1) Foreign Exchange Risk

Foreign exchange nisk anses when recognised assets and liabilities are denominated 1n a currency that 1s not the Group’s
functional currency  For the Group, 1t anises principally from its berrowing and overseas procurement activities

The Group manages and controls 1ts foreign exchange nsk exposure by mamntamning a modest level of unhedged
non-Hong Kong dollar debt as specified by the Model, and minimal foreign exchange open positions created by 1ts
procurements overseas Where the currency of a borrowing 1s not matched with that of the expected cash flows for
servicing the debt, the Group would convert its foreign currency exposure resulting from the borrowing to Hong Kong
dollar exposure through cross currency swaps For procurement in foreign currencies, the Group would enter into
foreign exchange forward contracts to secure the necessary foreign currencies at pre-determined exchange rates for
settlement

The Group’s exposure to US dollars due to 1ts foreign currency borrowngs 1s also offset by the amount of US dollar cash
balances, bank deposits and investments that 1t maintains

As most of the Group’s receivables and payables are denominated in the respective Group compames’ functional
currencies (Hong Kong dollars, Renmunbi, Australian dollars or Swedish krona) or Umted States dollars (with which
Hong Kong dollars are pegged) and most of its payment commitments denominated tn foreign currencies are covered by
foreign exchange forward contracts, management does not expect that there will be any significant currency nisk
associated with them

(1v) Credit Risk

Credit nisk refers to the nisk that a counterparty will be unable to pay amounts 1n full when due  For the Group, ths
arises mainly from the deposits 1t maintains and the denvative financial mstruments that it has entered into with various
banks and counterparties as well as from the Defeasance Securities 1t procured under the lease out/lease back transaction
(note 24E) The Group hmits its exposure to credit nsk by placing deposits and transacting denvative financial
mstruments only with financial mstitutions with acceptable investment grade credit ratings or guarantee, and diversifying
1fs exposure to various counterparties

All denvative financial instruments are subject to a maximum counterparty limit based on the respective counterparty’s
credit ratings m accordance with policy approved by the Board  Credit exposure 1n terms of estimated fair market value
of and largest potential loss arising from these mstruments based on the “value-at-nsk™ concept 1s measured, momtored
and controlled against their respective counterparty imits  To further reduce counterparty nisk exposure, the Group also
applies set-off and netting arrangements across all denvative financial instruments and other financial transactions with
the same counterparty

All deposits and investments are similarly subject to a separate maximum counterparty/issuer lumit based on the
respective counterparty/issuer’s credit ratings and/or status as Hong Kong’s note-1ssumg banks  There 1s also a limat on
the length of time that the Group can maintain a deposit with a counterparty or investment from an 1ssuer based upon the
counterparty/issuer’s credit ratings Deposit/investment outstanding and matunty profile are momtored regularly to
ensure they are within the limits established for the counterparties/issuers  In addition, the Group actively monitors the
credit default swap levels of counterparties/issuers and their daily changes, and may on the basis of the observed levels
and other considerations adjust 1ts exposure and/or maximum counterparty/issuer limit to the relevant counterparty

As at balance sheet date, the maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group with respect to dernvative financial assets and
bank deposits 1s represented respectively by the carrying amount of the derivative financial assets and the aggregate
amount of deposits on 1ts balance sheet  As at balance sheet date, there was no significant concentration risk to a single
counterparty
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In addition, the Company also manages and controls its exposure to credit nsks in respect of recervables as stated in note
38

37 Stores and Spares

The Group The Company
in HK8 million 2011 2010 2011 2010
Stores and spares expected to be consumed
- wthin 1 year 695 643 570 519
- after 1 year 446 426 368 363
1,141 1,069 938 882
Less Provisien for obsolete stock (6) {8) (6) (8)
1,135 1,061 932 874

Stores and spares expected to be consumed after 1 year comprise mainly contingency spares and stocks kept to meet
cyclical maintenance requirements

38 Debtors, Deposits and Payments in Advance

The Group The Company
n HKS milhion 2011 2010 2011 2010
Debtors, deposits and payments in advance relate to
- Property development projects 1,203 636 1,203 636
- Railway subsidiaries outside of Hong Kong 1,204 1,203 - -
- Hong Kong operations and others 1,557 1,222 1,426 1,143
3,964 3,061 2,629 1,779

The Group’s credit policies 1n respect of recervables ansing from 1ts principal activities are as follows

(1) The majonty of fare revenue from Hong Kong transport operation 1s collected either through Octopus Cards with
daily settlement on the next working day or i cash for other ticket types A small portion of fare revenue from Hong
Kong transport operation collected through pre-sale agents 1s due within 21 days

(u) Fare revenue from Shenzhen Longhua Line 1s collected erther through Shenzhen Tong Cards with daily settlement
on the next working day or 1n cash for other ticket types

(1) Franchise revenue 1n Melbourne 18 collected either weekly or monthly depending on its nature  The majonity of the
franchise revenue 1n Stockholm 1s collected 1n the transaction month with the remainder being collected 1n the following
month

(1v) Rentals, advertising and telecommunications service fees are hilled monthly with due dates ranging from
immediately due to 50 days  Tenants of the Group’s mnvestment properties and station kiosks are required to pay three
months' rental deposit upon the sigming of lease agreements

(v) Amounts receivable under interest rate and currency swap agreements with financial mstitutions are due
accordance with the respective terms of the agreements

(v1} Consultancy service incomes are billed monthly, upon work completion or on other basis stipulated in the
consultancy contracts and are due within 30 days

(vn} Debtors in relation to contracts and capital works entrusted to the Group, subject to any agreed retentions, are due
withun 30 days upon the certification of work 1n progress

(vin) Amounts receivable 1n respect of property development are due in accordance with the terms of relevant
development agreements or sale and purchase agreements

The ageing of debtors 1s analysed as follows

The Group The Company
in HKS mullion 2011 2010 2011 2010
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Amounts not yet due 2,612 1,904 1,831 1,092
Overdue by 30 days 428 157 242 61
Overdue by 60 days 21 27 5 21
Overdue by 90 days 8 8 6 3
Overdue by more than 90 days 20 11 2 6
Total debtors 3,089 2,107 2,086 1,183
Deposits and payments in advance 677 785 345 427
Prepaid pension costs 198 169 198 i69

3,964 3,061 2,629 1,779

Included 1n amounts not yet due as at 31 December 2011 was HK$1,203 million (2010 HK$634 million) i respect of
property development, comprising receivable on profits distributable based on the terms of the development agreements
and sales and purchase agreements, receivable from certain stakeholding funds {note 29C) awaiting finalisation of the
respective development accounts as well as other recervables on nuscellaneous recoverable expenses

As at 31 December 2011, all debtors, deposits and payments in advance were expected to be recovered within one year
except for amounts relating to deposits and receivables of HK$279 million (2010 HK3$153 mullion) included in Hong
Kong operations and others, which were expected to be recovered between one to three years  The nominal values less
impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts are not discounted as 1t 1s considered that the effect of discounting would
not be significant

Included in debtors, deposits and payments i advance are the following amounts denominated m a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which they relate

The Group The Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
New Taiwan dollars (in million) - 2 - 2
Pound sterling (1in million) 1 - 1
United States dollars (in mullion) 9 9 9 8

39 Loan to a Property Developer

The Group and The Company

2011 2010
Nominal Carrying Nomuinal Carrying
tn HK$ nullion amount amount amount amount
Interest-free loan to a property developer - - 2,000 1,975

The outstanding loan provided to the developer of Tseung Kwan O Area 86 Package 2 (“LOHAS Park™) property

development project under the terms of the development agreement was fully repaid duning the year ended 31 December
2011

40 Amounts Due from Related Parties

The Group The Company
n HK S mitlion 2011 2010 2011 2010
Amounts due from
- HKSAR Government 248 156 248 156
- KCRC 20 25 20 25
- non-controlled subsidianes 23 17 23 17
- associates 111 132 63 71
- other subsidianes of the Company (net of
umpairment losses) - - 4,681 4,096
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402 330 5,035 4,365

The amount due from HKSAR Government mcludes outstanding receivables 1n relation to the Shatin to Central Link,
South Island Line (East) and Kwun Tong Line Extension projects

The amount due from KCRC related to payments to the Company 1n respect of the Outsourcing Agreement and costs on
certain capital works recoverable from KCRC in accordance with the Merger Framework Agreement

The amount due from nen-controlled subsidiaries related to recesvables from Octopus Cards Limited

The amounts due from associates of the Group as at 31 December 2011 included the outstanding balances of loan to
Tunnelbanan Tekmk Stockholm AB (“TBT™), amounting to HK$56 million (SEK50 malhion) (2010 HK$75 mullion or
SEK65 mulhon), which bears an mierest rate of 3% per annum above the 3-month Stockholm Inter Bank Offer Rate
published by the Riksbank with repayment due by 31 December 2013 The amounts due from associates of the Group
as at 31 December 2010 1ncluded a loan to London Overground Rail Operations Ltd (“LOROL”) amounting to HK$12
mullion or GBP 1 milhion, which was fully repaid during the year ended 31 December 2G11

All contract retentions on the above entrusted works were due for release within one year  All other amounts due from
HKSAR Government and other related parties were expected to be recerved within 12 months

The nominal values of amounts due from HKSAR Government and other related parties are considered not significantly
different from their fair values as the amounts due are expected to be substantially settled within 24 months.

41 Cash, Bank Balances and Deposits

The Group The Company

in HK3 million 2011 2010 2011 2010
Deposits with banks and other financial mmstitutions 14,009 12,337 13,728 12,065
Cash at banks and on hand 2,091 997 243 208
Cash, bank balances and deposits 16,100 13,334 13,971 12,273
Less Bank deposits with more than three months to

matunty when placed (12,673) (9,610) (12,396) (9,355)
Less Bank overdrafts (note 42A) - (16) - (16)
Cash and cash equivalents 1n the cash flow statement 3,427 3,708 1,575 2,902

Included in cash, bank balance and deposits in the balance sheet are the following amounts denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they relate

The Group The Company

2011 2010 2011 2010
Australian dollars (1n milhion) 5 11 5 11
Euros (in million) 6 5 6 5
Japanese Yen (in mullion) 42 100 42 100
New Taiwan dollars (1n million) 8 10 8 10
Pound sterling (in milhon) 2 - 2 -
Renminbi (in milhion) 3 - - -
Swedish krona (in million) - 2 - 2
Umnited States dollars {in mullion) 603 679 601 676
42 Loans and Other Obligations
A. By Type

2011 2010
i HKS mullion Carrying Fair value Repayable Carrying Fair value Repayable
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amount amount amount amount
The Group
Capital market instruments
Listed or publicly traded
Debt 1ssuance programme (Eurobond due
2014) 4,734 5,038 4,663 4,759 5,144 4,663
4,734 5,038 4,663 4,759 5,144 4,663
Unlhisted
Debt 1ssuance programme notes due
2012 t0 2020 (2010 due 2011 to 2020) 8,421 9,130 8,180 6,679 7,202 6,447
8,421 9,130 8,180 6,679 7,202 6,447
Total capital market instruments 13,155 14,168 12,843 11,438 12,346 11,110
Bank loans 9,663 9,665 9,665 8,971 8,973 8,972
Others 350 469 350 332 370 332
Loans and others 23,168 24,302 22,858 20,741 21,689 20,414
Bank overdrafts - - - 16 16 16
Short-term loans - - - 300 300 300
Total 23,168 24,302 22,858 21,057 22,005 20,730
The Company
Capital market instruments
Unlisted
Debt 1ssuance programme notes due
2018 461 673 465 457 646 466
Bank loans 6,698 6,700 6,700 6,915 6,918 6,916
Others 343 464 343 328 366 328
Loans and others 7,502 7,837 7,508 7,700 7,930 7,710
Bank overdrafts - - - 16 16 16
Short-term loans - - - 300 300 300
Total 7,502 7,837 7,508 8,016 8,246 8,026

Others include non-defeased obligations under lease out/lease back transaction (note 24E)

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had a number of uncommutted facilities with undrawn amounts totalling HK$14,135
million (2010 HK$15,028 million), compnising a debt 1ssuance programme and short-term bank loan facilities

The fair values are based on the discounted cash flows method which discounts the future contractual cash flows at the
current market interest and foreign exchange rates that 1s available to the Group for similar financial instruments

The carrying amounts of short-term loans and bank overdrafts approximated their fair values

The amounts of borrowings, denomunated 1 a currency other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
relate, before and after currency hedging activities are as follows

Before hedging activities After hedging activities
2011 2010 2011 2010
The Group
Euros (1in million) - 1 - -
Renminbi (an million) 1,000 - - -
United States dollars (in mulhion) 760 761 - 1
The Company

2011 Accounts and Notes v7 doc Page 64 of 94




MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

Euros (1n million) - 1 -
Unted States dollars (in million) 60 61 1
B. By Repayment Terms
The Group
2011 2010
Capal Bank Capital Bank
market loans and market loans and
in HKE nmilhon instruments overdrafts  Others Total instruments overdrafts Others Total
Long-term loans and others
Amounts repayable beyond 5 years 2,518 2,862 343 5,720 2,715 1,471 328 4,514
Amounts repayable within a period
of between 2 and 5 years 6,863 3064 2 7,229 7,793 1,084 2 8,879
Amounts repayable within a period
of between 1 and 2 years 3,363 221 3 3,587 102 6,400 1 6,503
Amounts repayable within 1 year 102 6,218 2 6,322 500 17 1 518
12,843 9,665 350 22,858 11,110 8,972 332 20414
Bank overdrafts - - - - - 16 - 16
Short-term loans - - - - - 300 - 300
12,843 9,665 350 22,858 11,110 9,288 332 20,730
Less Unamortised discount /
premium / finance charges
outstanding (35) (2) - a7 (38) (5) - 43)
Adjustment due to fair value
change of financial mstruments 347 - - 347 366 4 - 370
Total carrying amount of debt
13,155 9,663 350 23,168 11,438 9,287 332 21,057
The Company
2011 2010
Capital Bank Capital Bank
market loans and market loans and
i HK3 mihion instruments overdrafts  Others Total instruments overdrafts Others Total
Long-term loans and others
Amounts repayable beyond 5 years 465 - 343 808 465 - 328 793
Amounts repayable within a penod
of between 2 and 5 years - 322 - 322 1 5t1 - 512
Amounts repayable within a period
of between 1 and 2 years - 189 - 189 - 6,389 - 6,389
Amounts repayable within 1 year - 6,189 - 6,189 - 16 - 16
465 6,700 343 7,508 466 6,916 328 7,710
Bank overdrafts - - - - - 16 - 16
Short-term loans - - - - - 300 - 300
465 6,700 343 7,508 466 7,232 328 8,026
Less Unamortised discount /
premium / finance charges
outstanding (5) 2) - 7 (5) (5) - (10)
Adjustment due to fair value
change of financial instruments 1 - - 1 {(4) 4 - -
Total carrying amount of debt 461 6,698 343 7,502 457 7,231 328 8,016
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The amounts repayable within 1 year in respect of capital market instruments and bank loans are included 1n long-term
loans as these amounts are intended to be refinanced on a long-term basis

C. Bonds and Notes Issued and Redeemed

Notes 1ssued duning the year ended 31 December 2011 and 2010 comprise

The Group
2011 2010
Principal Net consideration Principal  Net consideration
in HK§ muthion amount received amount recerved
Debt 1ssuance programme notes 2,206 2,198 - -

The above notes were 1ssued in Hong Kong by a subsidiary, MTR Corporation (C I ) Limited The notes issued are
unconditionally and wurevocably guaranteed by the Company, and are direct, unsecured, unconditional and
unsubordinated to other unsecured and unsubordinated obligatiens of MTR Corporation (C1) Limited  The obligations
of the Company under the guarantee are direct, unsecured, unconditional, and unsubordinated to other unsecured and
unsubordinated obligations of the Company

During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group redeemed HK$500 mullion of its unlssted debt secunues (2010
HKS$1,100 million) Dunng the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group did not redeem any of its hsted secunties
(2010 redeemed US$600 muillion)

D. Guarantees and Pledges

(1) There were no guarantees given by HKSAR Government 1n respect of the loan facilities of the Group as at 31
December 2011 and 2010

(1) As at 31 December 2011, certamn assets held by MTR Corporation {Shenzhen) Limited, an indirect wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company in the Mainland of China, were pledged as secunity for a RMB4,000 mullion (2010
RMB4,000 million) bank loan facility granted to 1t

(1) As at 31 December 2011, certam assets held by Metro Tramns Melbourne Pty Ltd , a 60% owned subsidiary of the
Company 1n Australia, were pledged as secunty for an AUD13 million (2010 AUDI3 million) bank loan facihty granted
to 1t

Apart from the above, none of the other assets of the Group was charged or subject to any encumbrance as at 31

December 2011

43 Creditors and Accrued Charges

The Group The Company
in HK3 million 2011 2010 2011 2010
Creditors and accrued charges
- West Island Line Project 417 512 417 512
- South Island Line (East) Project 479 27 479 27
- Kwun Tong Line Extension Project 188 14 188 14
- Shenzhen Metro Longhua Line Project 1,183 535 - -
- Hong Kong property development projects 681 657 681 657
- Mamland property development project 1,950 - - -
- Railway subsidianies outside of Hong Kong 1,337 1,163 - -
-  Hong Kong operations and others 5,539 4,993 5,025 4,508
Gross amount due to customers for contract work 15 15 15 15
Government grant on West Island Line Project
un-utilised 4,613 1,575 4,613 7,575
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16,402 15,491 11,418 13,308

As at 31 December 2011, the aggregate amount of contract costs incurred plus recogmsed profits less recogmised losses
mcluded in the gross amount due to customers for contract works was HK$294 million (2010 HK$294 million) Al of

the gress amount due to customers for contract work as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 1s expected to be settled afier
more than one year

The analysis of creditors by due dates 15 as follows

The Group The Company

in HK$ million 2011 2010 2011 2010
Due within 30 days or on demand 2,765 2,331 1,267 1,025
Due after 30 days but within 60 days 2,379 1,603 1,612 1,077
Due after 60 days but within 90 days 537 341 335 331
Due after 90 days 3,950 1,725 1,627 1,530
9,631 6,000 4,841 3,963
Rental and other refundable deposits 1,704 1,517 1,618 1,472
Accrued employee benefits 454 399 346 298

Government grant on West Island Line Project

un-utihsed 4,613 7,575 4,613 7,575
16,402 15,491 11,418 13,308

Creditors and accrued charges were expected to be settled within one year except for HK$1,540 milhion (2010
HKS$1,544 mullion) included in Hong Kong operations and others and HK$29 mulheon (2010 mil) included 1n railway
subsidianies outside of Hong Kong, which were expected to be settled after one year  The amounts due afier one year
are maimnly rental deposits received from investment property and station kiosk tenants and advance income received
from telecommunication service operators, majority of which are due to be repaid within three years The Group
considers the effect of discounting these deposits would be immateral

The nominal values of creditors and accrued charges are not significantly different from their fair values

Included 1n creditors and accrued charges are the following amounts denominated 1n a currency other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate

The Group The Company
2011 2010 2011 2010
Australian dollars (1n million) 2 1 2 1
Euros (in million) 3 6 3 6
Japanese Yen (in mullion) 83 31 83 31
Pound sterling (in milhon) 1 1 1 1
Renminbi (1n million) 1,577 - - -
United States doHars (in multlion) 17 17 2 2

44 Contract Retentions

Due for release Due for release

in HKE mulhon within 12 months after 12 months Total
The Group
2011
Railway extension projects 2 300 302
Transport operations and others 120 221 341

122 521 643
2010
Railway extension projects 3 123 126
Transport operations and others 105 173 278
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108 296 404
The Company
2011
Railway extensicn projects 2 300 302
Transport operations and others 60 61 121
62 361 423
2010
Railway extension projects 3 123 126
Transport operations and others 46 49 95
49 172 221

The effect of discounting these contract retentions 1s considered immatenal as these amounts are substantially due to be
released within 24 months

45 Amounts Due to Related Parties

The Group The Company
in HK$ nulhon 2011 2010 2011 2010
Amounts due to
- HKSAR Government 31 27 31 27
- KCRC 1,432 809 1,432 809
- an associate 18 56 -, -
- subsidianes - - 11,781 11,243
1,481 892 13,244 12,079

The amount due to HKSAR Government related to land administrative costs 1n respect of the West Island Line, South
Island Line (East) and Kvwun Tong Line Extension projects

The amount due to KCRC relates to mandatory payments and related interest payable to KCRC upoen tender award 1n
respect of the property development sites along the East Rail Line and Light Rail as weli as the accrued portion of the
fixed annual payment and varniable annual payment

The amount due to an associate as at 31 December 2010 mcluded the outstanding balance of a loan from Tunnelbanan
Teknik Stockholm AB to MTR Stockholm AB amounting to HK3$29 million (SEK2S5 million), which was fully repaid
during the year ended 31 December 2011 The loan 1s unsecured, bears an interest rate of 3% per annum above the
3-month Stockholm Inter Bank Offer Rate and has no fixed terms of repayment

The amount due to the Company’s subsidianies mncluded HK$11,641 million (2010 HK$11,162 million) due to MTR
Corporation (C 1) Limated 1n respect of proceeds from bonds and notes 1ssued by the subsidiary, which were on-lent to
the Company for 1ts general corporate purposes with specified repayment dates and interest rates (note 42C), and accrued
mterest These amounts are stated at therr fair values The remaining balances due to subsidiaries are non-interest
bearing and have not been discounted as they do not have any fixed repayment terms and the amount 1s not matenal
Out of the total amount due to subsidianes as at 31 December 2011, HK$11,328 millton (2010 HK$10,481 million) 1s
expected to be settled after one year

46 Obligations under Service Concession

Movements of the Group’s and the Company’s obhigations under service concessions are as follows

The Group The Company
tn HK3 mullion 2011 2010 2011 2010
Balance as at 1 January 10,749 10,625 10,592 10,625
Add Total annual lease payments capitalised at inception - 15i - -
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Add Net increase 1n mterest payable 3 4 - -
Less Amount repaid/payable dunng the year 35) 36) (35) (33)
Exchange difference 7 5 - -
Balance as at 31 December 10,724 10,749 10,557 10,592

Duning the year ended 31 December 2010, the Group recogmsed HK$151 nullion of the obligation under service
concession for the annual lease payment 1n respect of Shenzhen Longhua Line Phase 1

The outstanding balances as at 31 December 2011 and 2010 are repayable as follows

The Group
2011 2010
Present Interest Present Interest
value of expense value of expense Total
fixed relatingto Total fixed fixed relating to fixed
annual future annual annuat future annual
i HKE million payments periods  payments  payments pennods payments
Amounts repayable beyond 5 years 10,510 20,531 31,041 10,549 21,232 31,781
Amounts repayable within a period of
between 2 and 5 years 137 2,132 2,269 128 2,140 2,268
Ameunts repayable within a peniod of
between 1 and 2 years 40 716 756 37 719 756
Amounts repayable within 1 year 37 718 755 35 721 756
10,724 24,097 34,821 10,749 24,812 35,561
The Company
2011 2010
Present Interest Present Interest
value of expense value of expense Total
fixed relatingto Total fixed fixed relating to fixed
annual future annual annual future annual
in HKS million payments periods _ payments  payments periods payments
Amounts repayable beyond 5 years 10,343 20,344 30,687 10,392 21,045 31,437
Amounts repayable within a period of
between 2 and 5 years 137 2,113 2,250 128 2,122 2,250
Amounts repayable within a period of
between 1 and 2 years 40 710 750 37 713 750
Amounts repayable within 1 year 37 713 750 35 715 750
10,557 23,880 34,437 10,592 24,595 35,187

47 Loan from Holders of Non-controlling Interests

Loan from holders of non-controlling interests represents that portion of total shareholder loan of AUD48 75 milhion
(HK$384 mullion) granted to Metro Tramns Melbourne Pty Ltd (“MTM") by the holders of 1ts non-controlling interests
The loan carnes an interest rate of 7 5% per annum and 1s repayable at the discretion of MTM or on the expiry of the
operation and mamntenance franchise on 29 November 2017, whichever 1s earlier

48 Deferred Income

Movements of deferred income are as follows
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The Group
Amount Offset Amount
received agamst recognised in
Balance at during the development profitand  Exchange Balance at
m HKE muillion 1 January year 1n progress loss account  difference 31 December
2011
Deferred income on property
development (note 29B) 568 - 32) (468) - 68
Deferred income on transfer of assets
from customers 37 19 - ()] - 47
Deferred income on government grant - 638 - 349) (1 288
605 657 (32) (826) 1) 403
2010
Deferred income on property
development (note 29B) 124 1,010 {549) a7 - 568
Deferred income on transfer of assets
from customers 43 - - (6) - 37
167 1,010 (549) (23) - 605
The Company
Amount Offset Amount
recerved agamst recognised in
Balanceat  durnng the development profitand  Exchange Balance at
tn HK$ million 1 January year _nprogress _ loss account  Difference 31 December
2011
Deferred income on property
development (note 29B) 568 - (32) (468) - 68
2010
Deferred income on property
development (note 29B) 124 1,010 (549) (17) - 568

Deferred income on government grant relates to government subsidy for the operation of Shenzhen Metro Longhua Line

49 Income Tax in the Balance Sheet

A. Current taxation n the consohdated balance sheet comprised provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the Company
and certain subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2011, chargeable at Hong Kong Profits Tax Rate at 16 5% (2010
16 5%) and afier netting off provisional tax paid, and overseas tax chargeable at the appropriate current rates of taxation

ruling 1n the relevant countnes

The Group The Company
in HK8 million 2011 2010 2011 2010
Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year (note 17) 1,619 1,495 1,604 1,484
Hong Kong Provisional Profits Tax paid (1,035) (581) (1,022) (574)
584 914 582 910
Balance relating to overseas tax 13 104 - -
597 1,018 582 910

B. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities Recognised

The components of deferred tax assets and liabilities recogmsed 1n the balance sheet and the movements during the year

are as follows

Deferred tax arising from

in HKE nullion Depreciation  Revaluation

Provision Cash flow Tax losses Total
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allowances in  of properties  and other hedges
excess of temporary
related differences
depreciation

The Group
2011
At 1 January 2011 8,669 5,044 154 (15) (@) 13,845
Charged/(credited) to consolidated profit and

loss account 316 840 ) - 9 1,146
Charged/(credited) to reserves - 93 - (2) - 91
Exchange difference (4) - - - - 4)
At 31 December 2011 8,981 5,977 153 (17) (16) 15,078
2010
At 1 January 2010 8,382 4,316 121 ao a7n 12,792
Charged to consohidated profit and loss account 287 672 33 - 10 1,002
Charged/(credited) to reserves - 56 - {5 - 51
At 31 December 2010 8,669 5,044 154 (15) 7 13,845
The Company
2011
At 1 January 2011 8,651 5,051 153 as) - 13,840
Charged/(credited) to profit and loss account 274 838 (12) - - 1,100
Charged/(credited) to reserves - 93 - 2) - 91
At 31 December 2011 8,925 5,982 141 (a7 - 15,031
2010
At 1 January 2010 8,362 4,325 121 (10) - 12,798
Charged to profit and loss account 289 670 32 - - 991
Charged/(credited) to reserves - 56 - (5) - 51
At 31 December 2010 8,651 5,051 153 (15) - 13,840

The Group The Company
in HKS milhion 2011 2010 2011 2010
Net deferred tax assets recogmised on the balance sheet 27 ) - -
Net deferred tax habilities recognised on the balance sheet 15,105 13,854 15,031 13,840
15,078 13,845 15,031 13,840

C. The Group has not recogmsed deferred tax assets in respect of some of its subsidianes’ cumulative tax losses of
HKS$281 million (2010 HK$395 mullion) as it 1s not probable that future taxable profits against which the losses can be
utitised will be available 1n the relevant tax junsdictions and entities

50 Share Capital and Capital Management

A. Share Capital, Share Premuum and Capital Reserve

in HKS million 2011 2010
Authorised

6,500,000,000 shares of HK$1 00 each 6,500 6,500
Issued and fully paid

5,784,871,250 shares (2010 5,772,563,031 shares) of HK$1 00 each 5,785 5,773
Share premium 11,089 10,773
Capital reserve 27,188 27,188

44,062 43,734
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Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, the capital reserve can only be applied m paying up mn full
unissued shares to be allotted and distnibuted as fully paid bonus shares to the shareholders of the Company

Share premium represents the amount by which the 1ssue price of shares exceeds the par value of those shares The
application of the share premium account 1s governed by secticn 48B of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance

New shares 1ssued and fully paid up during the year compnise

Proceeds received / Transfer from employee
share-based capital reserve

Share
Number of Option/ Share capatal premium
shares scrip price account account Totat
HKS HK$ million  HK$ mullion HKS miliion
Employee share options exercised
-  New Jomers Share Option
Scheme 525,700 9.75 1 6 7
266,500 20.66 - 6 6
- 2007 Share Option Scheme 932,500 18.30 1 19 20
31,000 26 52 - 1 1
74,000 26 85 - 2 2
135,000 27.60 - 4 4
Issued as 2010 final scrip dividends 10,343,519 27.87 10 278 288
12,308,219 12 316 328

An analysis of the Company’s outstanding share options as at 31 December 2011 are disclosed 1n note 53
B. Capital Management

The Group's primary objectives 1n managing capital are to safeguard its abality to continue as a gomg concern, and to
generate sufficient profit to maintain growth and provide an adequate return to its shareholders

The Group manages the amount of capital in proportion to risk, and makes adjustments to its capital structure through the
amount of dividend payment to shareholders, 1ssuance of scrip and new shares, and managing its debt portfolio 1n
conjunction with projected financing requirement  The Financial Secretary Incorporated of HKSAR Govemnment 1s the
majonty shareholder of the Company holding 4,434,552,207 shares as at 31 December 2011, representing 76 7% of total
equuty mterest in the Company

The Group momtors capital on the basis of the net debt-to-equity ratio, which 1s calculated on net borrowings as a
percentage of the total equity attributable 1o shareholders of the Company, where net borrowings are represented by the
aggregate of loans and other obligations, bank overdrafts, obligations under service concession and loan from helders of
non-controlling interests net of cash and cash equivalents and bank medium term notes  The Group's net debt-to-equuty
ratios over the past years have been trending downward since the Rail Merger from 48 5% at 31 December 2007 to
12 8% at 31 December 2010 and 11 9% at 31 December 2011

Octopus Cards Limited 1s subject to a prescribed ratio of total capital to total nsk-weighted assets as required by the
Hong Kong Monetary Authonty  Fasttrack Insurance Ltd 15 required to mamtain a mummum level of shareholders’
fund based on the Bermuda Insurance Act MTR Corporation (Shenzhen) Limited 1s subject to minimum capital
requirement at 40% of the total investment for the Shenzhen Longhua Line project in accordance with the concession
agreement Metro Trains Melbourne Pty Ltid 1s required to maintain total shareholders’ funds at a specified amount 1n
accordance with the franchise agreement MTR Stockholm AB 1s required to mamtain total shareholders’ fund at or
above 50% of its registered share capital based on the Swedish Compames Act  As at 31 December 2011, atl these
capital requirements were met  Apart from these, neither the Company nor any of 11s other subsidiaries are subject to
externally imposed capital requirements

51 Other Reserves
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The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of each component of the Group’s consolidated equity 1s set
out 1n the consolidated statement of changes in equity  Details of the changes n the Company’s individual components
of equity between the beginning and the end of the year are set out below

Employee

Fixed assets share-based

revaluation Hedging capital Retamed  Total other
tn HK3 million reserve reserve reserve profits reserves
2011
Balance as at 1 January 2011 1,417 (78) 102 70,815 72,256
2010 final dividend - - - (2,598) (2,598)
2011 mnterim dividend - - - (1,446) (1,446)
Employee share-based payments - - 110 - 110
Employee share options exercised - - ® - (6)
Employee share options forfeited - - )] 5 -
Total comprehensive income for the year 471 (12) - 14,415 14,874
Balance as at 31 December 2011 1,888 (90) 201 81,191 83,190
2010
Balance as at 1 January 2010 1,132 (52) 52 61,920 63,052
2009 final dividend - - - (2,177) 2,177)
2010 interim dividend - - - (807) (807)
Employee share-based payments - - 57 - 57
Employee share ophons exercised - - (6) - (6)
Employee share options forfeited - - (D 1 -
Total comprehensive income for the year 285 (26) - 11,878 12,137
Balance as at 31 December 2010 1,417 (78) 102 70,815 72,256

The fixed assets revaluation reserve was set up to deal with the surpluses or deficits ansing from the revaluaton of
self-occupied land and buildings (note 2F(11))

The hedging reserve comprnises the effective portion of the cumulative net change n the farr value of hedging 1nstruments
used 1 cash flow hedges pending subsequent recogmition of the hedged cash flow 1n accordance with the accounting
policy adopted for cash flow hedges as explained 1n note 2T{u)

The employee share-based capital reserve compnses the fair value of share options granted which are yet to be exercised,
as explamed in accounting policy under note 2U(t1) The amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the option 15 exercised, or be released directly to retained profits 1f the option 1s expired or forferted

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences ansing from the translation of the accounts of foreign
enterpnises  The reserve 1s dealt with 1n accordance with the accounting policy set out 1n note 2CC

Apart from retained profits, the other reserves are not available for distnbution to shareholders because they do not
constitute realised profits  In addition, the Company considers the cumulative surpluses on revaluation of investment
properties net of tax of HK$28,382 million (2010 HK$24,143 million) included 1n retamed profits are non-distributable
as they also do not constitute realised profits ~ As at 31 December 2011, the Company considers that the total amount of
reserves available for distnbution to equity shareholders amounted to HK$52,719 muillion (2010 HK$46,594 mullion)

Included n the Group’s retained profits as at 31 December 2011 1s an amount of HK$665 mllion (2010 HK$512
mullion), being the retained profits attnbutable to the non-controlled subsidianies and associates
52 Cash Generated from Operations

Reconciliation of operating profit before property developments, depreciation, amortisation and vanable annual payment
to cash generated from operations is as follows
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in HKS$ milhon 2011 2010
Operating profit before property developments, depreciation, amortisation and

vanable annual payment 12,124 10,917
Adjustments for

(Decrease)/increase 1n provision for obsolete stock 2) 2

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 32 50

Amorusation of deferred income from government subsidy for Shenzhen

Metro Longhua Line operation (62) -

Amortisation of deferred income from transfers of assets from customers &) (6)

Decrease/(increase) n fair value of derivative instruments 8 (1)

Unrealised loss on revaluation of investment 1n securities 4 2

Employee share-based payment expenses 113 61

Exchange (gain)/1oss (8) 14
Operating profit from recurrent businesses before working capital changes 12,200 11,039
Increase 1n debtors, deposits and payments 1n advance 395) (244)
Increase 1n stores and spares (72) (5
Increase 1n creditors and accrued charges 756 1,130
Cash generated from operations 12,489 11,920

33 Share-based Payments
A. Equity-settled Share-based Payments

The Group granted equity-settled share options to 1ts Members of the Executive Directorate and certain employees under
share option schemes  As at 31 December 2011, the Company maintained two share option schemes, namely, the New
Joiners Share Option Scheme and the 2007 Share Option Scheme  Details of the schemes are as follows

(1) New Jowners Share Option Scheme

In May 2002, the New Jomners Share Option Scheme (the “New Option Scheme™) was adopted at the 2002 Annual
General Meeting to provide share options to new members of the top and semor management of the Company who did
not participate n the Pre-IPO Option Scheme  Under the Rules of the New Option Scheme, a maximum of 5,056,431
shares, which represent 0 1% of the 1ssued share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2011, may be 1ssued pursuant
to the exercise of options granted under the New Option Scheme  Options granted will be evenly vested 1n respect of
their underlying shares over a period of three years from the date on whuch the relevant option 1s offered  The exercise
price of any option granted under the New Option Scheme 1s to be deternuned by the Company upon the offer of grant of
the option and the exercise price should not be less than the greatest of (1) the average closing price of an MTR share for
the five business days immediately preceding the day of offer of such option, (1) the closing price of an MTR share on
the day of offer of such option, which must be a business day, and (i) the nominal value of an MTR share The New
Option Scheme expired on 16 May 2007 and no options can be granted under this Scheme on or after that date

The following table summarises the outstanding share options granted under the New Option Scheme since inception

Number of
Date of grant share options Exercise price Exercisable period
HKS
23 September 2005 213,000 1597 on or prior to 9 September 2015
15 May 2006 22,000 20 66 on or prior to 25 Apnil 2016
5 October 2006 94,000 19732 on or prior to 29 September 2016

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices were as
follows

2011 2010
Number of share  Weighted average Number of share Weighted average
options EXErcIse price options exercise price
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HKS HKS
Outstanding at 1 January 1,121,200 14.581 1,316,200 15038
Exercised during the year (792,200) 13.420 (195,000) 17 667
Outstanding at 31 December 329,000 17.377 1,121,200 14 581
Exercisable at 31 December 329,000 17.358 1,121,200 14 576

The weighted average closing price in respect of the share options exercised during the year was HK$27 470 (2010
HK$29 104)

Share options outstanding at 31 December 2011 had the following exercise prices and remaimng contractual Irves

2011 2010

Number of Remaining Number of Remaiming

Exercise price share options contractual hfe share options contractual hfe
years years

HK$% 75 - - 525,700 254
HK$15 97 213,000 3.69 213,000 469
HK$20 66 22,000 4,32 288,500 532
HKS$19 732 94,000 4.75 94,000 575

329,000 1,121,200

(1) 2007 Share Option Scheme

Following the expiry of the New Option Scheme m May 2007, the 2007 Share Option Scheme (the “2007 Option
Scheme”) was submutted and approved at the 2007 Annual General Meeting to enhance the Company's ability to attract
the best available personnel, to retain and motivate critical and key employees, to align their interest to the long-term
success of the Company and to provide them with fair and market competitive remuneration  Under the Rules of the
2007 Option Scheme, a maximum of 277,461,072 shares, which represent 4 8% of the 1ssued share capital of the
Company as at 31 December 2011, may be 1ssued pursuant to the exercise of options granted after 7 June 2007 under all
share option schemes of the Company including the 2007 Option Scheme  Options granted wall be vested n respect of
their underlying shares not less than 1 year from the date on which the relevant option 1s offered  The exercise price of
any option granted under the 2007 Option Scheme 15 to be determuned by the Company upon the offer of grant of the
option and the exercise price should not be less than the greatest of (1) the average closing price of an MTR share for the
five business days immediately preceding the day of offer of such option, (u) the closing pnice of an MTR share on the
day of offer of such option, which must be a business day, and (11) the nominal value of an MTR share

Subject to the rules of the 2007 Opuon Scheme, the Company may, from tme to time during the scheme penod, offer to
grant share options to any ehgible employees at its absolute discretion  Under the 2007 Option Scheme, the date of
grant 15 defined as the date of acceptance of the offer to grant the option

As at 31 December 2011, the following awards of share options were offered to Members of the Executive Directorate
and selected employees of the Company under the 2007 Option Scheme

No of share
options
offered and
Awards of share options  Date of offer accepted Date of acceptance
2008 Award 10 December 2007 8,273,000 Peniod between 11 December 2007 to 7 January 2008
26 March 2008 2,749,000 Period between 28 March 2008 to 23 April 2008
2009 Award & December 2008 12,712,000 Penod between 8 December 2008 to 30 December 2008
12 June 2009 345,000 Penod between 18 June 2009 to 9 July 2009
2010 Award 8 December 2009 15,718,000 Penod between 9 December 2009 to 22 December 2009
28 June 2010 355,000 On 21 July 2010
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2011 Award 16 December 2010 15,546,500 16 December 2010 to 23 December 2010
27 June 2011 215,000 On 7 July 2011

The following table summanses the outstanding share options as at 31 December 2011 granted under the 2007 Optien
Scheme simce inception

Number of
Date of grant share options Exercise price Exercisable period
HKS$

2008 Award

11 December 2007 45,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
12 December 2007 1,903,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
13 December 2007 1,740,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
14 December 2007 820,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
15 December 2007 228,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
17 December 2007 730,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
18 December 2007 275,000 27 60 on or pnior to 10 December 2014
19 December 2007 80,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
20 December 2007 190,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
22 December 2007 35,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
24 December 2007 118,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
28 December 2007 35,000 2760 on or prior i0 10 December 2014
31 December 2007 130,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
2 January 2008 35,000 27 60 on or prior to 10 December 2014
3 January 2008 40,000 2760 on or prior to 10 December 2014
7 January 2008 80,000 2760 on or prior 1o 10 December 2014
28 March 2008 199,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
31 March 2008 323,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
1 Apnil 2008 249,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
2 Apnil 2008 276,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
3 April 2008 140,000 26 52 on or pnor to 26 March 2015
4 Apnil 2008 23,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
5 Apnl 2008 17,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
7 Apnil 2008 330,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
8 Apnl 2008 110,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
9 Apnl 2008 85,000 2652 on or pnor to 26 March 2015
10 April 2008 58,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
11 Apnil 2008 117,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
12 Apnil 2008 48,000 2652 on or prior to 26 March 2015
14 April 2008 40,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
15 Apnl 2008 34,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
16 April 2008 40,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
17 April 2008 124,000 2652 on or prior to 26 March 2015
18 April 2008 15,000 26 52 on or prior to 26 March 2015
19 Apnil 2008 25,000 2652 on or prior to 26 March 2015
21 April 2008 66,000 26 52 on or pnior to 26 March 2015
23 Apnil 2008 19,0600 2652 on or prior to 26 March 2015
2009 Award

8 December 2008 110,000 18 30 on or prior to 8 December 2015
9 December 2008 1,359,000 18 30 on or prior to 8 December 2015
10 December 2008 1,897,900 18 30 on or prior to 8 December 2015
11 December 2008 1,993,200 18 30 on or prior to 8§ December 2015
12 December 2008 1,141,000 18 30 on or prior 1o 8 December 2015
13 December 2008 78,000 18 30 on or pnor to 8 December 2015
14 December 2008 52,200 18 30 on or prior to 8 December 2015
15 December 2008 873,200 1830 on or prior to § December 2015
16 December 2008 450,000 18 30 on or prior to 8 December 2015
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17 December 2008 470,500 18 30 on or pnior to § December 2015
18 December 2008 470,500 18 30 on or prior to 8 December 2015
19 December 2008 198,000 18 30 on or prior to 8 December 2015
20 December 2008 16,000 18 30 on or prior to 8 December 2015
22 December 2008 487,000 18 30 on or prior to 8§ December 2015
23 December 2008 218,000 18 30 on or prior to 8 December 2015
24 December 2008 367,500 18 30 on or prior to 8 December 2015
25 December 2008 45,000 18 30 on or pnor to 8 December 2015
29 December 2008 118,000 18 30 on or prior to 8§ December 2015
30 December 2008 19,000 18 30 on or prior to 8 December 2015
18 June 2009 175,000 24 50 on or prior to 12 June 2016
6 July 2009 45,000 24 50 on or prior to 12 June 2016
9 July 2009 30,000 24 50 on or prior to 12 June 2016
2010 Award

9 December 2009 585,000 26 85 on or prior to 8 December 2016
10 December 2009 2,646,000 26 85 on or prior to 8 December 2016
11 December 2009 2,235,000 26 85 on or prior to 8 December 2016
12 December 2009 565,500 26 85 on or prior to 8 December 2016
13 December 2009 12,500 26 85 on or pnor to 8 December 2016
14 December 2009 2,437,500 26 85 on or prior to 8 December 2016
15 December 2009 2,506,000 26 85 on or prior to 8 December 2016
16 December 2009 1,414,000 26 85 on or prior to 8 December 2016
17 December 2009 975,000 26 85 on or pnior to 8 December 2016
18 December 2009 380,500 26 85 on or prior to 8 December 2016
19 December 2009 70,000 26 85 on or prior to 8§ December 2016
20 December 2009 75,000 26 85 on or prior to 8 December 2016
21 December 2009 501,000 26 85 on or prior to 8 December 2016
22 December 2009 215,000 26 85 on or prior to 8 December 2016
21 July 2010 330,000 2773 on or prior to 28 June 2017
2011 Award

16 December 2010 194,000 28 84 on or prior to 16 December 2017
17 December 2010 5,326,500 28 84 on or prior to 16 December 2017
18 December 2010 673,000 28 84 on or prior to 16 December 2017
19 December 2010 174,000 28 84 on or prior to 16 December 2017
20 December 2010 4,728,000 28 84 on or prior to 16 December 2017
21 December 2010 3,001,000 28 84 on or prior to 16 December 2017
22 December 2010 956,000 28 84 on or prior to 16 December 2017
23 December 2010 189,000 28 84 on or prior to 16 December 2017
7 July 2011 215,000 26 96 on or prior to 27 June 2018

Movements 1n the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices were as
follows

2011 2010
Number of Weighted average Number of Weighted average
share options eXErcise price share options exercise price
HK$ HKS
Outstanding at | January 52,568,500 25 646 38,929,500 24 185
Graanted during the year 215,000 26.960 15,901,500 28 815
Exercised during the year (1,172,500) 20.128 (1,573,500) 21 840
Forfeited during the year (1,767,500} 26.368 (689,000) 24 888
Outstanding at 31 December 49,843,500 25 756 52,568,500 25 646
Exercisable at 31 December 34,417,000 24.683 21,495,500 24 095

Share options outstanding at 31 December 2011 had the following exercise prices and remaming contractual hves
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2011 2010

Number of Remaining Number of Remaming

Exercise price share options __contractual life share options __ contractual life
years years

HK3$27 60 6,484,000 3 7,208,000 4
HK$26 52 2,338,000 3 2,406,000 4
HK$18 30 10,367,000 4 11,523,000 5
HK$24 50 250,000 4 250,000 5
HK$26 85 14,618,000 5 15,280,000 6
HK$27 73 330,000 5 355,000 6
HK$28 84 15,241,500 6 15,546,500 7
HK$26 96 215,000 6 - -

49,843,500 52,568,500

According to the Black-Scholes pricing model, the fair values of options granted during the year ended 31 December
2011 were as follows

Inputs into the Black-Scholes pricing model

Share price
Fair value of immedhately Expected
options before grant Exercise Expected Expected Risk-free dividend per
Date of grant granted date price volatihity life  interest rate share
HKS$ HK3$ HKS$ years % HKS
7 July 2011 501 2770 26 66 02827 35 084 07

When computing fair values of the options granted, expected volaulity was determuned by calculating the historical
volatility of the Group's share price over the previous 3 5 years and the expected hife adopted was assumed to be 3 5 years
after granting of the options, with expected dividends based on histoncal dividends  In addition, vesting terms under the
grants have been taken mto account whilst no market conditions associated with the share option grants have been
considered  Changes 1n the subjective input assumptions could matenally affect the fair value estimate

(1) During the year ended 31 December 2011, the equity-settled share-based payments recogmsed as an expense
amounted to HK$110 million (2010 HK$57 million), all relating to the 2007 Option Scheme

The Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme expired on 11 September 2010 During the pentod from ! January 2010
to the expiry day, a total of 2,922,500 previously vested share options were exercised, with a weighted average closing
prnice of HK$27 993 per share  On the expiry day, a total of 25,500 options lapsed

B. Cash-settled Share-based Payments

(1) C K Chow did not participate 1n the Company's Pre-Global Offering Share Option Scheme and New Joiners Share
Option Scheme  Pursuant to the completion of is two-year contract which expired on 31 December 2011, he was paid
on 4 January 2012 an equivalent value in cash of 222,161 shares in the Company, amounting to HK$5 6 mulhion
(calculated at a price of HK$25 0125 per share derived mn accordance with the terms of the grant by reference to the
average closing price of the Company’s shares on the 20 business days immediately preceding 31 December 2011)  For
the year ended 31 December 2011, HK$2 3 nullion (2010 HK$3 0 million) was recorded as share-based payment
expense The fair value of the outstanding enutlement as at 31 December 2010 was calculated based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at year-end date of HK$28 30 per share

(1) Jay H Walder 1s entitled to an equivalent value 1n cash of 300,000 shares mn the Company following 30 June 2014,
being the date on which his mitial term of office 1s expected to expire (35% of which shall be deemed to be earned at 31
October 2013 subject to certain cenditions specified in s employment contract)  For the year ended 31 December
2011, HK$0 5 mullion (2010 ml) was recorded as share-based payment expense The fair value of the outstanding
entitlement 1s calculated based on the closmg price of the Company’s shares at year-end  As at 31 December 2011, the
fair value of these shares was HK$25 15 per share
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(1) Lincoln K K Leong was entitled to a denivative interest in the Company’s shares and was paid on 12 April 2G10 an
equivalent value i cash of 160,000 shares in the Company, amounting to HK$4 6 million (calculated at a price of
HK3$28 785 per share denived 1n accordance with the terms of the grant by reference to the average closing price of the
Company’s shares on the 20 busmess days immediately preceding @ Apnl 2010) For the year ended 31 December
2010, HK3$0 7 mllion was recorded as share-based payment expense, measured on the same basis as described 1n note
53B(1) above

54 Retirement Schemes

The Group operates a number of retiremnent schemes 1n Hong Kong, Mainland of China, Unmited Kingdom, Sweden and
Australia  The assets of these schemes are held under the terms of separate trust arrangements so that the assets are kept
separate from those of the Group The majonty of the Group’s employees are covered by the retwrement schemes
operated by the Company

A Retirement Schemes Operated by the Company in Hong Kong

The Company operates five retirement schemes under trust in Hong Kong, including the MTR Corporation Limited
Retirement Scheme (the “MTR Retirement Scheme”), the MTR Corporation Limited Retention Bonus Scheme (the
“MTR RB5”), the MTR Corporation Limited Provident Fund Scheme (the “MTR Prowident Fund Scheme”) and two
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”"} Schemes, the “MTR MPF Scheme” and the “KCRC MPF Scheme™,

Currently, new eligible employees can choose between the MTR Provident Fund Scheme and the MTR MPF Scheme
while the MTR MPF Scheme covers employees who did not opt for and who are not ehigible to join the MTR Provident
Fund Scheme

(1) MTR Retirement Scheme

The MTR Retwrement Scheme 1s a defined benefit scheme registered under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 426 of the Laws of Hong Kong) ("ORS0") and granted with MPF Exemption by the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Authonty (“MPFA™)

The MTR Retirement Scheme has been closed to new employees since 31 March 1999 It provides benefits based on
the greater of a multiple of final salary times the number of years of service rendered and the accumulated contributions
with investment returns  Members’ contributions to the MTR Retirement Scheme are based on a fixed percentage of
base salary The Company's contributions are deterruned with reference to an actuanal valuation carmed out by an
independent actuanal consulung firm  As at 31 December 2011, the total membership was 4,979 (2010 5,127) In
2011, members contributed HK$70 malhion (2010 HKS$70 million) and the Company contributed HK$120 malhon (2010
HK$120 mullion) to the MTR Retirement Scheme The net asset value of the MTR Retwrement Scheme as at 31
December 2011 was HK$7,794 muallion (2010 HK$8,200 million)

Actuarial valuation as at 31 December 2011 to determine the accounting obligations in accordance with HKAS 19,
Employee benefits was carried out by an independent actuanal consulting firm, Towers Watson, using the Projected Unut
Credit Method  The results of the valuation are shown n note 55

Actuanal valuation as at 31 December 2011 to determne the cash funding requirements was also carned out by Towers
Watson using the Attained Age Method The pnncipal actuanal assumptions used included a long-term rate of
mvestment return net of salary increases of 1 3% (2010 2 0%) per annum, together with appropriate allowances for
expected rates of mortality, turnover, redundancy and retirement Towers Watson confirmed that, as at the valuauon
date

(a) the MTR Retirement Scheme was solvent, with assets more than adequate to cover the aggregate value of members’
vested benefits had all members left the MTR Retirement Scheme, and

(b) on the assumption that the MTR Retirement Scheme continued in force, the value of assets was more than sufficient
to cover the aggregate past service liability, wath a funding level of 105 5%

(1) MTR RBS

2011 Accounts and Notes v7 doc Page 79 of 94



MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

The MTR RBS 1s a defined benefit scheme registered under the ORSO It 15 a top-up scheme to supplement the MTR
Retirement Scheme for employees classified by the Company as staff working on designated projects and who are not on
gratuity terms  The MTR RBS provides benefits only 1n the event of redundancy for service accrued up to 31 December
2002, offset by any benefits payable from the MTR Retrement Scheme and other applicable schemes As at 31
December 2011, there were 310 members (2010 316) under the MTR RBS

The MTR RBS 1s non-contributory for members The Company's contnbutions are determuned with reference to an
actuanal valuation carmed out by an independent actuanal consulting firm  Dunng 2010 and 2011, the Company was
not required to make any contnbution to the MTR RBS  The net asset value of the MTR RBS as at 31 December 2011
was HK$12 milhon (2010 HK$12 mullion)

Actuanal valuation as at 31 December 2010 and 2011 to determune the accounting obligations 1n accordance with HKAS
19, Employee benefits were carned out by Towers Watson using the Projected Umt Credit Method The results of the
valuations are shown in note 55

Actuanal valuation as at 31 December 2011 to determine the cash funding requirements was carmed out by Towers
Watson using the Attammed Age Method  The principal actuarial assumptions used included an expected weighted rate
of investment return net of salary increases, of approximately -3 5% (2010 -2 5%} per annum, together with appropnate
allowance for expected rates of redundancy Towers Watson confirmed that, as at the valuation date

(a) due to the nature of the MTR RBS which provides for benefits only on redundancy, there was no aggregate vested
liabality, and thus the MTR RBS was technically solvent, and

(b} on the assumpticn that the MTR RBS continued 1n force, the value of assets was more than sufficient to cover the
aggregate past service liability

(11) MTR Provident Fund Scheme

The MTR Provident Fund Scheme 15 a defined contnbution scheme registered under the ORSO and granted with MPF
Exemption by the MPFA.  All benefits payable under the MTR Provident Fund Scheme are calculated with reference to
the Company’s contributions and members’ own contnbutions, together with mvestment returns on these contnibutions
Both the Company’s and members’ contributions are based on fixed percentages of members® base salary

As at 31 December 2011, the total number of employees participating in the MTR Provident Fund Scheme was 6,667
(2010 6,276) In 2011, total members’ contributions were HK$58 mullion (2010 HK$52 mllion) and total contribution
from the Company was HK$171 mullion (2010 HK$159 million) The net asset value as at 31 December 2011 was
HK$3,527 milhon (2010 HK$3,588 nullion)

(1v) MTR MPF Scheme

The MTR MPF Scheme 1s 2 defined contribution scheme covered under an MPF master trust registered with the MPFA
It covers those employees who did not opt for or who are not eligible to join the MTR Retirement Scheme or the MTR
Provident Fund Scheme Both members and the Company each contribute to the MTR MPF Scheme at the mandatory
levels as required by the MPF Ordinance  The Company makes additional contributions above the mandatory level for
ehgible members who jomned the MTR MPF Scheme before 1 April 2008, subject to individual terms of employment

As at 31 December 2011, the total number of employees of the Company participating in the MTR MPF Scheme was
3,452 (2010 2,540) 1In 2011, total members’ contributions were HK$19 mllion (201¢ HK$14 mullion) and total
contribution from the Company was HK$21 million (2010 HK3$16 mullion)

{v) KCRC MPF Scheme
The KCRC MPF Scheme 1s a defined contribution scheme covered under an MPF master trust registered with the MPFA
It covers those former KCRC employees who were previously members of the KCRC MPF Scheme and are ehgible to

join the MTR Provident Fund Scheme but opt to re-join the KCRC MPF Scheme Both members and the Company
each contribute to the KCRC MPF Scheme at the mandatory levels as required by the MPF Ordinance
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As at 31 December 2011, the total number of employees of the Company participating 1n the KCRC MPF Scheme was
856 (2010 903) In 2011, total members’ contrnibutions were HK$6 mulhion (2010 HK$6 million) and total contribution
from the Company was HK$6 million (2010 HK$7 mullion)

B Retirement Schemes for Employees of Mainland and Overseas Offices and Subsidiaries

Employees not ehgible for joining the retirement schemes operated by the Company 1n Hong Kong are covered by the
retirement schemes established by thewr respective subsidiary compames or in accordance with respective applicable
labour regulations

(1) Defined Benefit Plan

Certain employees of the Group’s Australian subsidiary are entitled to receive retrement benefits from the Emergency
Services Superannuation Scheme operated 1n Australia The benefit amounts are calculated based on the member’s
years of service and final average salary The Group does not recognise any defined benefit hability 1n respect of this
scheme because the Group has no legal or constructive obhigation to pay future benefits relating to 1ts employees, 1ts only
obhgation 1s to pay contributions as they fall due  As at 31 December 2011, total number of the Group’s employees
participating n this scheme was 854 (2010 894) In 2011, total members’ contributions were HK$38 nulhion (2010
HK$31 miilion) and total contribuiton from the Group was HK$53 million (2010 HK$44 million)

(1) Defined Contribution Plans

Except for the defined benefit plan stated 1n note 54B(1), all other retirement schemes to cover employees 1n overseas
offices or 1n subsidianies tn Hong Kong, Mainland of China or overseas are defined contribution schemes For Hong
Kong employees, these schemes are registered under the MPF Ordinance 1n Hong Kong  For the Mainland of China or
overseas employees, these schemes are operated 1n accordance with the respective local laws and regulations  As at 31
December 2011, the total number of employees of the Group parucipating in these schemes was 7,709 (2010 7,074) In
2011, total members’ contributions were HK$104 mullion (2010 HK$77 mullion) and total contribution from the Group
was HK$211 milhon (2010 HK$180 mullion)

55 Defined Benefit Retirement Plan Obligations

The Company makes contributions to and recogn:ses defined benefit liabilities 1n respect of two defined benefit plans
that provide benefits for employees upon retirement or termnation of services for other reasons (note 54) The
movements 1n respect of these defined benefit plans during the year are summansed as follows

A. The amounts recognised 1n the balance sheets are as follows

The Group and The Company

2011 2010

MTR MTR

Retirement Retirement
n HKS million Scheme MTR RBS Total Scheme MTR RBS Total
Present value of funded obligations (10,669) - (10,669) (9,342) - (9,342)
Fair value of plan assets 7,794 12 7,800 8,200 12 8,212
Net unrecognised actuanal losses/(gains}) 3,064 (3) 3,061 1,302 (3) 1,299
Net asset 189 9 198 160 o 169

A portion of the above asset 1s expected to be recovered after more than one year However, 1t 1s not practicable to
segregate this amount from the amounts to be recovered 1n the next twelve months, as future contributions will also relate
to future services rendered and future changes 1n actuanal assumptions and market conditions  The Company expects to
pay HK3$181 mullion in contribution to the MTR Reurement Scheme 1n 2012

B. Plan assets consist of the following
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The Group and The Company

2011 2010

MTR MTR

Retirement Retirement
in HKS nmullion Scheme MTR RBS Total Scheme MTR RBS Total
Equuty securities 3,761 - 3,761 4,423 - 4.423
Bonds 3,963 - 3,963 3,602 - 3,602
Cash 145 12 157 250 12 262
7,869 12 7,881 8,275 12 8,287
Voluntary units (75) - (75) (75) - (75)
7,794 12 7,806 8,200 12 8,212

The plan assets include no mvestment in the Company’s ordinary shares and the Company’s debt securities in 2010 and
2011

C. Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations

The Group and The Company

2011 2010
MTR MTR
Retirement MTR Retirement MTR

m HKS mulion Scheme RBS Total Scheme RBS Total
At 1 January 9,342 - 9,342 8,959 - 8,959
Members’ contnbutions paid to the Schemes 70 - 70 70 - 70
Benefits paid by the Schemes (336) - (330) (311) - (311}
Current service cost 281 - 281 293 - 293
Interest cost 264 - 264 227 - 227
Actuanal losses 1,048 - 1,048 104 - 104
At 3] December 10,669 - 10,669 9,342 - 9,342
D. Movements in plan assets

The Group and The Company

2011 2010
MTR MTR
Retirement MTR Retirement MTR

in HK$ muilion Scheme RBS Total Scheme RBS Total
At 1 January 8,200 12 8,212 7,542 12 7,554
Group’s contributions paid to the Schemes 120 - 120 120 - 120
Members’ contributions paid to the Schemes 70 - 70 70 - 70
Benefits paid by the Schemes (336) - (336) (311) - (311)
Expected return on plan assets 486 - 486 448 - 448
Actuarnal (losses)/gains (746) - (746) 331 - 331
At 31 December 7,794 12 7,806 8,200 12 8,212

E. Expense recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account 1s as follows

2011 2010
MTR MTR
Retirement MTR Retirement MTR
i HK$ mullion Scheme RBS Total Scheme RBS Total
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Current service cost 281 - 281 293 - 293
Interest cost 264 - 264 227 - 227
Expected return on plan assets (486) - (486) (448) - (448)
Net actuanal losses/(gains) recogmsed 32 - 32 58 (1) 57
Expense recognised L5 | - 91 130 (1) 129
Less Amount capitalised (15) - (15) (21) - 21)

76 - 76 109 (1) 108

The retirement expense 1s recognised under staff costs and related expenses 1n the consohidated profit and loss account
F. Actual return on plan assets

i HKS mullion 2011 2010
MTR Retirement Scheme (269) 779

MTR RBS - -

G. The principal actuarial assumptions used as at 31 December 2011 (expressed as wetghted average) are as follows

2011 2010
MTR Retirement MTR Retirement
Scheme MTR RBS Scheme MTR RBS
Discount rate at 31 December 1.5% 0.9% 29% 19%
Expected rate of return on plan assets 6.0% 1.5% 6 0% 13%
Future salary increases 4.7% 5.0% 4 0% 4 0%

The expected long-term rates of return on plan assets have been determined based on market expectations on returns over
the entire life of the related oblhigations

H. Histerical information

The Group and The Company

MTR Retirement Scheme

in HKS million 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Present value of funded obhigations (10,669) (9,342) (8,959) (9,064) (8,577
Fair value of plan assets 7,794 8,200 7,542 6,162 7,929
Deficit 1n the Scheme (2.875) (1,142) (1,417) (2,902) (648)
Expernience adjustments arising on plan

liabilities - gamn/(loss) 334 (357) (785) 1,391 (556)
Expenence adjustments arising on plan

assets - (loss)/gain (746) 331 941 (1,997) 514

MTR RBS

in HKS million 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Present value of funded obligations - - - 1 (1)
Fair value of plan assets 12 12 12 12 12
Surplus 1n the Scheme 12 12 12 11 11
Expenence adjustments ansing on plan

liabilities - gain/(loss) - - i - 1
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Expenence adjustments ansing on plan

assets - gain/(loss)

56 Interests in Jointly Controlled Operations

The Group has the following jointly controlled operations 1n respect of its awarded property development projects m
Hong Kong as at 31 December 2011

Total Gross

Actual or Expected Date of

Location/Development Floor Area Completion of Construction
Package Land Use (sqm) Works *
Hong Kong Station Office/Retail/Hotel 415,894 Completed by phases from
1998--2005
Kowloon Station
Package One Residential 147,547 Completed 1n 2000
Package Two Residential 210,319 Completed by phases from
2002-2003
Package Three Residential/Cross Border Bus 105,113 Completed mn 2005
Terminus
Package Four Residential 128,845 Completed 1n 2003
Package Five, Six and Seven Residential/Office/Retail/Hotel/ 504,345 Completed by phases from
Service Apartment/ 2006-2010
Kindergarten
Olympic Station
Package One Residential/Office/Retail/Indoor 309,069 Completed 1n 2000
Sports Hall
Package Two Residential/Retail/Market 268,650 Completed mn 2001
Package Three Residential/Kindergarten 104,452 Completed 1n 2006
Tsing Yi Station Residential/Retail/Kindergarten 292,795 Completed 1n 1999
Tung Chung Station
Package One Residential/Office/Retail/Hotel/ 361,531 Completed by phases from
Kindergarten 1999-2005
Package Two Residential/Retail/Kindergarten 255,949 Completed by phases from
2002-2008
Package Three Residential/Retail/Wet Market/ 413,154 Completed by phases from
Kindergarten 2002-2008
Hang Hau Station Residential/Retail 142,152 Completed 1n 2004
Tiu Keng Leng Station Residential/Retail 253,765 Completed by phases from
2006-2007
Tseung Kwan O Station
Area 55b Residential/Retail 96,797 Completed 1n 2006
Area 57a Residential/Retail 29,642 Completed 1n 2005
Area 56 Residential/Hotel/Retail/Office 163,130 By phases from 2011-2012
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Tseung Kwan O Area 86

Package One Residential/Retail/Residential 139,840 Completed m 2008
Care Home for the Elderly

Package Two Residenual/Kindergarten 310,496 By phases from 2010-2012
Package Three Residential/Kindergarten 129,544 2013
Choi Hung Park-and-Ride Residential/Reiail 21,538 Completed 1in 2005
Che Kung Temple Station Residential/Retail/Kindergarten 90,655 2012
Austin Station

SitesC & D Residential 119,116 2014

* Completion based on 1ssuance of occupation permit

The Group's assets held in relation to these joint venture operations mnclude various site foundation works and related
staff and overhead costs, land costs, acquisition cost of development nghts and interest expense These are set off
against any payments recetved from developers 1n relation to that development package, and the balance 1s shown on the
balance sheet either as property development 1n progress (note 29) or deferred income (note 48) as the case may be  As
at 31 December 2011, total property development 1n progress mn respect of these jomtly controlled operations was
HK$6,780 million (2010 HK$6,863 million) and total deferred income was HK$68 million (2010 HK$81 rillion)

During the year ended 31 December 2011, profits of HK$4,934 million (2010 HKS$4,034 mullion) were recognised (note
12)

In connection with the Rail Merger, the Company entered mto agreements with KCRC relating to the property
development projects on the following three awarded sites

Total Gross Actual or Expected Date of
Location/Development Floor Area Completion of Construction
Package Land Use (sgm) Works *
Fo Tan Station
Ho Tung Lau Residential/Retail 122,900 Completed 1n 2008
Wu Kai Sha Station Residential/Retail/Kindergarten 172,650 Completed 1n 2009
Tai Wai Maimntenance Centre Residential 313,955 Completed by phases from

20102011
* Completion based on 1ssuance of occupation permit

Under these agreements, the Company was appointed as KCRC’s agent to exercise the rights and to perform the
obhigations of KCRC as stipulated in the agreements The Company recetved a right to share the net surplus from the
sale of these property development projects

57 Material Related Party Transactions

The Fiancial Secretary Incorporated, which holds approximately 76 7% of the Company's 1ssued share capital on trust
for HKSAR Government, 1s the majonty shareholder of the Company Transactions between the Group and HKSAR
Government departments or agencies, or entities controlled by HKSAR Government, other than those transactions such
as the payment of fees, taxes, leases and rates, etc that anse in the normal dealings between HKSAR Government and

2011 Accounts and Notes v7 doc Page 85 of 94




MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

the Group, are considered to be related party transactions pursuant to HKAS 24 (revised 2009), Related party disclosures,
and are 1dentified separately 1n these accounts

Members of the Board and Members of the Executive Directorate and parties related to them, including their close farmly
members, are also considered to be related parties of the Group Transactions with these parties, except for those
mvolving a Member of the Board or his related parties where the relevant Member abstains from voting, are separately
disclosed 1n the accounts

Major related party transacttons entered into by the Group which are relevant for the current year include

A. On 30 June 2000, the Company was granted by HKSAR Government a franchise, for an imtial peniod of 50 years, to
operate the then existing mass transit raillway, and to operate and construct any extension to the rmlway  On the same
day, the Company and HKSAR Government entered into an Operating Agreement (“OA”) which laid down the detailed
provisions for the design, construction, maintenance and operation of the railway under the franchise  Pursuant to the
terms of the OA, the Company’s franchise will be extended for further periods of 50 years upon satisfying certain capital
expenditure requirements at no payment and without any change 1n the terms of the franchuse  The QA also provides
that upon extension of the franchise and subject to HKSAR Government’s prevailing land policy on the date on wiich
the franchise 15 extended, certain consequential amendments will be made to agreements between HKSAR Government
and the Company 1n relation to the mass transit railway, including the renewal of various raillway runmng line leases and
land leases at nominal cost  With the Rail Merger, the OA was replaced with effect from 2 December 2007 by a new
operating agreement, details of which are set out 1n note 57C below

B. On 14 July 2000, the Company received a comfort letter from the Government pursuant to which HKSAR
Government agreed to extend the period of certain of the Company's land interests so that they are cotermunous with the
Company's franchise period  To prepare for the Rail Merger, on 3 August 2007, HKSAR Government wrote to KCRC
confirming that, subject to all necessary approvals being obtained, the peniod of certain of KCRC’s land nterests (which
are the subject of the service concession under the Rail Merger) will be extended so that they are cotermunous with the
concession period of the Rail Merger

C. In connection with the Rail Merger (note 3), on 9 August 2007, the Company and HKSAR Government entered mnto
a new operating agreement (“new QOA”), which 1s based on the then existing OA referred to in note 57A above  On the
Appointed Day, the Company’s then existing franchise under the Mass Transit Raillway Ordinance was expanded to
cover rallways other than the then existing MTR railway for an mitial period of 50 years from the Appomted Day
(“expanded franchuse”} The new OA detailed the design, construction, mamtenance and operation of the railways
under the expanded franchise  Pursuant to the terms of the new OA and the MTR Ordinance, the Company’s franchise
may be extended for further periods of 50 years (from the date of the extension) upon sausfymng certain capital
expenditure requirements at no payment and without any change 1n the terms of the francluse  The new OA also sets
out a framework for the award of new railway projects in Hong Kong and introduces a fare adjustment mechanism A
detailed description of the new OA 1s contained 1n the circular to shareholders in respect of the Extraordinary General
Meeting convened to approve the Rail Merger

D. Other than the new QA described n note 57C above, the Company also entered mto the followmng principal
agreements with KCRC and HKSAR Government 1n connection with the Rail Merger

() Merger Framework Agreement, which was entered into on 9 August 2007, contamns provisions for the overall
structure and certain specific aspects of the Rail Merger,

(1) Service Concession Agreement, which was entered into on 9 August 2007, contains provisions i relation to the
grant and operation of a service concession and hicence granted by KCRC to the Company,

(1) Sale and Purchase Agreement, which was entered 1nto on 9 August 2007, sets out the terms pursuant to which the
Company acquired certain assets and contracts from KCRC,

(1v) Kowloon Southern Link (“KSL") Project Management Agreement, which was entered into on 9 August 2007, sets
out the terms on which the Company was appointed by KCRC to manage the design and construction of the KSL mn
return for a management fee and an incentive payment if the construction of the KSL 1s completed ahead of time and
under budget KSL was completed for service commencement on 16 August 2009 and became part of the service
concession  The final incentive payment was received in 2010,
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{v) West Rail Agency Agreement, which was entered mto on 9 August 2007, sets out the terms on which the Company
was appomnted to act as KCRC’s agent to exercise certain rights and perform certain obligations relating to specified
development sites along the West Rail,

{v1) Property Package Agreements, which were entered into on 9 August 2007, set out the arrangements 1n respect of the
acqusit:on of the property package, and

(vit)US Cross Border Lease (“CBL"™) Assumption Agreements, which were entered into with KCRC on 30 November
2007, and US CBL Allocation Agreement, which was entered mnto with KCRC and KCRC’s subsidiaries on 2 December
2007, set out the terms on which the Company has undertaken to perform, on a joint and several basis with KCRC, the
obligations of KCRC under the respective CBLs, and delineate and allocate the obligations and responsibility for nisks
relating to the CBLs  Details of the commutment of the Company 1n connection with these agreements are specified in
note 58E

A detailed description of each of the above agreements 1s contained under the paragraph “Connected Transactions” of the
Report of the Members of the Board

E. The Company entered into project agreements with HKSAR Government for the design, construction, financing and
operation of new railway extensions and, where applicable, the granung of land for commercial and residential property
developments along these railway extensions  Project agreements on railway extensions that are still under construction
or the property developments wn respect of which have not been completed in the current year include

() TKE Project Agreement 1n respect of the Tseung Kwan O Extension, which was signed on 4 November 1998 and
includes the granting of property development rnights at four sites along the extension,

{11) Prehmunary Project Agreement, which was signed on 6 February 2008, and Project Agreement, which was signed on
13 July 2009 1n respect of the West Island Line  Pursuant to the agreements, the Company has received from HKSAR
Govermnment a total of HK$12,652 million of government grant as funding support subject to a repayment mechamsm
(note 27A),

(u1) Project Agreement 1n respect of the SIL{E), which was signed on 17 May 2011 and includes the granting of property
development rights at a site 1n Wong Chuk Hang (note 27B), and

(1v) Project Agreement 1n respect of the KTE, which was signed on 17 May 2011 and includes the granung of property
development rights at a site 1n Ho Man Tin (note 27C)

F. The Company entered into entrustment agreements with HKSAR Government for the design, site mnvestigation,
procurement activities, construction, testing and comnussioning of new railway extensions, pursuant to which HKSAR
Government funds the total costs of such activities while the Company 1s paid a fee for 1ts project management service
Entrustment agreements on railway extensions that are still under construction 1n the current year mclude

(1) Prelimnary Entrustment Agreement, which was signed on 24 November 2008, and Entrustment Agreement, which
was signed on 26 January 2010, in respect of the Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rail Link (“XRL”) The
two agreements together entrust the Company with the project management of activities leading to the completion of
XRL  Detaled description of the agreements and the amount of project management fees recogmsed for the year ended
31 December 2011 are provided in note 28B, and

(1} Preliminary Entrustment Agreement, which was signed on 24 November 2008, and Entrustment Agreement, which
was signed on 17 May 2011, in respect of the Shatin to Central Link (“SCL”) The two agreements together entrust the
Company with the design, site invesugation and procurement acuviues of SCL as well as construction of certain enabling
works at Admiralty and Ho Man Tin Stations and other associated works Detailed description of the agreements 15
provided in note 28C

G. On 19 November 2003, the Company entered into a project agreement with HKSAR Government to develop the
Tung Chung Cable Car system together with a Theme Village at Ngong Ping on the Lantau Istand under a franchise
granted by HKSAR Government for a period of 30 years commmencing 24 December 2003 The project was completed
with operation commencement on 18 September 2006

H. In connection with the construction of vanous railway projects, certain essential project works are embedded within
the infrastructure works to be undertaken by HKSAR Government or certamn of its related paries  These works have
been entrusted to HKSAR Government and uts related parties and are payable on an actual cost basis according to
architectural certifications  HKSAR Government and certamn of its related parties, on the other hand, have entered 1nto
entrustment agreements with the Company for the construction of various other infrastructure works that are also
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reimbursable according to actual costs certified  Details of the amounts recervable and the amounts paid and payable as
at 31 December 2011 are provided 1n notes 40 and 45 respectively

I. In connection with certamn property developments along the rallway extensions, the Company has been granted land
lots by and paid land premiums to HKSAR Government 1n accordance with the terms of the development agreements n
respect of the following sites

Total land
Land grant premiur Land premum
Property development site acceptance date (in HK$ milhon) settlement date
Site F of Tseung Kwan O Town Lot No 70, 24 January 2005 2,319 14 Apnl 2005
Area 86
Sha Tin Town Lot No 519 23 Apnl 2008 3,662 14 July 2008
Kowloon Inland Lot No 11126 and 11129 12 March 2010 11,708 7 June 2010

(Sites C and D, Canton Road, Kowloon)

J. On 16 November 2011, the Company and KCRC entered into an Outsourcing Agreement pursuant to which the
Company will provide certain administrative and financial activities to KCRC  The Agreement has no specific term but
can be terminated by either party giving notice period specified 1n the Agreement The fee payable pursuant to the

Agreement and the scope of services are to be reviewed on an annual basis and amended upon the mutual agreement of
the parties

K. On 21 August 2008, the Company renewed the maintenance agreement with the Hong Kong Awrport Authonity m
respect of the automatic people mover system serving the Hong Kong Internanonal Asrport including the Sky Plaza and
Sky Pier terminal builldings  The agreement covers a peried of five years effective from 6 July 2008  In respect of the

agreement, HK$46 million was recogmsed as consultancy mcome during the year ended 31 December 2011 (2010
HK$40 million)

L. Other than those stated m notes 57A to 57J, the Company has business transactions with HKSAR Government,
entities related to HKSAR Government and the Company’s non-controlled subsidiaries and associates in the normal
course of business operations Details of the transactions and the amounts wvolved for the reporting period are
disclosed in notes 31, 33, 40 and 45

M. The Group has paid remuneration to Members of the Board and the Executive Directorate Details of these
transactions are described in note 11A  In addition, Members of the Executive Directorate were granted share options
under the Company’s New Jowners Share Option Scheme and 2007 Share Option Scheme  Details of the terms of these
options are disclosed 1n note 11B and the Report of the Members of the Board  Their gross remuneration charged to the
profit and loss account 15 summansed as follows

m HK3$ mullion 2011 2010
Short-term employee benefits 59.5 571
Post-employment benefits 2.5 16
Equity compensation benefits 14.2 109
76.2 69 6

The above remuneration 1s included in staff costs and related expenses disclosed 1n note 10A

N. Dunng the vear, the following dividends were paid to HKSAR Government

in HK$ mullion 2011 2010

Cash dividends paid 3,104 1,302

Shares allotted 1n respect of scrip dividends - 991
3,104 2,293

58 Commitments

A, Capital Commitments
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(1) Outstanding capital commitments as at 31 December 2011 not prowvided for 1n the accounts were as follows

The Group
Hong Kong
transport,
staion  Hong Kong Hong Kong Mainland of
commercial raillway property China and
and other extenston rental and overseas
in HK$ muthon businesses projects development operations Total
2011
Authornised but not yet contracted for 2,079 - 824 9 2,912
Authorised and contracted for 1,447 13,099 624 216 15,386
3,526 13,099 1,448 225 18,298
2010
Authonised but not yet contracted for £,575 - 142 - 1,717
Authonsed and contracted for 986 7.100 326 1,340 9,752
2,561 7,100 468 1,340 11,469
The Company
Hong Kong
transport,
station Hong Kong Hong Kong
commercial rallway property
and other extension rental and
i HKS millon businesses projects _ development Total
2011
Authonised but not vet contracted for 2,074 - 824 2,898
Authonsed and contracted for 1,447 13,099 624 15,170
3,521 13,099 1,448 18,068
2010
Authonsed but not yet contracted for 1,561 - 140 1,701
Authorised and contracted for 986 7,100 315 8,401
2,547 7,100 455 10,102

Excluded from the above tables are estimated future project costs relating to the West Island Line, Scuth Island Line
(East) and Kwun Tong Line Extension of HK$3,754 million, HK$7,325 mullion and HK$3,108 million respectively as at
31 December 2011

(u) The commtments under Hong Kong transport, station commercial and other businesses comprise the following

The Group and The Company
Improvement
and Acquisition of Additional
enhancement property, plant concession
m HK§ milhon works and equipment property Total
2011
Authonised but not yet contracted for 897 279 903 2,079
Authonsed and contracted for 468 602 377 1,447
1,365 881 1,280 3,526
2010

2011 Accounts and Notes v7 doc Page 89 of 94




MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

Authonised but not yet contracted for 795 285 495 1,575
Authonised and contracted for 344 375 267 986
1,139 660 762 2,561

B. Operating Lease Commitments

The Group had operating leases on office buildings, staff quarters, bus depot and a shopping centre 1n Beijing as at 31
December 2011 The total future mimmum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as
follows

The Group The Company
in HK$ mullion 2011 2010 2011 2010
Payable within one year 132 141 6 7
Payable after one but within five years 3 3 3 2
135 144 9 9

The above mcludes HK$6 mullion (2010 HK$4 mulhion) in respect of the office accommodation and quarters for
construction project staff, majornity of which are subject to rent reviews

In addition to the above, the Group has future operating lease commitments of HK$6,061 mllion (2010 HKS$6,747
mullion) m respect of rallway subsidiaries outside of Hong Kong over the respective franchise periods, of which
HK$1,065 million (2010 HEK$1,024 million) 1s payable within one year, HK$4,140 nullion (2010 HK$3,944 mullion) 1s
pavable after one but within five years and HK$856 million (2010 HKS$1,779 mullion) 1s payable over five years
These rallway subsidiaries will generate franchise revenue receivables to the Group

C. Liabilities and Commitments in respect of Property Management Contracts

The Group has, over the years, jointly developed with outside property developers certain properties above or adjacent to
railway depots and stations  Under most of the development agreements, the Group retamed the nght to manage these
properties after their completion  The Group, as manager of these properties, enters wnto service contracts with outside
contractors for the provision of security, cleaning, maintenance and other services on behalf of the managed properties
The Group 1s primarily responsible for these contracts, but any contract costs mcurred will be retmbursed by the owners
and tenants of the managed properties from the management funds as soon as they are paid

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had total outstanding habilities and contractual commtments of HK$1,599 milhion
(2010 HK$1,314 mulhion) mn respect of these works and services Cash funds totalling HK$1,655 milhen (2010
HEK.$1,371 million) obtamed through monthly payments of management service charges from the managed properties are
held by the Group on behalf of those properties for settlement of works and services provided

D. Material Financial and Performance Guarantees

In respect of the debt secunities 1ssued by MTR Corporation (C 1) Limited (note 42C), the Company has provided
guarantees to the investors of approximately HK$12,379 mullion (1n notional amount) as at 31 December 2011  The
proceeds from the debts 1ssued are on lent to the Company and MTR Corporation (Shenzhen) Limited  As such, the
primary lLiabilities have been recorded 1n the Company’s balance sheet

In respect of the lease cut/lease back transaction (“Lease Transaction”) (note 24E), the Group has provided standby
letters of credit (“standby LC’s”) to the Investors to cover additional amounts payable by the Group in the event the
transactions are terminated prior to the expiry of the lease terms, and such standby L.C’s amounted to US$110 mullion
(HK$855 million) as at 31 December 2011  The Group has also provided standby LC’s to certamn of the Investors under
the Lease Transaction to replace some of the Defeasance Securiuies previously used to support the corresponding
long-term lease payments as a result of credit rating downgrades of these secunties, and such standby LC’s amounted to
US$38 mullion (HK$299 million) as at 31 December 2011

In respect of the operating lease on the shopping centre 1n Beying, the Group provided a bank guarantee of RMBI12 5
million and a parent company guarantee of RMB52 5 million mn respect of the quarterly rental payments to the landlord

2011 Accounts and Notes v7 doc Page 90 of 94



-~

MTR CORPORATION LIMITED

In respect of the Melbourne Metropolitan Train Franchise, the Group and the other shareholders of the Group’s 60%
owned subsidiary, Metro Trains Melbourne Pty Lid (“MTM™), have provided to the State of Victoria Government a
Jomnt and several parent company guarantee of AUD125 million (HK$986 million) and a performance bond of AUD75
million (HK$592 million) for MTM's performance and other obligations under the franchise agreement, with each
shareholder bearing 11s share of habality based on 1ts shareholdings in MTM

In respect of the Stockholm Metro Franchise, the Group has provided to the Stockholm transport autherity a guarantee of
SEK1,000 mulhon (HK$1,123 milhion), which can be called 1f the franchise 1s termmated early as a result of default by
MTR Stockholm AB, the wholly owned subsidiary of the Group to undertake the franchise

In respect of the London Overground Franchise, London Overground Rail Operations Ltd (“LOROL”), the Group’s 50%
owned associate company to undertake the franchise, has provided to Transport for London (T{L) a performance bond of
GBP:2 0 million (HK$144 m:lhon), which may be called by TiL if the franchise 1s terminated early as a result of default
The performance bond 1s guaranteed by Deutsche Bahn, the ultimate parent company of the other shareholder of LOROL,
with the Group providing to Deutsche Bahn a counter indemmty that 1s further backed by a performance bond of GBP6 0
milhon (HK$72 miilion) for the Group’s share of the Guarantee

In respect of the construction of Shenzhen Longhua Line Phase 2, the Group has provided payment guarantees of
RMB168 milhon (HK$207 mullion) and performance guarantees of RMB48 mullion (HK8$59 mlhon) to the
counterparties of the construction contracts

E US Cross Border Lease (“CBL”) Agreements

In connection with the Rail Merger, the Company entered into a number of agreements (“US CBL Assumption
Agreements”) with respect to the CBLs that KCRC had entered mto with its CBL counterparties 1n relation to certain of
ts property and equpment (“CBL Property”) between 1998 and 2003  Pursuant to the US CBL Assumption
Agreements, the Company has undertaken to perform, on a jomnt and several basis with KCRC, the obligations of KCRC
under the respective CBLs

In addition, the Company has entered into a US CBL Allocation Agreement with KCRC, whereby the rights, obligations
and respensibility for risks relating to the CBLs are delineated and allocated between the Company and KCRC
Generally, the Company 1s responsible for operaticnal matters, such as repair, maintenance and insurance of the CBL
Property, and KCRC 1s responsible for all other obligations, including payment of perniodic rents and collateral related
obligations Despite this allocation of obligations, the Company 15 pnima facie jomtly and severally hiable to the CBL
counterparties for any failure of KCRC 1o perform its obligations under the CBLs

KCRC and HKSAR Government have agreed to indemmify the Company for its reasonable costs incurred as a result of
the due and proper performance by the Company of 1ts obligations under the CBLs (unless such costs would have been
mcurred m any event) In addition, KCRC has agreed to indemmify the Company for losses and reascnable costs
mcurred ansmg from KCRC not complymng with its obligations under the CBLs or from any breach of KCRC’s
representations, covenants and agreements provided for in relation to the CBLs

The Company has agreed to mdemmify each of HKSAR Government and KCRC for losses and reasonable costs incurred

ansing {from any breach of the Company’s representations, covenants and agreements provided for in relaton to the
CBLs

F. Service Concession 1n respect of the Rail Merger

Pursuant to the Rail Merger, the Company 1s obliged under the Service Concession Agreement (“SCA”) to pay an annual
fixed payment of HK$750 million to KCRC over the period of the service concession  Additionally, commencing after
three years from the Appoimnted Day, the Company 15 obliped to pay a vanahble annual payment t¢ KCRC based on the
revenue generated from the KCRC system above certan thresholds Furthermore, under the SCA, the Company 1s
obliged to maintain, repair, replace and/or upgrade the KCRC system over the penod of the service concession which 1s
10 be returned at the expiry of the service concession

59 Accounting Estimates and Judgements
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A. Key sources of accounting estimates and estimation uncertainty include the following

(1) Estimated Useful Life and Deprectation and Amortsation of Property, Plant and Equipment and Service Concession
Assets

The Group estimates the useful lives of the various categories of property, plant and equipment and service concession
assets on the basis of their design lives, planned asset mantenance programme and actual usage expenence
Depreciation 1s calculated using the straight-hne method at rates sufficient to write off their cost or valuation over their
estimated useful lives (note 2I)

(11) Impairment of Long-lived Assets

The Group reviews 1ts long-lived assets for indications of impairment at each balance sheet date according to accounting
policies set out 1n note 2H{(u1)  In analysig potential impairments 1dentified, the Group uses projections of future cash
flows from the assets based on management’s assignment of a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset

(111) Pension Costs

The Group employs independent valuation professionals to conduct annual assessment of the actuarnal position of the
Group’s retirement plans  The determination of the Group’s obligation and expense for the defined benefit element of
these plans 1s dependent on certamn assumptions and factors provided by the Company, which are disclosed n notes
54A(1) and 534A(n)

(1v) Revenue Recogmtion on Property Development

Recogmtion of property development profits requires management’s estimation of the final project costs upon
completion, assessment of outstanding transactions and market values of unsold units and, in the case of sharing-in-kind
properties, the properties’ fawr value upon recogmition  The Group takes into account independent quahfied surveyors’
reports, past experience on sales and marketing costs when estimating final project costs on completion and makes
reference to professionally qualified valuers’ reports 1n determuning the estimated fawr value of shaning-1n-kind properties

(v) Properties Held for Sale

The Group values unsold properties at the lower of their costs and net realisable values (note 35) at the balance sheet date
In ascertaiming the properties’ net realisable values, which are represented by the estimated selling prices less costs to be
mcurred 1n relation to the sales, the Group employs independent valuation professionals to assess the properties’
estimated selling prices and makes estimations on further selling and property holding costs to be incurred based on past
expenence and with reference to general market practice

(v) Valuation of Investment Properties

The valuation of mvestment properties requres management’s input of various assumptions and factors relevant to the
valuation The Group conducts semi-annual revaluation of its investment properties by mdependent professionally
qualified valuers based on these assumptions agreed with the valuers prior to adoption

{vn) Franchise in Hong Kong

The current franchise under which the Group 1s operating 1n Hong Kong allows the Group to run the mass transit railway
system 1t Hong Kong unul 1 December 2057. Pursuant to the terms stupulated in the new Operating Agreement with
HKSAR Government, the Company considers that it has the legal nght to extend the franchise for further periods of 50
years upen expiry of each franchise term (note 57C)  The Group’s depreciation policies (note 21) 1n respect of certain
assets’ Iives which extend beyond 2057 are set on this basis

(vin) Income Tax

Certain treatments adopted by the Group in 1ts Hong Kong Profits Tax returns in the past years are yet to be finalised
with the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department  In assessing the Group’s mncome tax and deferred taxation in the
2011 accounts, the Company has predominantly followed the tax treatments 1t has adopted 1n these tax retums, which
may be different from the final outcome 1n due course

(1x) Project Provisions
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The Group establishes project provisions for the settlement of estimated claims that may anse due to time delays,
additional costs or other unforeseen circumstances common to major construction contracts  The claims provisions are
estimated based on an assessment of the Group’s habilities under each contract by professionally qualified personnel,
which may differ from the actual claims setilement

{x) Deferred Expenditure

As disclosed 1n note 2J(1), the Group capitalises proposed rallway and property development project costs 1in deferred
expenditure when the projects are at a detailed study stage and having been approved in principle by the Members of the
Board  Such decision involves the Board’s judgement on the outcome of the proposed project

(x1) Fair Value of Denvatives and Other Financial Instruments

In determiming the fair value of financial instruments, the Group uses its judgement to select a vanety of methods and
make assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at each balance sheet date For financial
mstruments that are not traded 1n active markets, the far values were denved using the discounted cash flows method
which discounts the future contractual cash flows at the current market mterest or foreign exchange rates, as apphcable,
for similar financial instruments that were available to the Group at the time

(xu) Obligations under Service Concession

In determunng the present value of the obligations under service concession, the discount rate adopted was the relevant
Group company’s estumated long-term mcremental cost of borrowing at inception after due consideration of the relevant
Group company’s existing fixed rate borrowing cost, future interest rate and inflation trends

B. Cntical sccounting yjudgements 1n applying the group’s accounting policies mclude the following

(1} Provisions and Contingent Liabilities

The Group recognises provisions for habilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation ansing as a result of a past event, and 1t 1s probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made  Where 1t 1s not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation 1s disclosed as contingent liability  As at 31
December 2011, the Group considered that 1t had no disclosable contingent liabilities as there were neither pending
hitigations nor events with potential obligation which were probable to result in matenal outflow of economic benefits
from the Group

(11) Non-controlled Subsidianes

The Group regards Octopus Holdings Limited and 1ts subsidianes (the “OHL Group”) as non-controlled subsidiartes In
determimng whether the Group has contrel over these subsidiaries, the Group has taken mio account 1ts voting right
conferred to 1t under the Shareholder’s Agreement of OHL and the effective influence 1t may exercise over the decision
of OHL’s Board Throughout the year ended 31 December 2011, the Group considered that its voung right 1in the OHL
Group has been maintained at 49% despite an equity interest of 57 4%  As such, the OHL Group was accounted for as
nen-controlled subsidianes in the Group’s accounts

60 Possible Impact of Amendments, New Standards and Interpretations Issued but Not Yet
Effective for the Annual Accounting Period Ended 31 December 2011

Up to the date of 1ssue of these accounts, the HKICPA has issued the following amendments, new standards and
mnterpretations which are not yet effective for the year ended 31 December 2011 and have not been adopted in these
accounts

Effective for accounting periods
beginning on or after

Amendments to HKFRS 1, First-ume adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting 1 July 2011
Standards — Severe hypeninflation and removal of fixed dates for first-ume
adopters

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial instruments Disclosures — Transfers of 1 July 2011

Sfinancial assets
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Amendments to HKAS 12, Income taxes — Deferred tax Recovery of underlying 1 January 2012
assets

Amendments to HKAS 1, Presentatton of financial statements — Presentation of 1 July 2012
ttems of other comprehensive income

Amendments to HKFRS 7, Financial winstrumenis Disclosures — Offsetting 1 January 2013
Jfinancial assets and financial habilities

HKFRS 10, Consolidated financial statements 1 January 2013

HKFRS 11, Joint arrangements 1 January 2G13

HKFRS 12, Disclosure of interests in other entities 1 January 2013

HKFRS 13, Fawr value measurement 1 January 2013

HKAS 27, Separate financial statements (2011) 1 January 2013

HKAS 28, Investments in associates and joint ventures 1 January 2013

Revised HKAS 19, Employee benefits 1 January 2013

HK((IFRIC) 20, Stripping costs in the production phase of a surface niine 1 January 2013

Amendments to HKAS 32, Financial instruments Presentation — Offsetting 1 January 2014
financial assets and financial habilities

HKFRS 9, Financial instruments 1 January 2015

The Group 15 11 the process of making an assessment of what the impact of these amendments 1s expected to be 1n the
period of mmtial application At thus moment, the Group considers that the adoption of Amendments to HKAS 12,
Revised HKAS 19, Amendments to HKAS 1, HKFRS 12, and HKFRS 13 will have impact on the Group’s accounts

Amendments to HKAS 12 introduce a rebuttable presumption on the measurement of deferred tax on investment
properties carried at fair value and the adoption of 1t 1s expected 1o result in the retrospective derecogmtion of deferred
tax lhabilities 1n relation to the change 1 value of investment properties upon first adoption  Such derecogmtion, 1f
measured at 31 December 2011, would amount to HK$5,604 million Revised HKAS 19 changes the accounting and
disclosure requirements on defined benefit plans and therefore will affect the amounts recognised 1n the Group’s financial
statements and disclosure notes 1n respect of the MTRCL Retirement Scheme Amendments to HKAS 1 will affect the
presentation of items of other comprehensive income 1n the Statement of Comprehensive income while new HKFRS 12 and
HKFRS 13 will affect the disclosures on information on non-controlling interests of subsidianies and valuation on investment
properties

Other than the above, 1t has concluded so far that the adoption of other new 1ssues or amendments 1s unlikely to have a
material impact on the Group’s results of operations and financial position

61 Approval of Accounts

The accounts were approved by the Board on 8 March 2012
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The Members of the Board have pleasure in submitting their
Report and the audited statement of Accounts for the financial
year ended 31 December 2011

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES OF THE GROUP

The prinapal activities of the Company and its subsidianes are

A the operation of a modern railway system with lines from
Central to Tsuen Wan {Tsuen Wan Ling), from Yau Ma Te1 to Tiu
Keng Leng {(Kwun Tong Line}, from Po Lam and LOHAS Park to
North Point {Tseung Kwan O Line), from Chal Wan to Sheung
Wan (Island Line), from Hong Keng to Tung Chung (Tung
Chung Line), from Hong Kong to the Hong Kong International
Airport and then AsiaWorld-Expo both at Chek Lap Kok
(Aurport Express), from Sunny Bay to Disneyland Resort
(Disneyland Resort Line), from Hung Hom to the boundary at
Lo Wu and Lok Ma Chau (East Rail Line), from Tai Wai to Wu Kal
Sha (Ma On Shan Line}, from Hung Hom to Tuen Mun (West
Rail Line}, the North-west Rallway (commonly known as Light
Raul) in the North-West New Terntories of Tuen Mun, Tin Shu
Wal and Yuen Long, an intercity rallway system between Hong
Kong and some major aties in the Mainland of China, and
feeder bus services in support of West Rail Ling, East Rail Line
and Light Rall,

B property development, either as owner or as an agent for
KCRC, at locations along the refated railway lines including
the Tseung Kwan O Line, the Ma On Shan Line, the East Rail
Line, the Light Rail, the West Rail Line, the Kwun Tong Line
Extension and the South Island Line (East),

C related commercial activities, including the letting of
advertising and retail space, enabling telecommunication
services on the rallway system, asset management and leasing
management of iInvestment properties {including shopping
malls and offices) and property management of office
bulldings and residential units,

D the investment in a 50% equity share in the operation of
the 7-year UK's London Overground Concession, consisting
of 5 London railway lines measuring a total route length of
112 kilometres,

E theinvestment in the operation (iIncluding rolling stock
maintenance which 1s undertaken by a 50 50 joint venture) of
the 8-year Sweden’s Stockholm Metro Concession, consisting
of three lines measuring a total of 110 kilometres, inking the
Swedish capital’s central areas with surrounding suburbs,

F the investment in a2 60% equity share in Metro Trains
Melbourne of an 8-year concession for the operation and
maintenance of the Melbourne train system, consisting of 15
lines running on 372 kilometres, inking Melbourne’s central
business district with surrounding suburbs,

G the design and construction of the West Island Line as an
extension of the Island Line,

H the design, construction, procurement of services and
equipment, and all other matters associated with bringing the
Hong Kong section of the Guangzhou-Shenzhen-Hong Kong
Express Rail Link into servige,

| the design and construction of the Kwun Tong Line
Extension and the South Island Line (East) as the system
extensions of the raillway network,

J  the planning and design of the Shatin to Central Link
as a major rallway project for which the Government has
confirmed policy support,

K the operation of the Tung Chung to Ngong Ping Cable Car
System and the Theme Village in Ngong Ping, Lantau Island,
Hong Kong,

L worldwide consultancy services and contracting
opportunities covering all areas of expertise required in the
project management, planning, construction, operation,
maintenance and up-grading of railways plus fare coliection,
property integration/development advice including other
property related services and advice on generation of
non-fare revenues,

M investmentn Octopus Holdings Limited, a subsidiary
of the Company, which has business activities both in Hong
Kong and overseas including the operation of a contactless
smart card system by its subsidiary Octopus Cards Limited
for the collection of payments for both transport and non-
transport applications in Hong Kong,

N equity investments and long term operations and
maintenance contracts cutside of Hong Kong,

O property management, shopping mall investment
and rallway related property development business in the
Mainland of China,

P the investmentin a 49% equity interest In a joint venture
for the investrnent, construction and operations of Beijing
Metro Line 4, consisting of 28 kilemetres with 24 stations
forming the main north-south traffic artery for Beijing,
Mainland of Chinaunder a 30-year concession agreement
with the Beiying Muniaipal Government, and aperations and
maintenance of Bejjing Metro Daxing Line, an extension to
the Beying Metro Line 4, consisting of 22 kilometres with

11 stations, under a 10-year operations and maintenance
concession agreement with Bejjing Metro Daxing Line
Investrment Company Linited, a wholly owned subsidiary of
Beying Municipal Government,

Q theinvestment in the design, construction and operations
of Phase 2 of Shenzhen Metro Line 4, together with the
operations of Phase 1 The line1s a 20 5 kilometres double-
track urban railway running frem Futian Checkpoint at the
boundary between Hong Keng and Shenzhen, with a total

of 15 stations and a train maintenance depot, under a 30-
year Builld-Operate-Transfer concession agreement with the
Shenzhen Muniaipal Government, and
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R theacquisition of the land use right of the land lot above
the Shenzhen Metro Line 4 Depot by two wholly-owned
subsidianes of the Company in August 2011 Thelotwith a
total gross floor area of approximately 206,167 square metres
will be used for residential and commercial development

In March 2010, a provisional Concession Agreement for

a Public-Pnivate Partnership project for the investment,
construction and operation of Hangzhou Metro Line 1, for a
term of 25 years, was agreed between MTR Hangzhou Line

1 Investment Company Limited (a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company) and a subsidiary of Hangzhou Metro
Group Company Limited together with Hangzhou Municipal
Government The Concession Agreement 1s pending for the
regulatory Central Government approval

DIVIDEND

The Directors have recommended a final dvidend of HK$0 51
per Ordinary Share to be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the Register of Members of the Company
on 14 May 2012 Subject to the passing of the necessary
resolutions at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, such
dividend will be payable on or about 29 May 2612, in cashin
Hong Kong dollars

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Members of the Board who served during the year were

Dr Raymond Ch'ten Kuo-fung (non-executive Chairman),

Mr Chow Chung-kong (Chief Executive Officer), Mr Vincent
Cheng Hoi-chuen, Ms Christine Fang Meng-sang, Mr Edward
Ho Sing-tin, Mr Alasdair George Mornson, Mr Ng Leung-sing,
Mr Abraham Shek Lai-him, Mr T Brian Stevenson, Professor
Chan Ka-keung, Ceajer, the Secretary for Transport and
Housing (Ms Eva Cheng) and the Commuissioner for Transport
(Mr Joseph Lal Yee-tak)

As announced by the Company in December 2010, Mr Chow
Chung-kong retired from the position of Chief Executive
Officer and ceased to be a Member of the Board and 2
Member of the Executive Directorate on 31 December 2011

On 22 July 2011 and following a worldwide search for

Mr Chow’s replacement, the Company announced the
appointment of Mr Jay Herbert Walder as Chief Executive
Officer for an imtial term of thirty months with effect from 1
January 2012 He became both a Mermber of the Executive
Directorate and a Member of the Board of Directors with effect
from the same date Before joining the Company, Mr Walder
was Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the New York
Metropolitan Transportation Authonity, the largest passenger
transportation authority in the United States

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on page 91
for other details
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At the Annual General Meeting on 6 May 2011 and pursuant
to the Articles of Association, Mr Edward Ho Sing-tin, Mr

Ng Leung-sing, Mr Abraham Shek Lai-hum and Mr Alasdair
George Mornson retired under the Articles of Association and
were re-elected/elected as Members of the Board

At the 2012 Annual Genera! Meeting and 1n accordance with
the Articles of Association, Dr Raymond Ch'ien Kuo-fung, Mr
T Bnan Stevenson and Professor Chan Ka-keung, Ceajer will
retire by rotatton and will offer themselves for re-election Mr
Jay Herbert Walder, who was appointed by the Board after the
2011 Annual General Meeting, will retire under Article 85 of
the Articles of Association and will offer himself for election at
the 2012 Annual General Meeting Please also refer to page 97
of the Corporate Governance Report

Biographical details for Board Members are set out on pages
112to 115

ALTERNATE DIRECTORS

The Alternate Directors in office during the year were

» for Professor Chan Ka-keung, Ceajer Mr Ying Yiu-hong
and Miss Chu Man-ling,

» for the office of the Secretary for Transport and Housing
(1) the Under Secretary for Transport and Housing (Mr Yau
Shing-mu), (1) the Permanent Secretary for Transport and
Housing (Transport) (Mr Ho Suen-wai}, and {m) the Deputy
Secretary for Transport and Housing (Transport) (Ms Maisie
Cheng Mei-sze and Ms Rebecca Pun Ting-ting), and

+ for the Commussioner for Transport the Deputy
Commussioner for Transport/Transport Services and
Management (Ms Carolina Yip Lai-ching)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORATE

The Members of the Executive Directorate who served during
the year were Mr Chow Chung-kong {Chief Executive Officer
and a Member of the Board) (until 31 December 2011),

Mr Wilham Chan Fu-keung (retiring on 17 July 2012),

Mr Chew Tai Chong, Mr Thomas Ho Hang-kwong (until 30
September 2011}, Dr Jacob Kam Chak-pui, Mr Lincoln Leong
Kwok-kuen, Mr Leonard Bryan Turk {untill 31 August 2011),
Ms Gillian Ehzabeth Meller (from 1 September 2011), Ms Jeny
Yeung Mei-chun (from 1 September 2011) and Mr Dawvid Tang
Chi-far (from 1 October 2011)

Please refer to the "Members of the Board” section on this
page regarding Mr Jay Herbert Walder’s appointment as the
Chief Executive Officer, a Member of the Board and a Member
of the Executive Directorate with effect from 1 January 2012




Ms Meller and Ms Yeung, and Mr Tang were appointed as
Members of the Executive Directorate in September and
October 2011 respectively Each of Ms Meller and Mr Tang
has served the Company for over 7 years Before being
appointed as a Member of the Executive Directorate, Ms
Meller had been Legal Adwiser, Legal Manager - General

and Deputy Legal Director, and Mr Tang had held senior
management positions in the Legal and Procurement Division
and the China and International Business Division before he
was transferred to the Property Division in 2009 Ms Yeung
has served the Company for over 12 years She had been
the Marketing Manager and General Manager — Marketing

& Statton Commercial before she became a Member of the
Executive Directorate Ms Yeung has also been a member of
the Executive Committee since 2004

Mr Cheung Siu Wa (also known as Mr Morris Cheung),
currently Human Resources Director — Designate, will be
appointed as Human Resources Director and will become a
Member of the Executive Directorate, both with effect from
17 July 2012 Before being appointed as Human Resources
Director - Designate, Mr Cheung had been Chief of
Operations Engineering

Biographtcal details for Memnbers of the Executive Directorate
during the year are setout on pages 115t0 117

INTERNAL AUDIT

The Company’s Internal Audit Department provides
independent, objective assurance and consulting services
designed to add value and improve the Company’s
operations Key responsibilities of the Department include

e Assessment of the adequacy and effectiveness of the
Company’s system of internal controls over its activities
and risk management

« Identfication of opportunities for improving management
control, resources utilisation and profitability

* Speaqial reviews and/or investigations as commussioned by
Company management or the Audit Commuttee

The Head of Internal Audit reperts directly to the Chief
Executive Officer and has direct access to the Audit Committee

BUSINESS ETHICS
Please refer to pages 104 to 105

POLICIES

The Board has adopted the following risk management
strategies and policies

Construction and Insurance Risk Management Strategy,
Finance Risk Management Strategy,

Treasury Risk Management Strategy,

Safety Risk Management Strategy,

Enterprise Risk Management Strategy,

Security Risk Management Pchcy, and

oM m g AN w9 >

Environmental Risk Management Policy

PUBLIC FLOAT

The Stack Exchange granted to the Company, at the time of
its hsting on the Main Board of the Steck Exchange 1in 2000, a
waiver from strict comphance with Rule 8 08{1) of the Listing
Rules (“Public Float Waiver”) Pursuant to the Public Fioat
Waiver, the Company’s prescribed mimimum percentage of
shares which must be in the hands of the public must not be
less than 10% of the total 1ssued share capital of the Company
Based on the information thats publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has mantained the prescnbed amount of public
float during the year and up to the date of this report as
required by the Public Float Waiver

BANK OVERDRAFTS, BANK LOANS AND
OTHER BORROWINGS

The total borrowitngs of the Group as at 31 December 2011
amounted to HK$23,168 million (2010 HK$21,057 mullion)
Parttculars of borrowings are set out In note 42 to the accounts

ACCOUNTS

The state of affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31
December 2011 and of the Group’s results, changes in equity
and cash flows for the year are set out in the accounts on
pages 147 to 238

TEN-YEAR STATISTICS
A summary of the results and of the assets and hiabilities of the

Group together with some major operational statistics for the
last ten years are set out on pages 80 to 81

FIXED ASSETS AND RAILWAY CONSTRUCTION

IN PROGRESS

Movements in fixed assets and railway construction in
progress during the year are set out In notes 23 to 25 and 27
to the accounts respectively
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MOVEMENTS IN RESERVES

Movements in reserves dunng the year are set out in the
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and notes 50
and 51 to the accounts

SHARE CAPITAL

As at 31 December 2010, the authonised share capital of the
Company was HKS6 5 billion, divided inte 6 5 kllion Crdinary
Shares, 5,772,563,031 of which were 1ssued and credited as
fully paid

During the year, the Company 1ssued a total of 12,308,219
Ordinary Shares Of this number

A 792,200 Ordinary Shares were issued by the Company
pursuant to the exercise of share options which had been
granted under the Company’'s New Joiners Share Option
Scheme (as referred 1n note 50A to the accounts) In respect
of each Ordinary Share issued, the relevant exercise price per
share of options are HK$9 75 and HK$20 66 to the Company,

B 1,172,500 Ordinary Shares were 1ssued by the Company
pursuant to the exercise of share options which had been
granted under the Company’s 2007 Share Optien Scheme

{as referred in note 50A to the accounts) In respect of each
Ordinary Share ssued, the relevant exercise price per share of
options are HK$18 30, HK$26.52, HK$ 26 85, and HK$27 60 to
the Company, and

C 10,343,519 Ordinary Shares were 1ssued by the Company
in order to satisfy shareholders’ scnp dividend elections in
respect of the final dividend of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2010 (for which the cash dividend was
HK$0 45 per Qrdinary Share)

As at 31 December 2011, the authornised share capital of the
Company was HKS6 5 billion, divided inte 6 S billion Ordinary
Shares, 5,784,871,250 of which were 1ssued and credited as
fully paid

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidianies has
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Group's listed
securities during the year ended 31 December 2011

PROPERTIES

Particulars of the principal investment properties and
properties held for sale of the Company are shown on pages
541055

DONATIONS

During the year, the Company donated a total of approximately
HK$2 7 mullion to chantable and other organisations
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in additron, the MTR HONG KONG Race Walking 2011 raised
over HK$1 33 mithon (including over HK$55,000 from MTR
staff) for the Hospital Authority Health InfoWorld to promote
good health

The Company helped raise funds for the Community Chest
and the Hong Kong Cancer Fund with a total cash donaton
of over HK$304,000 through different activities such as CARE
Scheme, Green Day, Love Teeth Day and Dress Casual Day for
the former organisation and Dress Pink Day for the latter

REPORTING AND MONITORING

There is a comprehensive budgeting system for all operational
and business activities, with an annual budget approved by the
Board Monthly results of the Company’s operations, businesses
and projects are reported aganst the budget to the Board and
updated forecasts for the year are prepared regularly

TREASURY MANAGEMENT

The Company's Treasury Department operates within
approved guidelines from the Board It manages the
Company's debt profile with reference to the Preferred
Financing Model which defines the preferred mix of financing
instruments, fixed and floating rate debts, maturities,

interest rate risks, currency expasure and finanang honzon
The model s reviewed and refined periodically to reflect
changes in the Company’s financing requirements and
market environment Denvative financial instruments such as
interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps are used only

as hedging tools to manage the Group'’s exposure to interest
rate and currency risks Prudent guidelines and procedures
are in place to centrol the Company’s denvatives activities,
including a comprehensive credit nsk management systern for
monstoring counterparty credit exposure using the Value-at-
Risk approach There is also appropriate segregation of duties
within the Company’s Treasury Department

Major financing transactions and guidelines for derwvatives
transactions including credit sk management framework are
approved at the Board level

CAPITAL AND REVENUE EXPENDITURE

There are defined procedures for the appraisal, review

and approval of major capital and revenue expenditures

All project expenditure over 0 2% of the net assets of the
Company and the employment of consultancy services over

0 1% of the net assets of the Company require the approval of
the Board

BONDS AND NOTES ISSUED

The Group 1ssued notes amounting to HK$2,206 mullion
equivalent dunng the year ended 31 December 2011, details
of which are set out in note 42C to the accounts Such notes
were i1ssued in order to meet the Group's general corporate




funding requirements, including the financing of new capital
expenditure and the refinancing of matunng debts

COMPUTER PROCESSING

There are defined procedures, controls and regular quality
reviews on the operation of computer systems to ensure the
accuracy and completeness of financial records and efficency
of data processing The Company’s computer centre operation
and support, help desk operation and support services, and
also software development and maintenance, have been
certified under IS0 9007 2008 Disaster recovery rehearsal on
critical applications s conducted annually

INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF MEMBERS OF
THE BOARD AND THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTORATE

There was no contract of significance, to which the Company

or any of its subsidiaries was a party and 1n which a Member
of the Board or a Member of the Executive Directorate had a
material iInterest {whether direct or indirect), which subsisted
at the end of the year or at any ume dunng the year

BOARD MEMBERS’ AND EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORATE'S INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2011, the interests or short positions of the
Members of the Board and the Executive Directorate in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company
{within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Cap 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (“SFO")) as
recorded in the reg:ster required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

Derivatives
Share
Number of Ordinary Shares held Options Other
Percentage
of aggregate
interests to total
Member of the Board and/or the Personal* Family! Corporate Personal®*  Personal* Total 1ssued share
Executive Directorate interasts interests Interests interests interests interests capital
Raymond Ch'ien Kuo-fung 52,330 - - - - 52,330 000090
Chow Chung-kong - - - 2,130,000 222,161 2,352,161 004066
(Note 1} {Note 2)
Vincent Cheng Ho-chuen 1,675 1,675 - - - 3,350 0 00006
Christine Fang Meng-sang 1,712 - - - - 1,712 0 00003
T Bnan Stevenson 5,153 - - - - 5,153 D 0Oco09
William Chan Fu-keung 126,106 - - 680,000 - 806,106 001393
{Note 1)
Chew TaiChong - - - 425,000 - 425,000 000735
{Note 1)
Jacob Kam Chak-pwu 2,283 - - 425,000 - 427,283 000739
{Note 1)
Lincoln Leong Kwok-kuen 23,000 - 23,000 680,000 - 726,000 001255
{Note 3) {Note 1)
Jeny Yeung Merchun (Note 5) 13,400 - - 270,000 - 283,400 000490
{Note 1)
Gillian Elizabeth Meller (Note 6} - - - 219,500 - 219,500 000379
(Note 1)
Dawid Tang Chr-fai (Note 7) 600 - - (1) 22,000 - 260,600 000450
(Note 4)
{i) 238,000
(Note 1)
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.. THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

LONG POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Denvatives

Share

Number of Ordinary Shares held Options Other
Percentage
of aggregate
interests to total
Member of the Board and the Personal* Farmily!  Corporate Personal* Personal* Total 1ssued share
Executive Directorate Interests interests Interests interests Interests interests capital
Jay Herbert Walder (Note 8) - - - - 300,000 300,000 000519

Notes

1 Further details of the above share options are set outin the table below showing details of the options to subscribe for ordinary shares granted under the 2007
Share Option Scheme

2 Mr Chow Chung-kong had a derivative interest in respect of 222,161 shares in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO That derivative interest
represented Mr Chow's entitiement to receive an equivalent value in cash of 222,161 shares in the Company on completion of his contract on 31 December
2011 Anamount of HK$5,556,802 01 was paid to him on 4 January 2012 (a1 a pnice of HK$25 0125 per share denved tn accordance with the terms of the grant by
reference to the average closing pnce of the Company’s shares on the 20 business days immediately preceding 31 December 2011)

The 22 000 shares are held by Linsan Investment Ltd,, a private lmited company beneficially wholly owned by Mr Linco!ln Leong Kwok-kuen

Further details of the above share options are set out in the table below showing details of the aptions to subscribe for ordinary shares granted under the New
Jomers Share Option Scheme

Ms Jeny Yeung Mer-chun became the Commercial Director and 2 Member of the Executive Directorate on 1 September 2011

Ms Gillian Elizabeth Meller became the Legal Director and Secretary and a Member of the Executive Directorate on 1 September 2011

Mr Dawid Tang Chi-far became the Property Director and a Member of the Executive Directorate on 1 October 2011

Mr Jay Herbert Walder became Chief Executive Officer, a Member of the Board and a Member of the Executive Directorate on 1 January 2012 Mr Walder was
granted a denivative interest in respect of 200,000 shares in the Company within the meantng of Part XV of the SFO That denivative interest represents Mr Walder's
entitlement to be paid an equivalent value tn cash of 300 000 shares in the Company following 30 June 2014, being the date on which his imitial term of office s
expected to expire (35% of which shallbe deemed to be earned at 31 October 2013 subject to certain conditions specified i tus employment contract)

b W

LRI - V)

*  Interests as beneficial owner
t Interasts of spouse or child under 18 as beneficial owner
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OPTIONS TO SUBSCRIBE FOR ORDINARY SHARES GRANTED UNDER THE NEW JOINERS SHARE OPTION SCHEME,
AS REFERRED TO IN NOTES 118(1) AND 53A(1) TO THE ACCOUNTS

Weighted
average
closing price
of shares
mmediately
before the
date(s}
Options Exercise Options onwhich
outstanding Options Options Options  Options price per outstanding options
Penod durning which asat granted vested lapsed exerased share of asat 31 were
Executive Directorate and Date  Options rights exercisable 1January dunng during dunng dunng options  December exercised
eligible employees granted  granted (day/month/year} 2011 theyear theyear theyear (HKS) 201 {HK$}
Lincoln Leong Kwok-kuen  1/8/2003 1066000 14/7/2004 - 14/7/2013 417 500 - - - 975 - 2555
Dawid Tang Chs-fal 15/5/2006 213,000 25/4/2007 - 25/4/2016 22000 - - - 2066 22000 -
Other eligible employees  1/8/2003 495,200 14/7/2004 - 14/7/2013 108,200 - - - 975 - 2916
23/9/2005 213,000 §/9/2006 - 5/9/2015 213,000 - - - 1597 213,000 -
510/2006 94,000 29/9/2007 - 29/9/2016 94 000 - - - 19732 94 000 -
12/5/2006 266,500 25/4/2007 - 25/4/2016 266,500 - - - 2066 - 2877
Notes

1

No option may be exerased later than ten years after its date of offer and no option may be offered to be granted more than five years after the adoption of the
New Jotners Share Option Scheme (“New Option Scheme”) on 16 May 2002
Unless appraved by shareholders in the manner as required by the Listing Rules, the total number of shares issued and 1ssuable upon exercise of the options
granted 16 any eligible employee under the New Option Scheme together with the total number of shares 1ssued and 1ssuable upon the exercise of any aption
granted to such eligible employee under any other share option scheme of the Company (including, in each case, both exercised and outstanding options) in any
12-month period must not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company n 1ssue at the date of offer in respect of such opuon under the New Opuon Scheme

3 The proportion of undertying shares in respect of which the above share options will vest s as follows

Date

Proporuon of undertying shares in respect of

which an option 1s vested

Before the first anniversary of the date of offer of the option (the "Offer Annversary™)

From the first Offer Anniversary to the date immediately before the second Offer Anniversary

From the second Offer Anniversary to the date immediatefy before the third Offer Anniversary

From the third Offer Anniversary and thereafter

none
one-third
two-thirds

afl
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~ 7 TOF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

OPTIONS TO SUBSCRIBE FOR ORDINARY SHARES GRANTED UNDER THE 2007 SHARE OPTION SCHEME,
AS REFERRED TO IN NOTES 11B(n} AND 53A(n) TO THE ACCOUNTS

Weighted

average

closing price

of shares

immediately

befare the

Opuions Exercise Options datef{s}

outstanchng  Options Options Options  Options  pnce per  outstanding on which

Pencd dunng which asat granted wvested lapsed exerosed  shareof asat31 options were

Executive Directorate and Date Options nghts exerasable 1January during durng dunng dunngthe  options December exerased
eligible employees aranted granted {day/month/year) 2011 theyear theyear theyear year (HKS) 2011 (HKS}
Chow Chung-kong 13/12/2007 720000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 720000 - - - - 2760 720,000 -
9/1272008 470000  B/12/2009-8112/2015 470,000 -~ 156000 - - 18.30 470000 -

9/12/2009 470000 B/12/2010-8/12/2016 470 000 - 157000 - - 26.85 470000 -

17/1272010 470000 16/12/2001-16/12/2017 470000 - 157000 - - 2884 470000 -

Willlam Chan Fu keung 13/12/2007 170,000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 170,000 - - - - 2760 170,000 -
912/2008 170000  B/12/2009 - 8/12/2015 170,000 - 56000 - - 1830 170,000 -

10/12/2009 170000 8/12/2010- 81272016 170,000 - 57000 - - 2685 170,000 -

17/12/2010 170000 16/12/2011 -16/122017 170000 - 57000 - - 28.84 170,000 -

Chew Tai Chong 18/6/2009 85000  12/6/2010-12/6/2016 85 000 - 28500 - - 2450 85 000 -
10/1272009 170000  8/12/2010- 8/12/20%6 170 000 - 57000 - - 2685 170000 -

171272010 170000 16/12/2001-16/12/2017 170000 - 57000 - - 2584 170000 -

Jacob Kam Chak-pu 13/12/2007 75000 10/12/2008-10/1272004 75000 - - - - 27 60 75000 -
8/12/2008 65,000 8/12/2009-8/12/2015 65 000 - 21000 - - 18,30 65000 -

141272009 65,000 871272010~ 81272006 65 000 - 22000 - - 2685 65000 -

21/7/210 50,000 28/6/2011 - 28/6/2017 50,000 - 17 000 - - 2773 50000 -

171220010 170,000 16/12/2011 - 16/12/2017 170,000 - 57000 - - 2884 170,000 -

uncoln Leong Kwok kuen  1272/2007 170000 101272008 - 101272004 170,000 - - - - 760 170,000 -
9/12/2008 170000  8/12/2009-8/12/2015 170,000 - 56000 - - 1830 170,000 -

10A12/2009 170000  8/12/2010-8/12/2016 170,000 - 57 000 - - 2685 170,000 -

17/12/2010 170000 16/12/2011 -16/12/2017 170 000 - 57,000 - - 2884 170000 -

Jeny Yeung Merchun 12/12/2007 75000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 75000 - - - - 2760 75000 -
(Note 4) 10/12/2008 65000  8/12/2009- 8122015 65000 - 21000 - - 1830 65000 -
10112/2009 65000 8/12/2010-8/12/2016 65 GO0 - 22,000 - - 2685 65000 -

17/12/2010 65000 16/12/2011 - 16/12/2017 65 GO0 - 22000 - - 2884 65000 -

Grlhan Ehzabeth Meller 12/12/2007 55000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 18 GOO - - - - 2760 18000 -
(Note 5) 11/12/2008 70000 8A2/2009- 8/12/2015 46500 - 23000 - - 1830 26500 -
101272009 65000 8/12/2010-8/12/2016 65,000 - 22000 - 2635 650C0 -

1771272010 90,000 16/12/2011 - 161272017 90 000 - 30,000 - 2884 90 0G0 -

David Tang Chrfai 13/12/2007 65,000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 65000 - - - - 2760 65000 -
INote 6) 12/12/2008 65000  8/12/2009- 8/12/2015 43000 - 21000 - - 1830 43000 -
15/12/2009 65,000 8/12/2010-8/12/2016 65 000 - 22000 - - 26 85 65 000 -

1711272000 65,000 16/12/2011 - 1671272017 65,000 - 22,000 - 2884 65 000 -

Other eligible employees 1171272007 45,000 10/12/2008-10/12/2014 45,000 - - - - 27 60 45000 -
12/12/2007 2430000 10/12/2008-10/12/2014 2,025 000 - - 320000 65 000 27 60 1,640 000 2815

1311272007 775000 10/12/2008-10/12/2014 775000 - - 65000 - 27 60 710000 -

14/12/2007 1005000 10/12/2008- 10/12/2014 872 000 - - 52000 - 2760 820000 -

15/12/2007 435000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 343 000 - - 75000 40,000 2760 225000 2920

171272007 835000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 751 000 - - 21,000 - 2760 730000 -

18/12/2007 445000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 288 000 - - 13000 - 2760 275000 -

19/12/2007 315000 10/12/2008-10/12/2014 80000 - - - 2760 80000 -

2011272007 190,000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 190 000 - - - - 2760 190 000 -

2111272007 45000 10/12/2008-10/12/2014 15000 - - 15000 - 2760 - -

221272007 35000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 35000 - - - - 2760 35000 -

ANZI007 118000 10122008 - 101272014 118000 - - - - 2760 18000 -

28/12/2007 35,000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 35000 - - - - 2760 35000 -

31/12/2007 130,000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 130 000 - - - - 7 60 130000 -

2/12008 75,000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 48,000 - - 13000 - 27 60 35000 -

37172008 40000 10/12/2008 - 10/12/2014 40000 - - - - 27 60 49 000 -

77172008 125000 104122008 - 10/12/2014 125 000 - - 15000 30,000 27 60 80000 2890

28/3/2008 255,000 26/3/2009-26/3/2015 204 000 - 75000 5,000 - 26,52 199000 -

31/372008 379000  26/3/2009-26/3/2015 349 00Q - 117000 20000 6000 26.52 323000 2895
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OPTIONS TO SUBSCRIBE FOR ORDINARY SHARES GRANTED UNDER THE 2007 SHARE OPTION SCHEME,
AS REFERRED TO IN NOTES 11B(n} AND 53A(n) TO THE ACCOUNTS {CONTINUED)

Weighted

average

closing price

of shares

immediately

before the

Cptions Exercise Options date(s)

outstanding Opuons Oprions Opuions  Options  pnce par  outstanding on which

Pencd during which asat granted vested lapsed exercised  share of asat 31 options were

Executive Directorate and Date Opuons nghts exercisable 1January dunng dunng durng duringthe  options December exercised
ehgible employees granted  granted (day/month/year} 2011 theyear theyear theyear year {HKS} 201 {HKS)
Other eligible employees 1/4/2008 261,000 26/3/2009 - 26/3/2015 249,000 - 79000 - - 2652 249000 -
/42008 296,000 26/3/2009 - 26/372015 276 000 - 84 000 - - 2652 276,000 -
3/4/2008 171000  26/3/2009 - 26/3/2015 159 000 - 52000 - 19 000 2652 140,000 2850
4/4/2008 23000  26/3/2009 - 26/3/2015 23 000 - 7 000 - - 26.52 23,000 -
5/4/2008 17,000  26/372000 - 26/3/2015 17,000 - 5,000 - - 2652 17 000 -
7/4/2008 390000  26/3/2000 - 26/3/2015 342,000 - 10000 12000 - 2652 330000 -
B/4/2008 174000 26/3/2009 - 26/32015 116,000 - 40 000 - 6000 2652 110000 2935
9/4/2008 85000 26/3/2009 - 26/3/2015 B5 000 - 26 000 - - 2652 85,000 -
10/4/2008 58000  26/3/2009 - 26372015 58000 - 18 000 - - 2652 58,000 -
11/4/2008 134000 26/3/2009 - 26/3/2015 117 000 - 36 000 - - 2652 117,000 -
12/4/2008 48000 26/3/2009 - 26/32015 48 000 - 15000 - - 2652 48,000 -
14/4/2008 40000  26/3/2008 - 26/3/2015 40 000 - 12000 - - 2652 40,000 -
15/4/2008 34000  26/3/2000 - 26/3/2015 34 000 - 10000 - - 2652 34 000 -
16/4/200B 57,000  26/3/2009 - 26/3/2015 40,000 - 12000 - - 2652 40 000 -
17/4/2008 147,000  26/3/2009 - 26/3/2015 124,000 - 38000 - - 2652 124 0600 -
18/4/2008 32000  26/3/2009 - 26/3/2015 15,000 - 5000 - - 2652 15 000 -
19/4/2008 25000  26/3/2009 - 26/3/2015 25,000 - 8.000 - - 2652 25 GO0 -
21/4/2008 65000  26/3/2009 - 26/3/2015 66,000 - 20,000 - - 2652 66 000 -
23/4/2008 34000 26/3/2009 - 26/3/2015 19,000 - 6,000 - - 2652 19,000 -
8/12/2008 90000  B/12/2009 - 8/12/2015 45 000 - 14000 - - 1830 45 000 -
9/12/2008 653000  B/12/2009 - 8/12/2015 623 000 - 184000 21000 53000 1830 549 000 2773
1011272008 2111400 8/12/2009 - B/12/2015 1975 900 - 681400 50000 93 000 1830 1,832,500 2723
111272008 2,394,200  B/12/2009 - B/12/2015 2244700 - 768200 29000 269000 1830 1946 700 2603
1211272008 1416500  8/12/2009 - 81272015 1249000 - 462500 - 151000 1830 1 098 000 2501
13/122008 84500  8/12/2009 - 81272015 84 500 - 27500 - 6500 1830 78000 2895
14/12/2008 88200 81272009 - 8/12/2015 79700 - 220 6000 21 500 1830 52200 2563
15/12/2008 1,084,700  8/12/2008 - 81272015 930 200 - 322700 15 000 421,000 1830 873200 2908
1612/2008 581500 81272009 - 81272015 487,500 - 157000 14,500 23,000 1830 450000 2752
17122008 513500  8/12/2009 - 8/12/2015 485,500 - 167500 - 15000 18.30 470,500 27385
181242008 611,500 8/12/2009% - 81212015 433 000 - 177500 - 12500 1830 470,500 2704
19/1/2008 198,000  8/12/2009- 81272015 198 000 - 64000 - - 1830 198 000 -
20M12/2008 19000  B/12/2009-8/12/2015 19000 - 6000 - - 1830 19000 -
22122008 772500  8/12/2000- 81272005 689,500 - 253500 67000 135500 18.30 487 000 2667
2371212008 306 000 8/12/2009 - 81 2/2015 246,500 - 85,000 6,000 22,500 1830 218000 2883
241122008 500500  B/12/2000-8/12/72015 455,500 - 163500 - £8,000 1830 367.500 2849
25/12/2008 45000 BN1272009-8N122015 45000 - 15 000 - - 1830 45,000 -
29/12/2008 148000  B/1272009-8/12/2015 133 000 -~  4BOOO 15000 - 1830 118,000 -
30/12/2008 19000  B/12/2009-8/12/2015 19 000 - 6000 - - 1830 19,000 -
18/6/2009 170000 12/6/2010-12/6/2016 90000 - 30000 - - 2459 90 000 -
6/7/2009 45000 12/6/20V0-12/6/2016 45,000 - 15000 - - 2450 45,000 -
9/2/2009 45000 12/672010-12/6/2016 30,000 - 15,000 - - 2450 30000 -
S$/1272009 200000  8/12/2010 - B/12/2016 115000 - 39000 - - 2685 115,000 -
10/12/2003 2211000 8/1272010- 811272016 2114000 - 700500 108000 - 2685 2,006,000 -
111272009 2,362.000  8/12/2010- 8/12/2076 2322000 - 788,000 87,000 - 2685 2,235 000 -
121272009 610,000  8/12/2010-8/12/2016 610000 - 205500 44500 - 2685 565500 -
13N 22009 19 000 8/12/2010 - 81272016 12,500 - 6,500 - - 2685 12,500 -
14/12/2009 2,443000  B/12/2010- 81272016 2,379 000 - 802500 6,500 - 685 2,372,500 -
15/12/2009 2773000  8/1272010-8/12/2016 2,739 000 -  B63000 252500 45,500 2685 2 441 000 2824
16/12/2009 1,550,000 8/12/2010- 81272016 1,497 000 - 436000 55 000 22000 2685 1414000 2920
17/122009 1,000,000 B8/12/2010-8/12/2016 975,000 - 329500 - - 2685 975 000 -
18/12/2009 389000 B/12/2010-8/12/2016 380,500 - 131500 - - 2685 380.500 -

Annual Report 2011 ]27




T OF

"HE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

OPTIONS TO SUBSCRIBE FOR ORDINARY SHARES GRANTED UNDER THE 2007 SHARE OPTION SCHEME,
AS REFERRED TO IN NOTES 11B(i1) AND 53A(n} TO THE ACCOUNTS (CONTINUED)

Weighted
average
closing prce
of shares
immediately
before the
Options Exercise Options date(s)
outstanding Options Opuons Options Options  priceper  outstanding onwhich
Penod during which asat granted vested lapsed exercsed  shareof as at31 options were
Executive Directorate and Date  Options rnights exercisable 1January during during  during dunngthe  options  December exercised
eligible employees granted granted {day/month/year} 2011 theyear theyear theyear year {HKS) 2011 {HKS)
Othereligible employees 19/12/2009 70000  8/12/2010- 8/12/2016 70000 - 23500 - - 2685 70,000 -
201122009 75000 &/1272000- 8/12/2016 75000 - 25500 - - 2685 75,000 -
21/122009 520000 &/12/2010- 8122016 520,000 - 169500 12,500 6,500 2685 501000 29.85
22122009 256000 81272010 - 8N 22016 237,000 - 80500 22,000 - 2685 215000 -
21/7/2010 305000  28/6/2011 - 28/6/2017 305 000 - 94000 25000 - 2773 280000 -
16/12/2010 194000 16/12/2011 - 167122017 194 000 - 65500 - - 2884 194,000 -
17/12/2010 4 097,000 1671272011 - 167122017 4097 000 - 1347000 140500 - 2884 3,956,500 -
18112010 673,000 1671272011 - 16127207 673000 - 2272500 - - 2884 673,000 -
191272010 174000 16/122011 - 16122017 174 000 - 59000 - - 2484 174,000 -
20/12/2010 4,854,500 16/1272011 - 161272017 4 854,500 - 1627000 126500 - 2884 4728 000 -
21/12/2010 3020000 16122011 - 161272017 3020,000 - 1015500 19000 - 2384 3001000 -
2212/2010 975000 161272001 - 161272017 975,000 - 322,000 19000 - 2384 956 000 -
23/12/2010 182000 161272001 - 1612/2017 189000 - 64,000 - - 2384 1894000 -
/772011 N5000 27/6/2012 - 27/6/2018 - 215000 - - - 2696 215000 -
Notes

1

4 Ms leny Yeung Mei-chun became the Commercial Director and a Member of the Executive Directorate on 1 September 2011

No option may be exercised later than seven years after its date of offer and no aption may be offered to be granted more than seven years after the adoption of

the 2007 Share Option Scheme (2007 Option Scheme”} on 7 June 2007

Unless approved by shareholders in the manner as required by the Listing Rules, the total number of shares 1ssued and 1ssuable upon exercise of the aptions
granted to any ehigible employee under the 2007 Cption Scheme together with the total number of shares 1ssued and 1ssuable upon the exercise of any aption
granted to such eligible employee under any other share option scheme of the Company (including, 1n each case both exercised and outstanding options) i any
12-menth penod must not exceed 0.2% of the shares of the Company in issue at the date of offer in respect of such option under the 2007 Option Scheme

The proportion of underlying shares in respect of which the above share options will vest is as follows

Date

Proportion of underlying shares in respect of
which an option 1s vested

Before the first anniversary of the date of offer of the option {the “Offer Anniversary”)

From the first Offer Anniversary to the date immediately before the second Offer Anniversary

From the second Offer Annlversary to the date immediazely before the third Offer Anniversary

Fram the third Offer Anniversary and thereafter

none
one-third
two-thirds

alk

5 Ms Gilhan Elizabeth Meller became the Legal Director and Secretary and a Member of the Executive Directorate on 1 September 2011
6 Mr Dawid Tang Chi-fai became the Property Director and a Member of the Executive Directorate on 1 October 2011
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During the year ended 31 Decernber 2011, 215,000 options
to subscnbe for shares of the Company were granted to 5
employees under the 2007 Share Cption Scheme Details of
the grant are set out In the tables above The closing price
per share iImmediately before the date of grant of the options
1s set out below Pursuant to the terms of the Scheme, each
grantee undertakes to pay HK$1 00, on demand, to the

Company, in consideration for the grant of the options The
share options granted are recognised on an accrued vesting
basis in the accounts The weighted average value per option
granted, estimated at the date of grant using the Black-
Scholes pncng model is as follows

Closing price per share Estimated Expected Weighted average

immediately before the rnisk-free divdend per value per option

date of grant interest rate Expected life Estimated share granted

Date granted (HKS) {9%) {Years) Volatility {HKS) (HKS)
7/7.201 2770 084 35 028 Q70 501

The Black-5choles option pricing mode! was developed

for use In estimating the fair value of traded options and
requires input of highly subjective assumptions, including the
expected life and stock price volatihty Since the Company's
share options have charactenistics significantly different

from those of traded options, and because changes in the
subjective Input assumpuions can matenally affect the far
value estimates, the Black-5choles option pricing model dees
not necessarly provide a reliable measure of the fair value of
the share options

Save as disclosed above

A none of the Members of the Board or the Executive
Directorate of the Company had any interest or short
position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO), and

B during the year ended 31 December 2011, no Member

of the Board or the Executive Directorate nor any of their
spouses or children under 18 years of age held any nghts to
subscribe for equity or debt securities of the Company nor had
there been any exercises of any such rights by any of them,

as recorded In the register kept by the Company under section
352 of the SFOQ or otherwise notified 1o the Company and the
HKSE pursuant to the Model Code

DIRECTORS™ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for election or re-election at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting has a service
contract which 1s not determinable by the Company or
any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation

No Director has a service contract with the Company or any
of its subsidianies which 1s for a duration which may exceed
three years or which requires the Company to, in order to
terminate such contract, give a notice period in excess of
one year or pay or make other payments equivalent to more
than one year's emoluments

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

Set out below s the name of the party which was interested

In 5% or more of the nominal value of the share capital of the
Company and the number of shares in which it was interested
as at 31 December 2011 as recorded in the register kept by the
Company under section 335 of the SFO

Percentage

of Ordinary

Shares to

No of total issued

Ordinary share

Name Shares capital
The Financizl Secretary Incorporated

(in trust on behalf of the Government)  4,434,552,207 76 66

The Company has been informed by the Government that,

as at 31 December 2011, approximately 0 47% of the shares
of the Company were held for the account of the Exchange
Fund The Exchange Fund is a fund established under the
Exchange Fund Ordinance (Cap 66 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
under the control of the Financial Secretary

LOAN AGREEMENTS WITH COVENANT
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF
THE CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

As at 31 December 2011, the Group had borsowings of
HK$19,543 million with matunties ranging from 2012 to

2020 and available uncommitted banking and other facilities
of HK$10,469 million, which were subject to the condition
that the Government, being the Company’s controlling
shareholder, owns more than half in nominal vatue of the
voting share capital of the Company during the lives of the
barrowings and the undrawn faciities Otherwise, immediate
repayment of borrowings may be demanded and cancellation
of the undrawn facilities may result
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-1 OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

MAJOR SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

Less than 30% in value of supplies {(which were not of a capital
nature) purchased dunng the year ended 31 December 2011
was attnbutable to the Company’s five largest supplers Less
than 30% in value of the Company’s turnover during the year
ended 31 December 2011 was attnbutable to the Company’s
five largest customers combined by value

GOING CONCERN

The accounts on pages 147 to 238 have been prepared on a
going concern basis The Board has reviewed the Company’s
budget for 2012, together with the longer-term forecast for
the following five years and 1s satisfied that the Company has
sufficient resources to continue as a going concern for the
foreseeable future

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Dunng the year under review, the following transactions and
arrangements descrnibed below involved the provision of goods
or services on an ongoing basis with the Government and/or
KCRC, the Arport Authority (the "AA™), United Group Rail
Services Limited (“UGL"), Leighton Contractors (Asia) Limited
(“LCAL") and John Haolland Pty Limsted (*JHL"} The Government
15 a substantial shareholder of the Company for the purposes

of the Listing Rules KCRC and the AA are both associates of

the Company as defined in the Listing Rules As explained
under Section Il below, UGL and John Holland Melbourne Rail
Franchise Pty Ltd (“John Holland”) are substantial shareholders
of a subsidhary of the Company and John Holland, JHL and LCAL
are indirect wholly-owned subsidianes of Leighton Holdings
Limited On this basis, JHL and LCAL are both asscciates of John
Holland for the purposes of the Listing Rules The Government,
KCRC, the AA, UGL, LCAL and JHL are therefore each “connected
persons” for the purposes of the Listing Rules and each
transaction set out at paragraphs |, Il and Il below constitutes a
contnuing connected transaction for the Company under the
Listing Rules

| Merger-related Continuing Connected Transactions
Each of the transactions histed in paragraphs A to D below and
which formed part of the Rail Merger, was approved by the
independent shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary
General Meeting held on 9 October 2007 These paragraphs
should be read in conjunction with the paragraphs contained
in the section below headed *Additional Information in
respect of the Rail Merger”™

As disclosed in the circular issued by the Company on 3
September 2007 1n connection with the Rail Merger, the

Stock Exchange granted a waiver to the Company from strict
compliance with the requirements under Chapter 14A of the
tisting Rules which would otherwise apply to continuing
connected transactions between the Company, the
Government and/or KCRC arising as a result of the Rail Merger,
subject to certain conditions {the “Merger-related Waiver”)
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A Merger Framework Agreement

The Merger Framework Agreement was entered into on 9
August 2007 between the Company, KCRC and the Secretary for
Transport and Housing and the Secretary for Finanaial Services
and the Treasury for and on behalf of the Government

The Merger Framework Agreement contains provisions for
the overall structure and certain specific aspects of the Rail
Merger, including in relation to

» aseamliess interchange programme,
* corporate governance of the Company Post-Rail Merger,
* payments relating to property enabling works,

= arrangements relating to the establishment of a rolling
programme on the level of flat production ansing from
tenders for rallway property development,

e arrangements in relation to the assessment of land
premium amounts,

* arrangementsn relation to the employees of the
Company and KCRC, including provisions preventing the
Company from terminating the employment of relevant
frontline staff for any reason that relates to the process of
integrating the operations of the Company and KCRC,

» the tmplementation of certain fare reductions,

s arrangements in relation to the proposed Shatin to
Central Link,

s KCRC's continuing responsibihty for its existing financial
arrangements,

* treatment of KCRC's cross border leases,

» the payment of HK$7 79 hillion in respect of the Property
Package (as described on pages 131 to 133 and in
paragraph D below),

¢ the allocation of hability for any Pre-Rail Merger and Post-
Rail Merger claims by third parties, and

* the Company’s retention of its Englhish name and
(pursuant to the Rail Merger Ordinance) the change of its

Chinese name to “& B8 BMR L T)”

B Waest Rail Agency Agreement

The West Rail Agency Agreement and related agreements
were entered into on 9 August 2007 between the Company,
KCRC and certain KCRC subsidiary companies (“West Rall
Subsidiaries”) Pursuant te the terms of the West Rail Agency
Agreement, the Company was appointed

= to actas KCRC's agent, and donee under powers of
attorney, to exercise certain nghts and perform certain
obhgations relating to specified development sites along
West Rail, and




* toact as agent for, and donee under powers of attorney
from, each of the West Rail Subsidiaries to exercise certain
nghts and perform certain obligations relating to specified
development sites along West Rail

The Company will receive an agency fee of Q0 75% of the

gross sale proceeds in respect of the unawarded West Rail
development sites and 10% of the net profits accrued ta the
West Rail Subsichanes under the development agreements

in respect of the awarded West Rail development sites The
Company will also recover from the West Rail Subsidiarnies its
costs (including internal costs) incurred in respect of the West
Rail development sites plus 16 5% on-cost, together with
interest accrued thereon

C  K{RC Cross Border Lease Agreements

US CBL Assumption Agreements

Separate US CBL Assumption Agreements were entered

into on 30 November 2007 between the Company, KCRC

and, variously, Wilmington Trust Company, Buoyant Asset
Limited, BA Leasing & Capital Corporation, Utrecht-America
Finance Co, Cooperatieve Cenrale Raiffeisen-Boerenleenbank
B A, Advanced Asset Limited, Washoe Asset Management
Company, Quality Asset Limited, Kasey Asset Limited, Key
Equipment Finance Inc, Mercantile Leasing Company {No
132) Limited, Landesbank Sachsen Aktiengesellschaft, Barclays
Bank PLC, Bayerische Landesbank Girozentrale, US Bank
National Association, Circuit Asset Limited, Citicorp USA

Inc, Shining Asset Limited, Banc of America FSC Holdings

Inc, Fluent Asset Limited, Anzef Limited, Societe Generale,
Austraha and New Zealand Banking Group Limited, Statesman
Asset Limited, State Street Bank and Trust Company

and Bowman Asset Limited and became effective on 3
December 2007, with respect 1o each of the US cross border
leases onginally entered into between KCRC and certain
counterparties (each, a “CBL") Pursuant to each US CBL
Assumption Agreement, the Company undertakes to perform,
on a joint and several basis with KCRC, the obligations of KCRC
under the respective CBLs As a result thereof, the Company 1s
generally hable to the CBL counterparties in respect of KCRC's
obligations under the CBLs and has the nght to exercise
certain of KCRC's nghts under the CBLs

US CBL Aflocation Agreement

The US CBL Allocation Agreement was entered Into between
the Company, KCRC and the subsidianes of KCRC (the

“KCRC Subsidiaries”) on 2 December 2007 Pursuant to

the US CBL Allocation Agreement, rnights, obligations and
responsibtlity for risks relating to the CBLs are delineated and
allocated between KCRC and the Company {each of which

1s jointly and severally hable to specified CBL counterparties,
as referred 1o in the paragraph above headed “US CBL
Assumption Agreements”} Under the terms of the US CBL
Allocation Agreement, as between the Company and KCRC,
the Company 1s responsible for specified obligations The
Company and KCRC each made representations under the US
CBL Allocanon Agreement, which include, in the case of those

made by KCRC, representations with respect to the status of
the CBLs The Company and KCRC agreed to indemnify each
other for certain losses i relation to the CBLs

D Propenty Package Agreements

Caregory 24 Properues

On 9 August 2007, the Government entered into an
undertaking that it would, within twelve months of the
Merger Date or such further period of time as the Government
and the Cempany may agree, 1ssue to KCRC an offer for the
grant at nil premium of Government leases in respect of

the land upon which certain properties (the “Category 2A
Properties”) are situated (the “said Government Leases”) The
Category 2A Properties were held by KCRC as vested land
under the Kowloon-Canton Rallway Corporation Ordinance
{Cap 372 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (*KCRC Ordinance™) On 9
August 2007, KCRC entered into an undertaking that it would,
immediately after the grant of the said Government Leases
referred to in the preceding sentence, enter into agreements
for sale and purchase to sell the Category 2A Properties to
the Company (the "said Agreements for Sale and Purchase”}
Assignments of the Category 2A Properties to the Company
shall then take place pursuant te the said Agreements for
Sale and Purchase (the said "Assignments”™) Pursuant to

the KCRC undertaking and as intenim arrangements until

the grant of the Government leases, on 9 August 2007 the
following agreements were entered into between KCRC and
the Company

* anagreement that KCRC (as lessor)} shall enter into
tenancy agreements with the Company (as lessee) at
market rent in respect of the Category 2A Properties’
vacant units (with the intention that the Company wilt
then sub-let the vacant units to sub-tenants),

* two licence agreements inrespect of the common areas
within the Category 2A Properties, pursuant to which
KCRC granted the Company the right to use certain
common areas until the execution of the Category 2A
Properties assignment referred to above,

* alease enforcement agency agreement appointing the
Company as its enforcement agent to enforce KCRC's
current Category 2A Properties tenancy agreements
against tenants, and

« an assignment of rental proceeds whereby the
proceeds received under KCRC's current Category
2A Properties tenancy agreements with tenants are
assigned to the Company

The said Government Leases were I1ssued to KCRC respectively
on 27 March 2009 and 31 March 2009 The said Agreements
for Sale and Purchase were entered into between KCRC

and the Company on 27 March 2009 and 31 March 2009
respectively and the said Assignments to the Company were
executed on 27 March 2009 and 31 March 2009 respectively
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Deeds of Mutual Grant were also entered into between the
Company and KCRC on 27 March 2009 and 31 March 2009
respectively setting out the easements, rights, entitlements,
privileges and liberties of the Company and KCRC in the land
on which the Category 2A Properties are situated

Category 2B Property

0On 9 August 2007, the Government entered into an
undertaking that 1t would, within twenty four months of the
Merger Date or such further period of ime as the Government
and the Company may agree, 1ssue te the Company an offer
for the grant of a Government Lease of a certain property (the
“Category 2B Property™ on terms to be agreed The Category
2B Property 1s currently held by KCRC as vested land under the
KCRC Ordinance for use as staff quarters and a recreational club

On % August 2007, KCRC entered into an undertaking relating
to intenm arrangements to ensure that, as from the Merger
Date, the Company shall be responsible for KCRC's obligations
under licence agreements relating to the Category 28
Property, and for enforcing such agreements The Company

15 entitled to proceeds received by KCRC in respect of those
hcence agreements The internim arrangements include, inter
alia, as from the Merger Date

+ anagreement that KCRC (as hicensor) shall grant to the
Company (as licensee) possession of the Category 2B
Property (without payment of any licence fee or premium),
subject to existing licences and the Second Schedule of the
KCRC Ordinance, with the nght of the Company to sub-
lhicense all or any part of the Category 2B Property (subject
to it being used as staff quarters and a recreation club),

» untl the grant of the Government lease of the Category
2B Property, KCRC has appointed the Company as its
enforcement agent to enforce KCRC's current Category 28
Property icence agreements against licensees, and

+ KCRC has assigned to the Company the proceeds received
under KCRC's current Categery 2B Property licence
agreements with licensees

The basic terms offer for the Category 2B Property (i e
Trackside Villas) was 1ssued and accepted by the Company on
31 December 2009 and the Government Lease in respect of
Tal Po Town Lot No 199 dated 29 March 2010 was 1ssued for a
term of 50 years from 2 Decernber 2007

Category 3 Properiies

On 9 August 2007, the Company entered into three
agreements (the “Category 3 Agreements”) and related
powers of attorney with KCRC Each Category 3 Agreement
relates to a certain property {each a "Category 3 Property”)
KCRC has previously entered into a development agreement
in respect of each Category 3 Property. None of the nghts and
obligations granted to or undertaken by the Company under
the Category 3 Agreements may be exercised or performed
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by the Company if they relate exclusively to concession
property situate on any Category 3 Property Matters affecting
the concession property situate on any Category 3 Property
are dealt with under the terms of the Service Concession
Agreement {as defined and summarised on pages 142 to 143)

Pursuant to the terms of each Category 3 Agreement, the
Company has been appointed to act as KCRC's agent, and
donee under powers of attorney, to exercise rights and to
perform obligations of KCRC which relate to the Category 3
Property (but excluding the rnight or obligation to dispose of
the retevant Category 3 Property)

The Company 1s required at all tirnes to comply with statutory
restrictions and obligations binding on KCRC which relate to
the Category 3 Property, and shall pay all amounts due and
payable from KCRC which have been incurred by KCRC as a
result of the Company’s actions

In acting as KCRC’s agent, the Company is required to act
according to prudent commeraal pnnaples, and aim to
maximise gross profits under the Category 3 Property and to
run a safe and efficient raslway In order to assist the Company
in performing its agency functions, KCRC has granted powers
of attorney to the Company The Company may only use the
powers of attorney to exercise nghts and perform obligations
conferred or undertaken by 1t under the relevant Category 3
Agreement As well as acting as KCRC's agent, the Company
has the right to give KCRC instructions in respect of any action
or matter relating to each Categery 3 Property (including its
related development agreement) which the Company 1s unable
to take by reason of the limitation of the scope of its agency
powers KCRCis required to comply promptly with those
instructions provided that it 1s permitted under law, and under
the relevant Government grant, to carry out those instructions

KCRC 1s required to account for revenue received in respect
of a Category 3 Property by way of balance sheet movement
(rather under its profit and loss account), provided that such
treatment 1s permitted under law and accounting principles
and practices

KCRC shall not take any action In respect of a Category 3 Property
which 1s not carned out by the Company (acting as KCRC's agent),
or according to the Company's instructions, or otherwise in
accordance with the terms of the Category 3 Agreement

As consideration for acting as KCRC's agent, the Company
shall be paid a fee which 1s expected to be similar in quantum
to the profits made by KCRC in respect of the relevant
Category 3 Property (after deducting certain initial and
upfront payments and consultant contribution costs, in each
case paid or to be paid by the relevant developer to KCRC)
Generally, the Company’s fee shall be payable in instalments
promptly following receipt of retevant funds by KCRC (but
subject to specified deductions of amounts due from KCRC to
the relevant Category 3 Property developer)




The Company has agreed to give certain indemmities to KCRC
in respect of each Category 3 Property

The Company shall be the first manager, or shall ensure that a
manager 1s appointed in respect of, each Category 3 Property
{once developed)

The Company’s appointment as agent shall terminate when
KCRC ceases to have any undivided share in the relevant
Category 3 Property, other than concession property, and
neither KCRC nor the developer nor the guarantors have
any further rights to exercise, or obligations to perform,
under the development agreement relating to the relevant
Category 3 Property

Inrelation to the Merger Framework Agreement, the West
Rail Agency Agreement (and related powers of attorney),
the US CBL Assumption Agreements, the US CBL Allocation
Agreement and the agreements in relation to Category

2A, Category 2B and Category 3 Properties {together the
“Merger-related Continuing Connected Transactions”) and
in accordance with paragraph B(1}(1) of the Merger-related
Waiver, the Company confirms that the Independent Non-
executive Directors of the Company have reviewed each of
the Merger-related Continuing Connected Transactions and
confirmed that the Merger-related Conunuing Connected
Transactions were entered into

(1) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Company,

(2) on normal commercial terms or on terms which are no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to or from
independent third parties, and

(3) 1n accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole

The Company has engaged the auditors of the Company to
carry out a review of each of the Merger-related Continuing
Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Histonical
Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” 1ssued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants In accordance with
paragraph B(1)(u) of the Merger-related Waiver, the auditors
have provided a letter to the Board confirming that

{a) nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to beheve that the Merger-related Continuing Connected
Transactions have not been approved by the Board, and

{b} nothing has come to their attention that causes them
to behieve that the Merger-related Continuing Connected
Transactions were not entered into, in all matenal respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing
such transactions

il Non Merger-related Continuing Connected
Transactions with Government and/or its Asscciates

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 13
January 2005, the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver to

the Company from strict comphance with the requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules which would otherwise
apply to connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions between the Company and the Government,
subject to certain conditions {the “Waiver”)

The following disclosures are made in accordance with paragraph
(B)(I} of the Waiver and Rule 14A46 of the Listing Rules

A1 Entrustment Agreement for Design and Site Investigation
in Refation to the Shatin to Central Link

The Entrustment Agreement for Design and Site Investigation
in Relation to the Shatin to Central Link (the “First SCL
Agreement”) was entered into on 24 November 2008 between
the Company and the Secretary for Transport and Housing for
and on behalf of the Government

The First SCL Agreement contains provisions for the design of
and site iInvestigation and procurement activities in relation to
the proposed Shatin to Central Link, including in relation to

« the Government's obligation to pay the Company up to
a maximum aggregate amount of HK$1,500 milhon in
respect of certain costs incurred by the Company pursuant
to the First SCL Agreement, including the Company’s
In-house design costs and certain on-costs and
preliminary costs,

« the Government's obligation to bear and finance the
total cost of the design and site investigation activities
under the First SCL Agreement (subject to the hmit noted
above In respect of payments to the Company) and
arrangements for the payment of these costs directly by
the Government,

* the Company's cbhigation to carry cut or procure the
carrying out of the design and site investigation activities
In relation to the proposed Shatin to Central Link,

+ the hmitation of the Company’s liability to the
Government under the First SCL Agreement, except
in respect of death or personal injury caused by the
neghgence of the Company, to HK5600 million, and

+ should the rallway scheme for the Shatin to Central Link
be authorised under the Railways Ordinance (Cap 519
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the execution of a further
agreement by the Government and the Company setting
out each of their nghts, obhgattons, duties and powers
with respect to the financng, construction, completion,
testing, commissioning and putting into service the works
necessary for the construction and operation of the Shatin
to Central Link
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A2 Entrustment Agieement for Advance Works Relating to
the Shatin to Central Link

The Entrustment Agreement for Advance Works Relating
to the Shaun to Central Link (the “Second SCL Agreement”)
was entered into on 17 May 2011 between the Company
and the Secretary for Transport and Housing for and on
behalf of the Government

The Second SCL Agreement contains the following provisions

in consideration of the Company executing or procuring
the execution of certain entrustment activities as set

out In the Second SCL Agreement and carrying out 1ts
other obligations under the Second SCL Agreement, the
Government shall pay to the Company the Company’s
project management cost The amount of such project
management cost Is to be agreed between the Company
and the Government and prior to such agreement,

the project management cost shall be paid by the
Government to the Company on a provisional basis
calculated in accordance with the Second SCL Agreement,

the Company and the Government may agree that the
Company will carry out {or procure the carrying out

of} certain additional works for the Government {such
agreed additional works being “miscellaneous works™
Miscellaneous works (if any} are to be carned out by the
Company in the same manner as If they had formed

part of the activities specified to be carried out under
the Second SCL Agreement and in consideration of the
Company executing or procuring the execution of such
miscellanecus works (if any) and carrying out its other
obligations under the Second SCL. Agreement in relation
to such misceilaneous works (if any), the Government shall
pay to the Company an amount to be agreed between
the Company and the Government as being the project
management fee payable to the Company for designing
and censtructing such miscellaneous works,

the Government shall bear all of the “Works Cost” (as
defined in the Second SCL Agreement) In this connection,
the Government will make payments to the Company in
respect of the Works Cost on a provisional basis, subject to
adjustments when the final outturn cost of the Works Cost
1s determined,

the Government shall bear land acquisition, clearance
and related costs and those costs which are incurred by
the Lands Department in connection with the Shatin to
Central Link project,

the maximum aggregate amount payable by the
Government to the Company under the Second SCL
Agreement is imited to approximately HK$3,000 mithon
per annum and a total in aggregate of approximately
HK$15,000 muihion,
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the Company shall carry out or procure the carrying out
of certain enabling works on the expanded Admuralty
Station and the to be constructed Ho Man Tin Station, the
reprovisioning of the International Mail Centre from Hung
Hom to Kowloon Bay and other works as described under
the Second SCL Agreement,

the Company’s total hability to the Government under

the First SCL Agreement and the Second SCL Agreement,
except in respect of death or personal injury caused by the
negligence of the Company, 1s hmited to the aggregate
fees that have been and will be received by the Company
from the Government under the First SCL Agreement and
the Second SCL Agreement,

the Company will provide to Government by the end of
each calendar month, a progress report an the activities
under the Second 5CL Agreement that were carned out

in the immediately preceding calendar month and, within
three months following the completion of the relevant
waorks, a final report on the activities required to be carried
out under the Second SCL Agreement,

the Company shall be responsible for the care of all

warks constructed under the Shatin to Central Link
project from the commencement of construction until
the date of handover of those works to the Government
and for completing or precuring the completion of any
outstanding works and/or defective works identified prior
to the handover of the works,

durnng the period of twelve years following the 1ssue of a
certificate of completion by the Company 1n respect of work
carned out under any contract with any third party, the
Company shall be responsible for the reparr of any defects
in such work that are identified following the expiry of any
defects hability period under the relevant contract,

the Company warrants that

— 1nthe case of those activities under the Second SCL
Agreemnent that relate to the provision of project
management services, such activities shall be carned
out with the skill and care reasonably to be expected
of a professional and competent project manager,

— inthe case of those activities under the Second SCL
Agreement that relate to the provision of design
services, such activities shall be carned out with
the skill and care reasonably to be expected of a
professional and competent design engineer, and

— inthe case of those activities under the Second
SCL Agreement that relate to the carrying out of
construction activities, such activities shall be carned




out with the skill and care reasonably to be expected
of, and by utihsing such plant, goods and matenals
reasonably to be expected from, a cormpetent and
workmanlhke construction contractor, and

= the Government further undertakes to use reasonable
endeavours to provide the Company with assistance of a
non-financial nature, including taking all reasonable steps
to procure that all necessary licences and consents, required
In connection with the design, constructhion and operation
of the Shatin to Central Link are given or granted

B1 Entrustment Agreemant for Design and Site Investigation
in Relation to the Express Rail Link {(Hong Kong Saction of the
Guangzhou Shenzhen-Hong Kong Express Rall Link)

The Entrustment Agreement for Design and Site thvestgation
in Relation to the Express Rail Link (the “First XRL Agreement”)
was entered into on 24 November 2008 between the
Company and the Secretary for Transport and Housing for and
on behalf of the Government

The First XRL Agreement contains provisions for the design of
and site Investigation and procurement activities in relation to
the proposed Express Rail Link, including in relation to

» the Government’s obligation to pay the Company, up to
a maximum aggregate amount of HK51,500 million, in
respect of certain costs incurred by the Company pursuant
to the First XRL Agreement, including the Company’s
in-house design costs and certain on-costs, prehiminary
costs and recruited staff costs,

= the Government’s obligation to bear and finance the
total cost of the design and site investigaticn activities
under the First XRL Agreement {subject to the limit noted
above In respect of payments to the Company) and
arrangements for the payment of these costs directly by
the Government,

+ the Company’s obligation tc carry out or procure the
carrying out of the design and site investigation activities
in relation to the preposed Express Rail Link,

+ the imitation of the Company’s hability to the
Government under the First XRL Agreement, except
in respect of death or personal injury caused by the
negligence of the Company, to HK$700 million, and

+ should the ralway scheme for the Express Rail Link be
authonsed under the Railways Ordinance (Cap 519 of the
Laws of Heng Kong), the execution of a further agreement by
the Government and the Company setting out each of their
nghts, obligations, duties and powers with respect to the
finanaing, constructuen, completon, testing, commissioning
and putting into service the works necessary for the
construction and operatton of the Express Rail Link.

82 Entrustment Agreement for Construction, Testing and
Commissioning of the Express Rai Link

The Entrustment Agreement for the construction and
commussioning of the Express Rail Link was entered into on
26 January 2010 between the Company and the Secretary for
Transport and Housing for and on behalf of the Government
{the “Second XRL Agreement”)

The scheme in respect of the Express Rail Link was first
gazetted under the Railways Ordinance {(Cap 519 of the Laws
of Hong Keng) on 28 November 2008, with amendments
and corrections gazetted on 30 April 2009 The scheme,

as amended with such minor modifications as deemed
necessary, was authonsed by the Chief Executive in Counail
on 20 October 2009 and funding support approved by the
Finance Committee on 16 January 2010

The Second XRL Agreement contains the following provisions

* In consideration of the Company executing or procuring
the execution of certain entrustment activities as set out
in the Second XRL Agreement and carrying out its other
obligations under the Second XRL Agreement and the First
XRL Agreement, the Government shal! pay to the Company
HK$4,590 million, to be paid in cash quarterly in advance on
a scheduled basis as such sum may be vaned in accordance
with the Second XRL Agreement, subject to the maximum
payment himits stated in the Second XRL. Agreement (being
HK$2,000 million annually and HK$10,00¢ milhien in total)
(the “Maxtmum Payment Limits”),

* the Company and the Government may agree that the
Company will carry out (or procure the carrying out
of) certain additional warks for the Government (such
agreed additional works being “miscellaneous works”)
Miscellaneous works (if any) are to be carried out by the
Company In the same manner as If they had formed
part of the actmvities specified to be carned out under
the Second XRL Agreement and in consideration of the
Company executing or procuring the execution of the
miscellaneous works (If any} and carrying out 1ts other
obligations under the Second XRL Agreement in relation
to the miscellaneous works (if any), the Government
shall pay to the Company an amount equal to an agreed
fixed percentage of third party costs atiributable to the
miscellaneous works from time to time subject to the
Maximum Payment Limits,

the Company will provide to the Government by the end

of each calendar month, a progress report on the activities
under the Second XRL Agreement that were carned outin
the immediately preceding calendar month and, within three
months following the earler of handover of the Express Rail
Link project to the Government or termination of the Second
XRL Agreement, a final repert on the activities required to be
carried out under the Second XRL Agreement,
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the Company shall be responsible for the care of all works
constructed under the Express Rail Link project from

the commencement of construction until the date of
handover of those works to the Government (or to a third
party directed by the Government) and for completing

or procuring the completron of any outstanding works
and/or defective works identified prior to the handover of
the works,

during the pencd of twelve years following the 1ssue of a
certificate of completion by the Company in respect of work
carned out under any contract with any third party, the
Company shall be responsible for the repair of any defects
in such work that are identified following the expiry of any
defects iability period under the relevant contract,

the Company warrants that

- nthe case of those activities under the Second XRL
Agreement that relate to the provision of project
management services, such activities shall be carned
out with the skill and care reasonably to be expected
of a professional and competent project manager,

- nthe case of those activities under the Second XRL
Agreement that relate to the provision of design
services, such activities shall be carrted out with
the skill and care reasonably to be expected of a
professional and competent design engineer, and

-~ 1n the case of those activities under the Second
XRL Agreement that relate to the carrying out of
construction activities, such activities shall be carned
out with the skill and care reasonably to be expected
of, and by utiising such plant, goods and materials
reasonably to be expected from, a2 competent and
workmanlike construction contractor,

the Government is required to bear (1} any costs payable
to third parties, (n) any charges, costs or amounts payable
to any Government department, bureau, agency or body
in relation to the activities to be carried out under the
Second XRL Agreement, (im) any and all amcunts payable
to KCRC as compensation for damage anising as a result of
the Company and/or a third party contractor carrying out
activities under the Second XRL Agreement, and (v} all
land acquisition, clearance and related costs (including all
amounts ansing as a result of any claim for compensation
by any third party) and those costs which are incurred by
the Lands Department in connection with the Express Rail
Link project, and
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* the Government further undertakes to use reasonable
endeavours to provide the Company with assistance of
a non-financial nature, including taking ali reasonable
steps to procure that all necessary licences and consents,
required in connection with the design, construction and
operation of the Express Rail Link are given or granted

The Government has agreed that the Company has been asked
to proceed with the construction, testing and commissioning
of the Express Rail Link {pursuant to and on the terms of

the Second XRL Agreement) on the understanding that the
Company will be invited to undertake the operation of the
Express Rail Link under the concession approach

The Second XRL Agreement remains in full force and effect
until the completion of the activities set out in the Second XRL
Agreement or until terminated earlier in accordance with the
terms of the Second XRL Agreement The Company expects
that the substantial majonty of the activities to be carned

out under the Second XRL Agreement will be complete by
the time of the projected handover of the completed Express
Rail Linkin mid-2015 However certam activities involve

the prowvision of specified admunistrative services to the
Government, the Company expects to provide these services
for a number of years following the completion of the Express
Rail Link project Notwithstanding this, certain provisions

will remain in force following completion of the activities set
out in the Second XRL Agreement, for example, provisions
regarding confidentiality and dispute resolution

C  Renewal of the existing Maintenance Agresment for

the Automated People Mover System at the Hong Kong
International Airport

The Company has had entered into a Maintenance Agreement
with the AA for the maintenance of the Automated People
Mover system at the Hong Kong International Airport

since 2002 It was signed on 18 March 2002 for a period of
three years, which expired on 6 July 2005 A Supplemental
Agreement was agreed with the AA, and approved by the
Board in June 2005, to extend the Maintenance Agreement
for another three years unuil 6 July 2008, which also included
options for the Automated People Mover serving the Sky Plaza
and Sky Pier terminal butldings

On 21 August 2008, the Company entered into a new
Maintenance Agreement with the AA, for the renewal of the
then expired Maintenance Agreement for the Automated People
Mover system for a five year pentod (the *"New Maintenance
Agreement”), effective from 6 July 2008 It 1s expected that the
hughest amount per year receivable from the AA under the New
Mamntenance Agreement will be HK$37 mullion

The New Maintenance Agreement contains provisions relating
to the operation and maintenance by the Company of the
automated people mover system tnstalled at Hong Kong
International Airport (the *System®) and the carrying out by




the Company of certain speafied services in respect of the
System, they including the followrng

* prowvisions stating that the duration of the New
Maintenance Agreement shall be five years from 6 July
2008 up to and including 5 July 2013,

* provisions relating to the performance of scheduled
maintenance works and overhaul of the System by the
Company,

« provisions relating te monitoring the System for any
breakdown and the Company providing repair services
where necessary,

» provisions relating to the standards to which the Company
must operate the System, and

= provisions relating to the carrying out by the Company (as
additional services), in certain arcumstances, of upgrade
work on the System

D Project Agreement for the Finanang, Design,
Construction and Operation of the West island Line

The Project Agreement for the Financing, Design,
Construction and Operation of the West Island Line (the
"WIL Project Agreement”) was entered into on 13 July 2009
between the Company and the Secretary for Transport and
Housing for and on behalf of the Government

The WIL Project Agreement contains provisions for the
financing of and the carrying out, or procunng the carrying
out, of the design, construction, completion, testing and
commissioning by the Company of the railway works
required in order to bring the West Island Line into operation
in accordance with the MTR Ordinance, the Operating
Agreement between the Company and the Secretary for
Transpoert and Housing for and on behalf of the Government
dated 9 August 2007 and the WIL Project Agreement The
Waest Island Line will be owned, cperated and maintained

by the Company for its cwn account for the penod of the
Company's railway franchise The WIL Project Agreement
includes provisions in relation to

« payment by the Government of HK$12,252 milhon to the
Company in consideration of the Company’s obligations
under the WIL Project Agreement, such sum constituting
funding support from the Government for the Company
to implement the West Island Line project,

+« within 24 months of commercial operations commencing
on the West Island Line on a revenue earming basis and
providing scheduled transport for the public, payment
by the Company to the Government of any “Repayment
Amounts” for any over-estimation of certain capital
expenditure, price escalation costs, land costs and the
amount of contingency n relation to the rallway works
and reprovisioning, remedial and improvement works
(together with interest),

« the design, construction and completion of the associated
reprovisioning, remedial and improvernent works (the cost
of which shall be the responsibility of the Company) and the
associated essential public infrastructure works (the cost of
which shall be the responsibibity of the Government),

* the Company’s responsibiiity for costs relating to land
acquisition, clearance and related costs ansing from the
implementation of the West Island Line project (save for
costs anising from certain daims for compensation by
third parties) and all costs, expenses and other amounts
incurred or paid by the Lands Department pursuant to the
involvement of the Lands Department in connection with
the implernentation of the West Island Line project, and

+ the Company carrying out measures specified in the
environmental impact assessment and the environmental
permitissued by the Government to the Company in
relation to the West Island Line on 12 January 2009

The construction of the West Island Line 15 scheduled to take
place between the date of the WIL Project Agreement and 2014

In relation to the First SCL Agreement, the Second SCL
Agreement, the First XRL Agreement, the Second XRL
Agreement, the New Maintenance Agreement and the

WIL Project Agreement (together the “Non Merger-related
Continuing Connected Transactions®) and in accordance with
paragraph B{(n)(a) of the Waiver, the Company confirms that
the independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed each of the Non Merger-related Continuing
Connected Transactions and confirmed that the Non Merger-
related Continutng Connected Transactions were entered into

{1) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Company,

{2) on normal commaercial terms or on terms which are no less
favourable to the Company than terms available to or from
independent third parties, and

{3) 1n accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole

The Company has engaged the auditors of the Company

to carry out a review of each of the Non Merger-related
Continuing Connected Transactiens in accordance with Hong
Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 "Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historncal
Financial Infermation” and with reference to Practice Note
740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continusng Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” 1ssued by the Hong Keng
Institute of Certified Public Accountants In accordance with
paragraph B{){(in)(b) of the Waiver, the auditors have provided
a letter to the Board confirming that
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{(a) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the Non Merger-related Continuing Connected
Transactions have not been approved by the Board, and

(b) nothing has come to their attenticn that causes them to
believe that the Non Merger-related Continuing Connected
Transactions were not entered into, 1n all materiai respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements geverning
such transactions

i Non Merger-related Continuing Connected
Transactions with parties other than Government and/
or Its Associates

The following disclosures are made in accordance with Rule
14A 46 of the Listing Rules

A Pre-Existing UGL Contract and Pre-Bxasting Supplemental
UGL Cantract for the prowision of maintanance and other
services for certain trains

Metro Trains Melbourne Pty Ltd (“MTM?) 1s a joint venture
company incorporated in Australia The Company controls
60% of the voting power at any general meeting of MTM

and each of UGL and John Holland controls 20% of the

voting power at any general meeting of MTM Accerdingly,
subsequent to the Company entering into the Pre-Existing
UGL Contract as amended by the Pre-Existing Supplemental
UGL Cantract (each, as defined below), UGL 1s treated as a
substantial shareholder of MTM (a subsidiary of the Company)
and therefore a “connected person” of the Company within
the meaning of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules The Pre-
BExisting UGL Contract (as amended by the Pre-Existing
Supplemental UGL Contract) is therefore a “continuing
connected transaction” within the meaning of Rule 14A 14 of
the Listing Rules

On 11 January 2002, the Company entered into a contract
with UGL for the provision of maintenance and other services
In respect of trains at certain depots for a period of seven years
commencing on or around 1 October 2002 to 30 September
2009 (the “Pre-Existing UGL Contract”) The commencement
date was subsequently advanced by three months On 14 Apnl
2009, the Company entered into a supplemental agreement
with UGL for the extension of the Pre-Existing UGL Contract
for a further peniod of seven years from t August 2009 and for
the transfer of the provision of certain services to the Kowloon
depot {the "Pre-Existing Supplemental UGL Contract”)

The Pre-Existing UGL Contract (as amended by the Pre-
Existing Supplemental UGL Contract) prowides for the
provision of maintenance and other services by UGL in respect
of 15 G/H stock trains used by the Company on the Kwun
Tong Line, the Island Line, the Tsuen Wan Line and the Tseung
Kwan O Line, in each case at the Tseung Kwan O depot and
the Kawloon depot, including provisions in relation to
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+ payment by the Company of a total sum of approximately
HK$171,966,450 to UGL {Including for vanauons and
additional works) in consideration of UGL providing
certain services between 1 August 2002 and 31 July 2009
and payment by the Company of HK$152,940,000 to UGL
for the extended term of seven years pursuant to the
Pre-Existing Supplemental UGL Contract (which amount
1s to be paid on a scheduled basis), subject to certain
adjustments, including for the level of performance by the
relevant trains,

+ indemnification by UGL of the Company against certain
losses and expenses sustained by the Company arising out
of or 1In connection with UGL carrying out its obligations
under the Pre-Existing UGL Contract (as amended by the
Pre-Existing Supplemental UGL Contract),

« mantenance by UGL of insurance in relation to certain
liabilities to the Company,

» the Company effecting and maintaining third party
insurance covering the legal iabihty of both UGL and
the Company for acadental death or injury to persons
or accidental loss of or damage to property, 1n each
case, arising out of the UGL's obligations under the Pre-
Bxsting UGL Contract (as amended by the Pre-Existing
Supplemental UGL Contract), and

= the Company maintaining “Contractors All Risks”
insurance covering loss or damage to certain goods,
equipment and temporary buildings at the Tseung Kwan
O depot and the Kowloon depot

The terms of the Pre-existing UGL Contract were agreed upon
subsequent to a tender process that invited submissions from
a number of contractors, including UGL UGL was selected by
the Company in accordance with the Company’s established
procedures for the assessment of tenders

The Company regularly outsources certarn services to third
parties that specialise in the type of work outsourced, thereby
improving the efficiency of the Company’s operations and
allowing the Company to concentrate its resources on its
core business areas UGL 1s a specialst in the prowision of
construction, refurbishment and maintenance services to the
rallway industry

B Supplemental Agreement for the extension of the
Oniginal Contract for the Mid-Life Refurbishment of Phase 1
Light Rad Velucles

The Supplemental Agreement for the extension of the Onginal
Contract {(defined below) for the Mid-Life Refurbishment of
Phase 1 Light Rail Vehicles {“Phase 1 LRVs"), was entered into
on 26 February 2010 between the Company and UGL (the
“Supplemental Agreement”)




On 30 November 2007, KCRC entered into the Onginal
Contract with UGL (the *Orniginal Contract”), for the
refurbishment of the Phase 1 LRVs for a peried of 45 months
from 30 November 2007 to 31 August 2011 On 2 December
2007, the nghts and obligations of KCRC under the Oniginal
Contract were vested in the Company pursuant to section
52(B) of the MTR Ordinance The Supplemental Agreement
extends the Onginal Contract for a further pertod of 16
months from 31 August 2011 until 31 December 2012 The
Onginal Contract (as amended and supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement) 1sin substantially the same form as
KCRC's standard conditions of contract for engineering works
and contains the following provisions

¢ in consideration of UGL providing the Refurbishment Works
(defined below) under the Oniginal Contract, the Company
1s obliged to pay UGL a total sum of approximately
HK$48,260,000 (excluding amounts for vanations and
additional works) The Supplemental Agreement, inter alia,
extended the scope of the Refurbishment Works of the
Onginal Contract and the consideration payable by the
Company to UGL for such extension 1s HK$83,736,143, as
adjusted by an additional HK$14,435,327 (the “Contract
Sum”) The total sum under the Original Contract plus
the Contract Sum 1s to be paid progressively based on
matenals delivered and on works completed as set out
in the Supplemental Agreement, subject to adjustments
to take account of varrations made by the Company’s
Chief Electncal and Mechanical Engineer (the *Engineer”)
to the scope of the Refurbishment Works The maximum
aggregate amount payable annually by the Company
under the Onginal Contract plus the Contract Sum is
approximately HK$78,632,000,

« the Company s obhiged to effect “Contractor’s All Risks”
and “Third Party Liability” insurance with a third party
liabihity imit of not less than HK$30 million,

¢ UGL shall carry out a carbody structure review to
assess the mechanical condition of the Phase 1 LRVs,
refurbish the drivers’ consoles, the operators’ seats and
the passenger saloons of the Phase 1 LRVs, conduct a
brake software upgrade of the Phase 1 LRVs, and carry
out further miscellaneous repairs to the Phase 1 LRVs
{together the “Refurbishment Works®),

* UGL shall indemn:fy the Company against any certain
losses or expenses which may arise out of or in
connection with the Refurbishment Works, subject to
any proportionate reduction in hability on account of any
related neghgence by the Company, its employees or
agents, the Engineer or those appointed by the Engineer,

= UGL shall indemnify the Company against certain
damages, compensation, costs and expenses in respect of
any damages or compensation payable at law in respect of
or in consequence of any acadent, injury or iliness to any
person in the employment of UGL ansing out of and in the
course of such employment,

» UGL shall effect and maintain insurance with a hmit
of notiess than HK$100 million in relation to certain
of its iabilities for the peniod commencing on 30
Navember 2007 until the date of the completion of the
Refurbishment Works,

» UGL's habibty to indemnify the Company Is reduced
proportionally to the extent that any act or omission of the
Company, 1ts employees or agents, the Engineer or those
appointed by the Engineer, caused or contributed to the
relevant death, \llness, injury, loss or damage and the total
hability of UGL shall not exceed 100% of the total sum
payable under the Onginal Contract, save and except for
UGL's liability for death, personal injury, wilful misconduct,
fraud and infringement of third party intellectual property
nghts, and

= the total hability of UGL to the Company for liquidated
damages ansing as a result of delay 15 imited to 10% of the
total sum payable under the Onainal Contract and, subject
to the prowvisions regardmg liquidated damages, UGL1s
not hable for any kind of economug, financial, indirect or
consequential loss or damage, including but not limited
to loss of profit, foss of use, loss of production, loss of any
contract and the like, suffered by the Company

Pursuant to the Onginal Contract, a bank guarantee 1ssued
by HSBC Bank Australia Limited has been provided to the
Company in respect of the obligations of UGL under the
Onginal Contract

If UGL fails to complete the Refurbishment Works wiathin the
contract penod, the Engineer may terminate the contract by
notice in writing to UGL

C Contract 303 between the Company and LCAL relating to
certain works on the South istand Line (East)

As mentioned above, MTM 15 a joint venture company
incorporated in Australia MTM1s a non-wholly owned subsichary
of the Company and each of UGL and John Holland controls 209
of the voting power at any general meeting of MTM

Accordingly, John Holland 1s treated as a substantial shareho!der
of MTM John Holtand, JHL and LCAL are indirect whally-owned
subsidianes of Leighton Holdings Limited On this basis, JHL and
LCAL are both asscciates of John Holland under the Listing Rules
Therefore, each of John Hofland, JHL and LCAL s a “connected
person” of the Company within the meaning of Chapter 14A of
the Listing Rules Contract 903 (as defined below) Is therefore a
“continuing connected transaction” within the meaning of Rule
14A 14 of the Listing Rules
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On 17 May 2011, the Company and LCAL entered into
Contract 903 (*Contract 9037) for the construction of certain
works relating to the Aberdeen Channel Bndge, Wong Chuk
Hang Station and Ocean Park Station in respect of the South
island Line (East) {the “Contract 903 Works")

Contract 903 15 in substantially the same form as the
Company’s standard conditions of contract for engineering
works and contains the foliowing provisions

+ the prinapal obligation of LCAL under Contract 903 is the
construction of the Contract 903 Works,

*  LCAL shall indemnify the Company against any loss or
expense sustained by the Company and agatnst all losses
and claims in respect of death or injunes or damage to
any person or property whatscever which may arise out
of or in consequence of the execution of the Contract
903 Works and against all claims, proceedings, damages,
costs, charges and expenses whatsoever in respect of or
n relation thereto, except for compensation or damages
related to the permanent use or occupation of land by
the Contract 903 Works, or the night of the Company to
execute the Contract 903 Works on any part of the land, or
on account of any negligence by the Company, Its agents,
servants or other contractors, not being employed by LCAL,

» LCAL shall ndemnify the Company against all damages
and compensation and against all claims, demands,
proceedings, costs, charges and expenses whatsoever in
respect of any damages or compensation payable at law
in respect of or In consequence of any accident, injury or
liness to any workman cr other person in the employment
of LCAL or 1ts sub-contractors or supphers ansing out of
and in the course of such employment,

s LCAL shall effect and mamntain insurance with a limit of
not less than HK$ 200 milhon in relation to certain of its
liabilities for the period commencing on 29 April 2011
untl 30 June 2016,

» abondissued by Chartis Insurance Hong Kong Limited walt
be provided to the Company in respect of the obligations
of LCAL under Contract 903,

o LCAU's hability tc indemnify the Company 1s reduced
propertionally to the extent that any act or neglect of the
Company, the Engineer or any other person employed by
the Company in connection with the Contract 903 Works,
their respective agents, employees or representatives,
may have contnbuted to the relevant death, illness, or
damage The total hability of LCAL to the Company for all
damages (hquidated damages and general) for delay shall
not exceed 10% of the target cost plus fees as calculated
under Contract 903,
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« the total amount payable by the Company to LCAL under
Contract 903 1s HK$2,513,394,379, which includes the target
cost for the Contract 903 Works and fees to LCAL From time
to time the scope of the Contract 903 Works may vary and
the Company will be obhged to revise the fees payable to
LCAL in accordance with the terms of the Contract,

+ the Company is obliged to pay the target cost for the
Contract 903 Works to LCAL on a scheduled basis setout in
Contract 903 {f the final total cost of the Contract 903 Works
exceeds or Is less than the target cost for the Works, the
defiait or, as the case may be, the excess will be borne by or,
as the case may be, distnbuted to the Company and LCAL
on a basis calcutated in accordance with Contract 903,

» the maximum aggregate amount payable annually by the
Company under Contract 903 (s apprexrmately HK$1,400
milllon As payments by the Company to LCAL are paid
on a scheduled basis as set out in Contract 903, the
maximum aggregate annual amount s set by reference to
the highest amount payable by the Company in any given
year under such schedule,

* the Company is obliged to effect “Contractor’s All Risks”
and “Third Party Liability® insurance wath a third party
hability irmit of not less than HK$700 million, and

+ the Company may at any ttime, by gving 30 days’ notice tn
wrting to LCAL, terminate Contract 903 but without prejudice
to any claims by the Company for breach of contract.

D Contract 904 between the Company, LCAL and JHL
relating to certain works on the South Island Line {East)

On 17 May 2011, the Company, LCAL and JHL (LCAL and JHL
being “the Contractors”) entered into Contract 904 (“Contract
904") for the construction of certatn works relating te Le) Tung
Station and South Honzons Station in respect of the South
Island Line (East) (the “Contract 904 Works”)

As explained above, as the Contractors are “connected
persons” under the List:ng Rules, Contract 90415 a “continuing
connected transaction” within the meaning of Rule 14A 14 of
the Listing Rules

Contract 904 15 1n substantally the same form as the
Company’s standard conditions of contract for engineering
works and contains the following provisions

« the pnncipal obligation of the Contractors 1s the
constructicn of the Contract 904 Works The obligations of
the Contractors under Contract 904 are joint and several,




the Contractors shall indemnify the Company against any
loss or expense sustained by the Company and against
all fosses and claims in respect of death or injuries or
damage to any person or property whatsoever which
may arise out of or in consequence of the execution

of the Contract 904 Works and against all claims,
proceedings, damages, costs, charges and expenses
whatsoever in respect of or in relation thereto, except
for compensation or damages related to the permanent
use or accupation of land by the Contract 904 Works,

or the right of the Company to execute the Contract

904 Works on any part of the land, or on account of any
negligence by the Company, 1ts agents, servants or other
contractors, not being employed by the Contractors,

the Contractors shall indemnify the Company against

all damages and compensation and against all claims,
demands, proceedings, costs, charges and expenses
whatsoever In respect of any damages or compensation
payable at law in respect of or in consequence of any
accident, injury or iliness to any workman or other person
in the employment of the Contractors or their sub-
contractors or suppliers arising out of and in the course of
such employment,

the Contractors shall effect and maintain insurance with a
limit of not less than HK$200 million in relation to certain
of its habilities for the period commencing on 29 Apnl
2011 until 30 June 2016,

a bond 1ssued by Chartis Insurance Hong Kong Limited will
be prowvided to the Company in respect of the cblhigations
of the Contractors under Contract 904,

the Contractors’ hability to indemnify the Company
1sreduced proportionally to the extent that any act

or neglect of the Company, the Engineer or any other
person employed by the Company in connection with the
Contract 904 Works, their respective agents, employees
or representatives, may have contributed to the relevant
death, iliness, or damage,

the total hability of the Contractors to the Company for all
damages {hquidated damages and general) for delay shali
not exceed 10% of the contract sum under the Contract
(the contract sum being HiK$1,755,018,490),

the total amount payable by the Company to the
Contractors under Contract 904 1s the Contract Sum
From time to time the scope of Works may vary and the
Company will be obliged to revise the Contract Sum in
accordance with the terms of Contract 904,

+ the maximum aggregate amount payable annually by the
Company under Contract 904 1s approximately HK$1,400
milhon As payments by the Company to the Contractors
are paid on a scheduled basis as set out in Contract
304, the maximum aggregate annual amount Is set by
reference to the highest amount payable by the Company
In any given year under such schedule,

= the Company is obliged to effect “Contractor’s Al Risks”
and "Third Party Liability” insurance with a third party
hability hmit of not less than HK$700 milhion In addition,
the Contractors have agreed to separately purchase
additional cover for “Third Party Liability” insurance in the
amount of AU$485 million, and

+ the Company may at any time, by giving 30 days’ notice
n writing to the Contractors, terminate Contract 904
but without prejudice to any claims by the Company for
breach of contract

In relation to the Pre-Exasting UGL Contract as amended by the
Pre-Existing Supplemental UGL Contract, the Onginal Contract
(as amended), Contract 903 and Contract 904 (together the
“Continuing Connected Transactions with Parties other than
Government and/or its Associates”) and 1n accordance with
Rule 14A 37 of the Listing Rules, the Company confirms that
the Independent Non-executive Directors of the Company
have reviewed the Continuing Connected Transactions

with Parties other than Government and/or its Associates

and confirmed that each of the Continuing Connected
Transactions with Parties other than Government and/or its
Associates was entered into

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Company,

(2) on normal commercial terms or on terms which are no less
favourabte to the Company than terms available to or from
independent third parties, and

(3) 1n accordance with the relevant agreement governing
them on terms that are fair and reascnable and in the interests
of the shareholders of the Company as a whole

The Company has engaged the auditors of the Company to
carry out a review of the Continuing Connected Transactions
with Parties other than Government and/or 1ts Associates

in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 "Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Histonical Finangial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on
Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” 1ssued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants In accordance with Rule 14A 38 of the
Listing Rules, the auditors have provided a letter to the Board
confirming that

Annual Report 2011 ] 4 ]




o DF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

(a} nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the Continuing Connected Transactions with
Parties other than Government and/or its Associates have not
been approved by the Board,

{b) for transactions involving the prowvision of goods or
services by the Group, nothing has come to therr attention
that causes them to believe that the Continuing Connected
Transactions with Parties other than Government and/or its
Assoaates were not, in all matenal respects, in accordance
with the pricing policies of the Group,

(¢} nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the Continuing Connected Transactions with
Parties other than Government and/or its Associates were not
entered into, in all matenal respects, in accordance with the
relevant agreements governing such transactions, and

{d} with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the
Continuing Connected Transactions with Parties other than
Government and/or its Associates, nothing has come to their
attention that causes them to believe that the Continuing
Connected Transacttons with Parties other than Government
and/or 1ts Associates have exceeded the maximum aggregate
annual value disclosed in the previous announcements dated
1 September 2009, 26 February 2010, 18 May 2011 and 18
May 2011 made by the Company in respect of each of the
Continuing Connected Transactions with Parties other than
Government and/or its Associates

Additional Information in respect of the Rail Merger
The Rail Merger consisted of a number of separate
agreements, each of which was detailed in the circularissued
by the Company on 3 September 2007 in connection with the
Rail Merger, and which together formed a complete package
deal which was approved by the independent shareholders of
the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 9
October 2007 The information set out at paragraph A below
describes the payment framework adopted in respect of the
Rail Merger and paragraphs B to H below set out, summaries
of the various agreements entered into by the Company in
respect of the Rail Merger in addition to those agreements
disclosed above under the heading “Merger-related
Continuing Connected Transactions”

A Paymonts in connection with Merger-related Agreements
In connection with the Rail Merger, the following mitial
payments were made by the Company to KCRC on 2
December 2007 (being the Merger Date})

» anupfront payment of HK$4 25 billion, payable under the
Service Concession Agreement (as described in paragraph
B below), being the upfront fee for the right to operate the
Service Concession (as defined in paragraph B below) and
the consideration for the purchased rail assets, and
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s anupfront payment of HKS7 79 ullion payable under the
Merger Framework Agreement (as described on page
130) in consideration for the execution of the Propernty
Package Agreements (as described on pages 131 tc 133
and in paragraph E below) and the sale of the sharesin
the KCRC Subsidiaries (as defined on page 131) that were
transferred to the Company under the Sale and Purchase
Agreement which was entered into on 9 August 2007
between the Company and KCRC

In addition to the initial payments above, the Company 1s
also required to make the following payments to KCRC
going forward

« fixed annual payments of HK$750 million payable under
the Service Concession Agreement, for the nght to use
and operate the concesston praperty for the operation of
the service concession, in arrears on the day immediately
preceding each anniversary of the Merger Date which
falls during the concession perned in respect of the 12
month perniod up to and including the date on which such
payment falis due, and

« vanable annual payments payable under the Service
Concession Agreement, for the nght to use and operate
the concession property for the operation of the service
concession, in each case, calculated on a ttered basis by
reference to the amount of revenue from the KCRC system
(as deterrmined in accordance with the Service Concession
Agreement) for each financial year of the Company No
vanable annual payment s payable in respect of the first
36 months following the Merger Date

As a complete package deal, other than the payment
elements descnibed above and unless stated otherwise in the
relevant paragraph below, no speafic allocation was made
between the various elements of the Rail Merger

8 Service Concession Agreement
The Service Concession Agreement was entered intc on 9
August 2007 between the Company and KCRC

The Service Concession Agreement contains provisions in
relation to the grant and operation of a service concession
and licence granted by KCRC to the Company {(“Service
Concession”), including in relation to

+ the grant of the Service Concession to the Company to
access, use and operate the concession property (other
than KCRC railway land referred to immediately below) to
certain specified standards,

+ the grant of a licence to access and use certain KCRC
railway land,




'

s the term (being an inial penod of 50 years from the Merger
Date) of the Sernce Concession and redelivery of the
KCRC system upon expiry or termination of the concession
period The Service Concession will end if the Company’s
franchise relating to the KCRC railway 1s revoked,

« the payments of an upfront payment of HKS$4 25 bilen
and fixed annual payments and variable annual payments
(as descrnibed 1n paragraph A above),

* KCRC remaining the legal and beneficial owner of
the concession property as at the Merger Date and
the Company being the legal and beneficial owner
of certain future concession property ("Additional
Concession Property”),

* the regime for compensation payable by KCRC to the
Company if Additional Concession Property is returned to
KCRC at the end of the concession period,

* the nghts and restrictions of the Company and KCRC in
relation to the concession property, and

+ subject to certain conditions, the Company bearing all
nsks, liabiliies and/or costs whatsoever associated with
or ansing from the concession property and the land on
which any of the concession property 1s located during the
concession period

C Sale and Purchase Agreement
The Sale and Purchase Agreement was entered into on 9
August 2007 between the Company and KCRC

The Sale and Purchase Agreement provides the terms
pursuant to which the Company acquired certain assets and
contracts (the “Purchased Rail Assets”} from KCRC

The consideration for the sale of the Purchased Rail Assets
(excluding the shares in the KCRC Substdiaries) formed part
of the upfrent payment of HKS4 25 billion The consideration
for the sale of the shares in the KCRC Subsidiaries (which own
the Category 1A Properties referred to at paragraph E below
and act as property managers) formed part of the payment
of HK$7 79 bullion for the property package (as described (n
paragraph A above and in paragraph E below)

D Operating Agreement

The Operating Agreement was entered Into on 9 August
2007 between the Company and the Secretary for Transport
and Housing for and on behalf of the Government as
contemplated in the MTR Ordinance

The Operating Agreement 1s based on the previous Operating
Agreement which was signed on 30 June 2000 The Operating
Agreement differs from the previous Operating Agreement to
provide for, amongst other things, the nature of the combined
MTRC railway and KCRC railway The Operating Agreement
includes terms relating to

» the extension of the Company’s franchise under the
MTR Ordinance,

+ the design, construction and maintenance of the railway,
s passenger services,

» aframework for the award of new projects and the
operation and ownership structure of new railways,

¢ the adjustment mechanism to be apphed to certan of the
Company's fares, and

* compensation which may be payable under the MTR
Ordinance to the Company in relation to a suspension,
expiry or termination of the franchise

E Addrional Property Package Agreements

Category i4 Properties

The Category 1A Properties are held by the KCRC
Subsidiaries Under the terms of the Sale and Purchase
Agreement, the Company acquired from KCRC the shares in
the KCRC Subsidianes (and thereby indirectly acquired the
“Category 1A Properties”)

Cateqory 1R Propertes

On 9 August 2007, KCRC and the Company entered into an
agreement for sale of purchase under which KCRC agreed to
assign certain properties {the “Category 1B Properties”} to the
Company on the Merger Date The relevant assignment was
executed between KCRC and the Company on 2 December 2007

Cutegory 4 Prapertes

On 9 August 2007, the Government entered into an
undertaking that it would, within periods to be agreed
between the Company and the Government, offer to

the Company a private treaty grant in respect of certain
development sites (“Category 4 Properties”) The terms of
each private treaty grant shall generally be determined by the
Government, and the premium for each private treaty grant
shall be assessed on a full market value basis ignonng the
presence of the raitway other than the Tin Shur Wal Terminus,
Light Rail, Yuen Long, New Terrtories

On 9 August 2007, the Company 1ssued a letter to KCRC
confirming that, if there should be any railway premises on the
Category 4 Properties, the Company would assign the railway
premises to KCRC
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T OF THE MEMBERS OF THE BOARD

Metropohs Equity Sub-participatyon Agreement

The Metropohs Equity Sub-participation Agreement was
entered into on 9 August 2007 between KCRC and the
Company KCRC 1s obliged to act on the Company’s instructions,
and pay to the Company any distnbutions, or proceeds of
sale, relating to its shareholding in the property management
company The Metropohs Management Company Limited
("Metropolis”) The 1ssued share capital of Metropolts 1s 25,500
A shares (which are held by KCRC) and 24,500 B shares (which
are held by Cheung Kong Property Management Limited)
Metropelis” business 1s property management

F  Liaison Committee Lotter

The Liaison Commuttee Letter was issued on 9 August 2007 by
KCRC, the terms of which were acknowledged and agreed to
by the Company and the Government

The letter sets out the agreement between the parties
regarding a “Liarson Committee” established for the purposes
of governing certain matters of KCRC between 9 August 2007
and the Merger Date Upon the completion of the Rail Merger,
the Liaison Committee was dissolved

G Outsourcing Agreement

An Outsourcing Agreement was entered into on 9 August
2007 between the Company and KCRC For the penod from 2
December 2007 to 2 December 2009 (subsequently extended
to 31 December 2009}, KCRC, pursuant to the terms of the
Cutsourcing Agreement, cutscurced certain financial and
administrative functions to the Company for an annual fee

of nat more than HK$20 milien from KCRC On 6 November
2009, a new Outsourcing Agreement was entered into for the
period from 2 December 2009 te 1 December 2011

H  K5L Project Management Agreement
The K5L Project Management Agreement was entered into
between the Company and KCRC on 9 August 2007

Pursuant to the terms of the KSL Project Management
Agreement (as amended), the Company was appointed,
inter alta, to manage the performance of KCRC's principal
obligations to the Government in relation to the design
and construction of the Kowloon Southern Link (other than
obhgations relating to payment)
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in return for the performance of these services under the KSL
Project Management Agreement {as amended), the Company
has received a project management fee of approximately
HK$710 8 million In addition, given that the final outtum

cost of the KSL was under budget, the Company received an
incentive payment (calculated with reference to the amount
by which the final outturn cost of the project was under
budget) of HK$110 million

I Application of Merger-related Wasver

In relation to the Operating Agreement and the Service
Concession Agreement, pursuant to paragraph A of the
Merger-related Waiver, the Stock Exchange granted a wawver
to the Company from strict comphance with all the continuing
connected transaction requirements of Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules

AUDITORS

The retinng auditors, KPMG, have signified their willingness to
continue in office A resolution will be proposed at the Annual
General Meeting to reappoint them and to authorise the
Drrectors to fix their remuneration

By order of the Board

A MetN e

Gilhan Elizabeth Meller
Secretary to the Board
Hong Kong, 8 March 2012
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In accordance with A {
Regulation 32 of the O S AAO 1
Overseas Companies
Regulations 2009 Statement of details of parent law and other Companios House
information for an overseas company e
J What this form 1s for What this form 1s NOT for
You may use this form to You cannot use this form to
accompany your accounts an alteration of manner of ¢
disclosed under parent faw with accounting requiremen
COMPANIES HOUSE
Part 1 Corporate company name + Filling in this form
Please complete in typescnpt or in
bold black capitals
Corporate name of | \rre CORPORATION LIMITED e
overseas company @ All fields are mandatory unless

If the company has already been registered in the UK, please enter the
establishment number below

UK establishment
number @

[e[r fofsT2fsefa]

specfied or indicated by *

O This is the name of the company in
its home state

O This should only be completed if
the company has already been
registered 1n the UK

Part 2

Statement of details of parent law and other
information for an overseas company

Legislation

Please give the legislation under which the accounts have been prepared and,
if applicable, the legislation under which the accounts have been audited

©This means the relevant rules or
legislatian which regulates the
preparation and, if appiicable, the

Legislation © Companies Ordinance of the Laws of Hong Keng audit of accounts
Accounting principles
Accounts Have the accounts been prepared in accordance with a set of generally accepted |@ Please insert the name of the

accounting principles?
Please tick the appropnate box
[J No Goto Section A3

Yes Please enter the name of the organisation or other
body which 1ssued those principles below, and then go to Section A3

Name of organisation
or body ©@

1 Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants

appropnate accounting organisation
or body

Accounts

Accounts

Have the accounts been audited? Please tick the appropriate box
(C] Ne Goto Section A5
Yes Go to Section A4

BIS

tnnovation & Sidlls

Dapartment for Business

CHFPOOO
05/10 Version 4 0
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Statement of details of parent law and other information for an overseas company

m Audited accounts

Audrted accounts Have the accounts been audited in accordance with a set of generally accepted
audrting standards?

Please tick the appropnate box
[J No Go to Part 3 'Signature’

Yes Please enter the name of the organisation or other body which 1ssued
those standards below, and then go to Part 3 *Signature’

Name of organisation

O Please insert the name of the
appropnate accounting
organisation or body

or body © l Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
Unaudited accounts

Unaudited acceunts Is the company required to have its accounts audited?
Please tick the approprnate box

] No
] Yes
Part 3 Signature
[I am signing this form on behalf of the overseas company
Signature Signature
X -’ b - /\/\’C/L/‘ 2 X
] 11 May 2012

This form may be signed by  Gillian Elizabeth Meller
Director, Secretary, Permanent representative

CHFPOOO
05/10 Version 4 0
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Statement of detatls of parent law and other information for an overseas company

EPresenter information

n Important information

You do not have to give any contact informatton, but if
you do it will help Companies House if there 1s a query
on the form The contact information you give will be
vistble to searchers of the public record

[c"""’“"""e Mr Trevor Yeomans
Compam i MTR Corporation Limited

[th Suite 5, Eleven Arches House,

| Leicester Road, Rugby

Post tawn

County/Requon

== [c[v[z [ [1[F 5

Country

|nx

| Tehone 14 1788 820104

Checklist

We may return forms completed incorrectly or
with information missing

Please make sure you have remembered the

following

O The company name and, If appropnate, the
registered number, match the information held on
the public Register

O You have completed all sechions of the form,
if appropnate

[J You have signed the form

Please note that all this information will appear
on the public record

E Where to send

You may return this form to any Comparues
House address

England and Wales

The Registrar of Compantes, Companies House,
Crown Way, Cardiff, Wales, CF14 3UZ

DX 33050 Cardiff

Scotland

The Registrar of Compames, Companies House,
Fourth floor, Edinburgh Quay 2,

139 Fountainbndge, Edinburgh, Scotland, EH3 SFF
DX ED235 Edinburgh 1

or LP - 4 Edinburgh 2 {Legal Post}

Northern Ireland

The Registrar of Companies, Companies House,
Second Floor, The Linenhall, 32-38 Linenhall Street,
Belfast, Northern ireland, BT2 8BG

DX 481 NR Belfast 1

ﬂ Further information

For further information, please see the guidance notes
on the website at www companieshouse gov uk
or ematl enquines@companieshouse govuk

This form is available in an
alternative format. Please visit the
forms page on the website at
www.companieshouse.gov.uk

This has been prowided free of charge by Compantes House

CHFPOOO
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